REPORT SERIES IN AEROSOL SCIENCE N:o 156 (2014)

SMALL-SCALE PELLET BOILER EMISSIONS – CHARACTERIZATION AND COMPARISON TO OTHER COMBUSTION UNITS

HEIKKI LAMBERG

Department of Environmental Science Faculty of Science and Forestry University of Eastern Finland Kuopio, Finland

Academic Dissertation

To be presented, with permission of the Faculty of Science and Forestry of the University of Eastern Finland, for public examination in Auditorium TTA, Tietoteknia Building at the University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, on 21st November, 2014, at noon.

Kuopio 2014

Author's address:	Fine Particle and Aerosol Technology Laboratory University of Eastern Finland Department of Environmental Science P.O.Box 1627 70211 Kuopio Finland
Supervisors:	Professor Jorma Jokiniemi, Ph.D. University of Eastern Finland Department of Environmental Science
	Doctor Jarkko Tissari, Ph.D. University of Eastern Finland Department of Environmental Science
	Doctor Olli Sippula, Ph.D. University of Eastern Finland Department of Environmental Science
Reviewers:	Professor Veli-Matti Kerminen, Ph.D. University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland
	Senior Researcher Patrik Yrjäs, Ph.D. Åbo Akademi Turku, Finland
Opponent:	Professor Ralf Zimmermann, Ph.D. University of Rostock Rostock, Germany
	ISBN 978-952-7091-02-9 (printed version) ISSN 0784-3496 Helsinki 2014 Unigrafia Oy
	ISBN 978-952-7091-03-6 (PDF version) http://www.atm.helsinki.fi/FAAR/ Helsinki 2014

<u>Heikki</u> Olavi Lamberg, University of Eastern Finland, 2014

ABSTRACT

Residential combustion has been identified as one of the main sources of particulate matter (PM); fine particles are important because of their adverse effects on human health and the environment. In this thesis, fine particle emissions originating from residential pellet combustion were characterized in different operational situations and using different raw materials as pellet fuel. Moreover, pellet combustion emissions were compared with those from other combustion technologies used for heat production, including batch-wise operated wood stoves, residential-scale oil boilers and medium-scale plants utilizing wood chips and heavy fuel oil.

Particle emissions from pellet combustion in modern pellet boilers are low compared to those of other wood-fueled residential appliances; these particles primarily consist of fine inorganic fly ash. Decreasing air-to-fuel ratio of primary combustion while increasing air-to-fuel ratio of secondary combustion affected the release of fine fly ash without deteriorating the combustion conditions, resulting in significant reductions in fine particle emissions. In low-load conditions, the amount of fine fly ash particles remained constant, but fine particle emissions increased due to soot formation.

The pellet raw material largely affected fuel originated fine fly ash emissions, whereas emissions of incomplete combustion remained low. The addition of peat to biomass fuels was found to decrease fine particle emissions due to the increased binding of alkali metals in the bottom ash. The use of bark or straw pellets resulted in elevated fine fly ash particle emissions because of the larger alkali metal contents in the fuel. Thus, only stem-wood-based pellets should be used in current residential-scale combustion technology to prevent additional particle emissions.

Combustion technology had a substantial effect on particle and gaseous emissions in the studied batch-wise operated appliances, although the emissions are generally higher than from pellet combustion. In batch combustion, fine particles are mainly formed of elemental carbon and organic matter, although fine fly ash is also present in these particles. Based on the analyzed particle components, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) were found to be the most sensitive compound for combustion quality, indicating that the harmfulness of PM from different sources may vary more than what is estimated for particle mass emissions alone.

Although particle emissions from light fuel oil combustion are low, this combustion produces more PAHs than pellet combustion. Heavy fuel oil exhibited similar PM emissions as pellet boilers; however, significantly more PAHs and heavy metals were also produced.

There are numerous options for reducing emissions using combustion technology and fluegas cleaning. Overall, combustion technology provides the possibility of decreasing emissions from residential combustion; however, firmer emission regulations are needed to increase the utilization of low-emission technologies.

Keywords: aerosol, air pollutions, agricultural fuel, biomass, boiler, emission characterization, fine particle emissions, masonry heater, particulate matter, peat, pellets, residential combustion, small-scale combustion

Acknowledgements

The research for this thesis was carried out in the Department of Environmental Science of the University of Eastern Finland. The research was financially supported by the Finnish Funding Agency for Technology and Innovation, Academy of Finland, University of Eastern Finland, European Regional Development Fund, Vapo Ltd and several combustion appliance manufacturers.

I would like to express my gratitude to my principal supervisor Professor Jorma Jokiniemi for guidance and providing interesting and challenging research topics throughout the years. I am thankful to my supervisors Olli Sippula (Ph.D) and Jarkko Tissari (Ph.D.). Your help and support in every step of this work has been enormous. I am also very grateful to the Head of the Department of Environmental Science, Professor Maija-Riitta Hirvonen, and her group for the cooperation in the studies dealing with particle toxicological effects.

I want to thank the official reviewers of my thesis Professor Veli-Matti Kerminen and Senior Researcher Patrik Yrjäs (Ph.D.) for reviewing my thesis and giving valuable comments on it. I am grateful to Professor Ralf Zimmermann for kindly accepting the invitation to be the official opponent during the public examination of the thesis.

A valuable part of this work was made by the co-authors of the four papers. I gratefully thank all of them for their contribution. I am thankful to all of my present and past colleagues at the Fine Particle and Aerosol Technology Laboratory. Coffee breaks, lunches and all the other scientific and non-scientific discussions have been something to wait for when the office work has tasted like a two-hour-old chewing gum. I have met many interesting people during this work at different occasions. These people have made my work more interesting than I could have imagined.

I want to thank my friends who have been around for all of these years. I am especially grateful to my family for all the support throughout the years. Kiitos!

Kuopio, October 2014

Heikki Lamberg

Abbreviations

CMH=conventional masonry heater CO₃=carbonate carbon DGI=Dekati Gravimetric Impactor DLPI=Dekati Low-Pressure Impactor DR=dilution ratio EC=elemental carbon (soot) ED=ejector diluter ELPI=Electrical Low-Pressure Impactor ESP=electrostatic precipitator FMPS=Fast Mobility Particle Sizer Spectrometer GC-MS=Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry HFO=heavy fuel oil ICP-AES=Inductively Coupled Plasma Atomic Emission Spectrometry ICP-MS=Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry ISO=International Organization for Standardization LFO=light fuel oil MMH=modern masonry heater NO_x=nitrogen oxides OC=organic carbon OGC=organic gaseous compounds OM=organic matter PAH=polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons PB=pellet boiler PCDD/F=polychlorinated dibentzodioxins/furans PM1 (PM2.5, PM10)=Mass of particles below aerodynamic diameter of 1 µm $(2.5 \,\mu m, 10 \,\mu m)$ POM=particulate organic matter PRD=porous tube diluter SOA=secondary organic aerosol SO_x=sulfur oxides SS=sauna stove VOC=volatile organic compounds λ =air-to-fuel ratio

List of publications

This thesis is based on four publications that are referred to in the text using Roman numerals (i.e., I-IV). The publications are reproduced with the kind permission of the respective journals.

- Paper I Lamberg, H., Sippula, O., Tissari, J., Jokiniemi, J. (2011).
 Effects of Air Staging and Load on Fine-Particle and
 Gaseous Emissions from a Small-Scale Pellet Boiler. *Energy* & Fuels 25, 4952–4960.
- Paper II Lamberg, H., Nuutinen, K., Tissari, J., Ruusunen, J., Yli-Pirilä, P., Sippula, O., Tapanainen, M., Jalava, P., Makkonen, U., Teinilä, K., Saarnio, K., Hillamo, R., Hirvonen, M.-R., Jokiniemi, J. (2011). Physicochemical characterization of fine particles from small-scale wood combustion. *Atmospheric Environment* 45, 7635–7643.
- Paper III Lamberg, H., Tissari, J., Jokiniemi, J., Sippula, O. (2013).
 Fine Particle and Gaseous Emissions from a Small-Scale
 Boiler Fueled by Pellets of Various Raw Materials. *Energy* & Fuels 27, 7044–7053.
- Paper IV Kaivosoja, T., Jalava, P.I., Lamberg, H., Virén, A., Tapanainen, M., Torvela, T., Tapper, U., Sippula, O., Tissari, J., Hillamo, R., Hirvonen, M.-R., Jokiniemi, J. (2013). Comparison of emissions and toxicological properties of fine particles from wood and oil boilers in small (20–25 kW) and medium (5–10 MW) scale. *Atmospheric Environment* 77, 193–201.

Contents

1 INTRODUCTION	8
2 AIMS OF THIS STUDY	11
3 SCIENTIFIC BACKGROUND	12
3.1 Fuels	12
3.1.1 Pellet fuels	12
3.2 Combustion	13
3.2.1 Combustion units	15
3.2.2 Continuous pellet combustion	15
3.2.3 Batch combustion	17
3.3 Emissions	17
3.3.1 Soot	18
3.3.2 Organic emissions	20
3.3.3 Fine fly ash particles	21
3.3.4 Particle emission factors	24
3.3.5 Gaseous emissions	25
3.4 Emission reduction in biomass combustion with primary and secondary	
measures	26
4 METHODS	29
4.1 Combustion appliances	29
4.2 Particle measurement and characterization	33
4.3 Measurement of gaseous emissions	36
5 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	38
5.1 The effect of operating conditions on emissions in a pellet boiler	38
5.2 Emissions from a residential pellet boiler compared to batch combustion	
appliances	42
5.3 Emissions from different pellet raw materials	44
5.4 Comparison of renewable and fossil fuels in small and medium scale	47
5.5 Additional examination of the particle emissions	48
5.5.1 Composition of PM1 emissions in different combustion experiments	48
5.5.2 Particle number emissions and particle size	50
5.7 Emissions with respect to emission regulations	52
6 AUTHOR'S CONTRIBUTION	57
7 CONCLUSIONS	59
REFERENCES	62
APPENDIX I: TIME SERIES OF GASEOUS COMPONENTS F	ROM
RESIDENTIAL COMBUSTION	79

1 INTRODUCTION

Particulate matter (PM) is defined as the total mass of suspended particles in the air. PM is typically divided into three subclasses, i.e., PM_{10} , $PM_{2.5}$ and $PM_{0.1}$, which are defined as particle matter with an aerodynamic diameter smaller than 10 μ m, 2.5 μ m and 0.1 μ m, respectively. $PM_{2.5}$ particles are generally called "fine particles"; however, this term can also be applied to the number or surface area based on particle diameters less than 2.5 μ m. In the atmosphere, particles can be solid or liquid; the mixture of particles and gases is called "aerosol".

Fine particles originate from natural and anthropogenic sources. Examples of natural sources include volcanoes, natural forest fires, biogenic aerosols, windborne dust and sea spray (Andreae and Crutzen 1997, Seinfeld and Pandis 1998). The most important sources of anthropogenic particles are different types of combustion processes, such as domestic heating, power plants and internal combustion engines. When particles from combustion sources are discussed, particles with aerodynamic diameters less than 1 µm or 2.5 µm (PM1 or PM25) are often used, whereas particles with sizes ranging from 2.5 µm to 10 µm are called coarse particles. Examples of coarse particle sources include road wear and wind-blown dust. On the contrary to primary particles, which are directly emitted from various sources in particulate form, secondary particles are formed in the atmosphere through gas-to-particle conversion processes. The most common types of secondary aerosol formation are sulfur dioxide (SO₂) and nitrogen oxide (NO_x) reactions in the atmosphere and the oxidation of organic gases. The products of the latter mechanism are generally referred to as secondary organic aerosols (SOAs). Primary and secondary particles form the total particulate matter in the atmosphere. These particles constantly interact with their surroundings.

Fine particles are known to have adverse effects on human health and to cause respiratory and cardiac symptoms and even premature death, especially among those with reduced health conditions, e.g., children, elderly and those with chronic diseases (Dockery and Pope 1994, Pope et al. 2002). Recently, the IARC has classified outdoor air pollution and particulate matter from outdoor air as being carcinogenic to humans (Loomis et al. 2013). Due

to their small sizes, fine particles can penetrate deep into the lungs and enter the blood. Thus, health-related problems are the primary concern for fine particles, requiring emission regulation. The physical and chemical properties of these particles greatly affect their health effects. Combustion sources are highly heterogenic emission sources; the characteristics of particles and gases vary substantially from one source to another (Flagan and Seinfeld 1988, Ostro et al. 2007). Furthermore, fine particles also cause environmental problems that affect solar radiative forcing, corrode materials and cause impaired visibility (Horvath 1993, Kucera et al. 1995).

Wood is the most commonly used biomass fuel in Nordic countries due to the large forest base, forest industry and relatively easy access to cheap wood for many individuals. Based on the total heat and power production in Finland in 2013, 24% was produced using wood biomass, primarily from byproducts of the forest industry (Statistics Finland, 2014), and 4.3% (2011) of the total energy was produced with wood in households (Statistics Finland 2012). Although wood combustion produces less carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions than fossil fuel combustion and residential wood combustion has a great potential for increasing biomass usage, there is the risk of increased emissions of particles and gases and detrimental air quality effects. Typically, emissions from large-scale heat and power production units are low due to legislative measures, well-controlled combustion processes and flue-gas after-treatment techniques (Sippula 2010). However, emissions from smaller units are often not well controlled, which is due to the use of old appliances, conventional and cheap technology, unoptimized use of appliances and a wide variety of used fuels (Tissari 2008). Residential appliances do not typically have emission limits, which is still the case in many countries. Although there are new, less-polluting appliances that are available, old appliances will remain in use for a long time.

Residential wood combustion is known to be a significant source of particulate matter (McDonald et al. 2000, Johansson et al. 2004, Tissari et al. 2007, Karvosenoja et al. 2008, Brandt et al. 2011, Saarnio et al. 2012) and organic compounds, including polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) (Schnelle-Kreis et al. 2007, Bari et al. 2011, Elsasser et al. 2012, Crippa et al. 2013). The proportion of PM originating from wood combustion sources has been reported to vary greatly in different locations, for example, 3% in Mediterranean urban background air (Reche et al. 2012), 14% in Central Europe urban background air (Brandt et al. 2011), and up to 66% in Finnish

suburban air in winter (Saarnio et al. 2012). Certain types of combustion appliances have been identified to contribute greatly to the total emissions from residential wood combustion (Meyer 2012).

Wood pellets are primarily used in continuously operated combustion appliances. These pellets are generally made of sawdust, cutter chips or other wood industry residues. Pellets have low moisture contents, high energy densities, homogenous sizes and low ash contents. Due to their homogenous features, pellets (when used as fuel) have enabled the development of fully automatic residential-scale combustion systems; the ease of use is essential for these systems. Additionally, pellets can be used in industrial power plants designed for pulverized fuels (Obernberger and Thek 2010). Pellets can also be manufactured from non-traditional raw materials, such as bark, straw, reed canary grass or logging residues, and different raw materials can be mixed to form homogenous pellets. Fine particle emissions from modern pellet appliances are typically fuel derived and contain fine fly ash (Wiinikka et al. 2007, Tissari et al. 2008a, Verma et al. 2011, Schmidl et al. 2011), whereas PM emissions from poor combustion conditions can be almost entirely products of incomplete combustion (Tissari et al. 2008b, Elsasser et al. 2013).

The use of wood in heat and power production is increasing. Part of this increased use will be due to the increase in residential appliances. Thus, it is important to ensure that the change from fossil fuels to renewable fuels, which is a part of the climate policy, will be performed without additional air pollution problems and excess stress on both human health and the environment.

2 AIMS OF THIS STUDY

The focus of the research presented in this thesis was the physical and chemical characterization of fine particle emissions produced via pellet combustion. Furthermore, emissions were compared with various small- and medium-scale residential combustion appliances. The individual studies can be summarized as follows.

- **Paper I** analyzed pellet boiler emissions in different operational situations, including different combustion air settings.
- **Paper II** characterized emissions from continuous combustion and batch combustion for different combustion technologies.
- **Paper III** analyzed the effects of pellet fuel raw materials on PM emissions.
- **Paper IV** compared PM emissions from pellet combustion with those from light fuel oil combustion (small scale) and with the emissions from heating plants fired using wood chips and heavy fuel oil (medium scale).

Furthermore, the PM samples characterized in **Papers II and IV** were used in toxicological studies by Tapanainen et al. (2011, 2012) and Kasurinen et al. (2014). However, the results of these studies are not discussed in this thesis.

3 SCIENTIFIC BACKGROUND

3.1 Fuels

The main components of biomass fuels are carbon (C) (50%), oxygen (O) (42%) and hydrogen (H) (6%). The amount of volatile matter is typically between 70–86 w-% (d.b.) (van Loo and Koppejan, 2008), which is substantially higher than coal (approximately 30–40 w-%) (Vassilev and Vassileva 2009). Freshly cut wood has a high moisture content and must be dried before use. In power plants, the moisture content of wood chips can be up to 50% (Kaivosoja et al. 2013), whereas the moisture content of wood pellets is typically less than 10% (van Loo and Koppejan, 2008). Log woods are most commonly used in households; these woods are not easily used in automatic systems. Compared with pellets, log woods require more storage space and labor for moving from storage to the heating system. Wood chips, which are often used in farms, can be used in automated systems. However, due to their low density, wood chips require plenty of storage space. Other biomass products are also used as energy sources.

3.1.1 Pellet fuels

The pellet manufacturing process includes the following steps. 1) The raw material is dried. 2) The material is milled to reduce the particle size and to homogenize the material. 3) The particles are conditioned via the addition of steam to cover the particles with a thin liquid layer; this process reduces adhesion. 4) The raw material is formed into pellets by being pressed through a die. 5) The pellets are cooled because their temperature increases during the pelletizing process. The diameter of the pellets is typically 6-12 mm (van Loo and Koppejan, 2008) (Figure 1). Classification systems have been created for pellet fuels to ensure the proper quality of pellets that are used in different units. The ENPlus certification, which is applied in many parts of Europe, divides pellets into three different classes according to threshold values for the pellet diameter, length and contents of moisture, ash, nitrogen (N), sulfur

(S) and chlorine (Cl) in the fuel (Table 1) (European Pellet Council 2013). ENPlus also sets requirements for the raw materials that are used in the three different pellet quality classes.



Figure 1. Examples of pellets made from different raw materials: a) commercial wood pellet, b) peat pellet, c) a mixture of pine bark and peat and d) rye straw pellet.

3.2 Combustion

In the ideal combustion of hydrocarbons, carbon (C) and hydrogen (H) react with oxygen (O₂) to generate heat and form both CO₂ and water (H₂O). In real applications, combustion conditions are never ideal. Moreover, fuel and combustion air contain several components that affect the combustion process and emission formation. The combustion of solid fuel in real-life applications always require more air than what is theoretically needed; therefore, the general air-to-fuel ratio (lambda, λ) exceeds 1. In addition, the air-to-fuel ratio varies in different areas of the combustion chamber. Optimal λ values also vary between different combustion appliance types, unit sizes and fuels. For example, in spark-ignited internal combustion engines, λ can be less than 1 (Flagan and Seinfeld 1988). Moreover, in biomass-fired industrial-scale units (rotating grate), λ is approximately 1.3 (5% excess oxygen, O₂) (Sippula et al. 2009a), and in small-scale pellet boilers, λ is approximately 2 (10% O₂) (Tissari et al. 2008a).

	Unit	ENplus-A1	ENPlus-A2	EN-B
Diameter	mm	6 or 8	6 or 8	6 or 8
Length	mm	$3.15 \le L \le 40$	$3.15 \le L \le 40$	$3.15 \le L \le 40$
Moisture content	w-%	≤ 10	≤ 10	≤ 10
Ash content	w-%	≤ 0.7	≤ 1.5	≤ 3.0
Mechanical durability	w-%	≥97.5	≥ 97.5	≥96.5
Fines (<3.15 mm)	w-%	< 1	<1	< 1
Lower heating value	MJ/kg	$16.5 \le Q \le 19$	$16.3 \le Q \le 19$	$16 \le Q \le 19$
Bulk density	kg/m³	≥600	≥ 600	≥ 600
N content	w-%	≤ 0.3	≤ 0.5	≤ 1.0
S content	w-%	≤ 0.03	≤ 0.03	≤ 0.04
Cl content	w-%	≤ 0.02	≤ 0.02	≤ 0.03
Ash melting behavior	°C	≥ 1200	≥1100	≥1100
Wood types permitted to be used for wood pellet production		Stem wood and chemically untreated residues from the wood processing industry	Whole trees w/o roots, stem wood, logging residues, bark, and chemically untreated residues from the wood processing industry	Forest, plantation and other virgin wood, chemically untreated residues from the wood processing industry, and chemically untreated used wood

Table 1. ENPlus requirements for pellets used for heating purposes (Modified from European Pellet Council 2013).

3.2.1 Combustion units

Combustion technologies vary widely based on the different size classes and fuels. Fuels used in heat and power production are generally either solid, gas or liquid. Solid fuel combustion technologies include fixed bed, fluidized bed and pulverized fuel combustion with different variations for specific applications. Fixed bed combustion is often used in residential-scale solid fuel combustion. On the contrary, the combustion of liquid fuels is performed in burners in which the fuel is first sprayed before the combustion.

Combustion processes are well-controlled in large power plants. The processes are optimized for certain types of fuels. Moreover, flue-gas cleaning technologies are commonly used, such as electrostatic precipitators (ESP), to ensure good combustion quality and low emissions. The state-of-the-art combustion technology that is used in residential appliances contains many of the same control techniques that are used in large units. Such appliances can be fueled by pellets, wood chips or wood logs, and the combustion units include automated fuel feeding and automatically controlled air input. With proper control and design and good quality fuel, emissions from residential wood combustion can be low (Wiinikka et al. 2004, Sippula et al. 2007, Tissari et al. 2008a). The present situation of residential appliances with either poor or lacking combustion controls. Moreover, the quality of fuel used in these appliances is typically bad, and the appliance operations are far from optimal.

3.2.2 Continuous pellet combustion

Residential-scale combustion appliances that use solid fuel can be divided into two main categories: batch combustion appliances and continuously fired appliances. Combustion processes in appliances equipped with continuous combustion are generally more precisely controlled than batch combustion appliances. Pellets and wood chips are the most commonly used fuels in continuous combustion appliances in the Nordic countries, whereas wood logs are most often used as fuels in batch combustion appliances.

In pellet appliances, fuel is continuously inserted by feeding from the side, bottom or top, determined by the burner technology (Figure 2). Due to the continuous behavior of the process, which is ensured with logic-controlled fuel and air feeds, both heat release and emission formation are more stable than in batch combustion (van Loo and Koppejan, 2008). To ensure proper combustion conditions, different sensor technologies, such as lambda (λ), carbon monoxide (CO), and temperature controls, can be used for controlling the combustion conditions and adjusting the air and fuel feeds. In pellet stoves, heat is typically transported to the air around the stove via convection, but in pellet boilers, heat is accumulated and transferred to circulated water via a heat exchanger. Modern pellet boilers are nearly as ease to use as oil and gas boilers, which has made pellet systems more attractive for residential use. Oil boiler systems can also be retrofitted to be fueled with pellets by replacing the burner and fuel conveyor system.



Figure 2. Examples of the most commonly used wood pellet feeding techniques in residential appliances (van Loo and Koppejan, 2008): (1) underfed burner, (2) horizontally fed burner and (3) overfed burner.

3.2.3 Batch combustion

Batch combustion appliances are the most common residential appliances. In batch combustion, a batch of wood is inserted into the appliance and fired. After a certain period of time, typically when the flames burn down, the next batch is added to the appliance. This activity is repeated for a certain period of time, which is based on the appliance type and the required amount of heat. Due to the periodic behavior of the combustion process, heat release and the formation of emissions are not stable. In uncontrolled systems, an addition of a new batch of wood can result in fast pyrolysis of the fuel and in inadequate mixing of gases and oxygen, which leads to incomplete combustion and high emissions (Tissari et al. 2009). Because the behavior of combustion in batch combustion appliances varies significantly with time, designing a properly working appliance can be challenging. In modern batch combustion appliances, the combustion rate is regulated by reducing the amount of combustion air that enters through a grate; a portion of the air is transferred into the upper zone of the combustion chamber as secondary air (Nuutinen et al. 2014). This technique reduces the variations in the batch combustion process.

3.3 Emissions

The emissions from biomass combustion can be divided into two main classes: gaseous and particulate emissions. Particle emissions can be further divided into three main subclasses: organic material, soot and inorganic material. Particulate organic matter (POM) and soot are products of incomplete combustion; their contributions to the total PM emissions can vary significantly depending on the combustion conditions. Inorganic fine fly ash particles are fuel derived. Moreover, because these particles are not products of incomplete combustion, their reduction is not possible by improving combustion efficiency.

3.3.1 Soot

Soot is one of the most important pollutants originating from combustion processes due to its effects on both climate and health. The International Agency for Research on Cancer has recently classified diesel soot as being carcinogenic to humans (IARC 2012). Soot has adverse effects on visibility (Horvath 1993) and is known to be a carrier for PAH species (Richter and Howard 2000, Oster et al. 2011, Laskin et al. 2012, Furuhata et al. 2012). Recent findings regarding the climate effects of soot have highlighted the significance of soot emissions and emission controls (Jakobson 2010, Bond et al. 2013), especially in the Arctic (Stohl et al. 2013). The formation of soot creates the characteristic yellow light in candles; moreover, soot is necessary in boiler flames to obtain good radiative heat transfer (Flagan and Seinfeld, 1998).

Different definitions and terminology are used in the characterization of soot (Petzold et al. 2013). The so-called thermal-optical method is often used in combustion studies to determine the fractions of soot and organic carbon (OC). In this context, soot is often called elemental carbon (EC). On the contrary, black carbon (BC) is used in connection with atmospheric light-absorbing carbonaceous aerosol (Bond et al. 2006). Although EC, BC and soot are often used as equivalents, their definitions are slightly different (Bond et al 2006).

Despite the extensive research over the past decades, soot formation remains a process that is not well understood, especially compared to the formation of inorganic particles (Flagan and Seinfield 1998, Wang 2011). Soot formation is a complex phenomenon in which hydrocarbon chemistry occurs within a flame. Soot has been extensively studied in hydrocarbon flames and in diesel engines; however, few studies have focused on soot emissions from the combustion of solid biomass. According to Richter and Howard (2000), the basic steps for soot formation are as follows. First, the molecular precursors of soot are thought to be heavy PAHs. The growth from small molecules to larger PAHs is thought to involve the addition of C₂, C₃ and some other small units (such as acetylene) to PAH radicals and the reactions among growing aromatic species, such as PAH-PAH radical recombination and addition reactions. The contribution of different types of growth reactions is thought to be fuel dependent. The second phase includes the

nucleation or inception of particles from heavy PAH molecules to form nascent soot particles. Third, nascent soot particles grow due to the addition of gas phase species, such as acetylene and PAHs. Next, soot particles agglomerate due to reactive particle-particle collisions. Although the mass remains constant during this process, the particle number decreases in conjunction with an increase in particle size. For longer residence times and under pyrolytic conditions in the postflame zone, polycyclic aromatic compounds undergo functional elimination, cyclization, ring condensation and ring fusion, which is attributed to dehydrogenation and the growth and alignment of polyaromatic layers. This process converts the initially amorphous soot material into an increasingly more graphitic carbon material with a slight decrease in the particle mass. Finally, the oxidation of PAH and soot particles is a process that competes with the formation of the species. Oxidation decreases the mass of PAHs and soot through the formation of CO and CO₂. Oxidation of soot in diffusion flames occurs after the formation process. However, in pre-mixed flames, the formation and oxidation processes occur simultaneously. The main oxidation reactants are OH (most important in fuel-rich flames), O and O₂ (most important in fuel-lean flames) (Richter and Howard, 2000). Because soot formation cannot be avoided in diffusion flames, the oxidation of soot is especially important for controlling soot emissions (Wiinikka and Gebart, 2004, Furuhata et al. 2012). Soot particles oxidize and burn rapidly when they pass through the flame front. However, very fast dilution with cold air may lead to soot emissions despite the presence of oxygen (Flagan and Seinfeld, 1998). Roughly spherical primary soot particles with diameters of 10-50 nm typically form chained agglomerates (Wentzel et al. 2003) (see Figure 3).

Recent studies have suggested that lignin decomposition products play an important role in soot formation from wood combustion (Baeza-Romero et al. 2010). Soot from biomass combustion differs from hydrocarbon soot and contains more oxygenated functionalities, such as o-PAHs, than hydrocarbon soot (Fitzpartick et al. 2007, Baeza-Romero et al. 2010). Many of these compounds can be attributed to the original fuel. Furthermore, the larger observed oxygen contents in biomass emission particles make these particles more hydrophilic and, therefore, more active as cloud condensation nuclei (Picaud et al. 2004), can change the particle optical properties (Mochiad et al. 2004) and can change the potential for causing adverse health effects (Sklorz et al. 2007). Soot has been considered to be a component of particulate matter

that absorbs light. However, recent investigations have reported that organic coatings on particles can increase the light absorption efficiency, indicating that organic compounds contribute to the light absorption capabilities of PM (Schnaiter et al. 2005, Shiraiwa et al. 2010, Heringa et al. 2011).



Figure 3. Typical morphologies in a specific combustion system (Transmission emissions microscopy images; Torvela et al. 2014): (a) a typical ash particle, (b) primary particles in a soot agglomerate and (c) particulate organic matter.

3.3.2 Organic emissions

The main components of wood are cellulose, hemi-cellulose and lignin. A complex mixture of volatile organic compounds (VOC) and POM is emitted from wood combustion in both the gaseous and particulate phases (McDonald et al. 2000, Tissari et al. 2007) due to incomplete combustion (Figure 3). The main organic compounds of biomass combustion are monosaccharide derivates from the breakdown of cellulose (Simoneit et al. 1999), which has characteristics that depend on the temperature of the cellulose decomposition (Simoneit 2002). Other important organic components of biomass smoke include alkanes, resin compounds, anhydrous sugars, phenols, lignans, and PAHs (Simoneit et al. 1999, Hays et al. 2011, Orasche et al. 2012, 2013).

Due to their carcinogenicity, PAHs are a well-known group of organic compounds that are contained in combustion emissions (Boström et al. 2002,

Tapanainen et al. 2012, Jalava et al. 2012). Residential wood combustion is one of the largest sources of PAHs (Tissari et al. 2007, Hytönen et al. 2009, Bari et al. 2011). PAHs are formed in the oxygen poor area of the flame, which is where polymerization occurs instead of oxidation; the emissions are greatly affected by the combustion efficiency (Johansson et al. 2004, Tissari et al. 2007).

Dilution in the atmosphere and in sampling systems affects the partitioning of semi-volatile organic compounds between the gas phase and particulate phase. Gas-particle partitioning occurs via absorption with an organic solution or adsorption to soot or inorganic particles. When the dilution ratio increases further, a portion of the semi-volatile organic compounds evaporate, which reduces the particle mass (Lipsky and Robinson 2006).

Once in the atmosphere, volatile organic species can contribute to SOA formation (Robinson et al. 2007). Organic compounds go through reversible phase partitioning, deposition and chemical reactions with oxidant species. Organic aerosol becomes more oxygenated during aging, less volatile and more hygroscopic (Jimenez et al. 2009). SOA is formed when volatile species have sufficiently low volatility to partition to the particle phase. Wood combustion, which is an important source of organic aerosols and VOC, has been identified as a source of SOA both in laboratory experiments and in the atmosphere (Grieshop et al. 2009, Heringa et al. 2011, Elsasser et al. 2012).

Traditionally, all light-absorbing material in the atmosphere has been considered soot (or black carbon). However, there is evidence that some organic matter has light-absorbing effects. Therefore, the term "brown carbon" has been suggested for light-absorbing organic matter (Andreae and Gelencsér 2006). Brown carbon interferes with the measurement of black carbon in many situations, especially regarding biomass combustion aerosol measurements.

3.3.3 Fine fly ash particles

Fine fly ash particles from wood combustion are formed from inorganic ashforming elements in the fuel that volatilize at typical combustion temperatures and form particles when the flue gas cools or via chemical processes in the flue gas; primarily alkali metal chlorides, sulfates and carbonates are formed (e.g. Valmari et al. 1998, Tissari et al. 2007, Sippula et al. 2007). Fine fly ash particles are important not only in industrial-scale combustion but also in continuously operated residential-scale appliances, such as small pellet burners and boilers, where OC and EC particle emissions are low. In woody biomass combustion, the most important released elements include alkali metals (primarily K and Na), S, Cl, P and some heavy metals, such as Zn.

In hot flue gas, volatilized species form very small particles via homogenous nucleation; these particles grow via coagulation and additional condensation of vaporized ash-forming elements. At high temperatures, agglomerated particles may coalescence into dense spheres. However, after combustion, the gases cool below the melting point of the condensed material, the liquid freezes and sintering effectively stops. Torvela et al. (2014) suggested that in Zn rich fuels, ZnO particles from Zn vapor would be the first particles to form, most likely in the oxygen-rich secondary combustion zone, and act as a nucleus for other fine fly ash condensation. ZnO formation is followed by gas-to-particle conversion of alkali sulfates, carbonates and chlorides. Collisions among the solid particles produces chain-like agglomerates (such as those in Figure 3), which are common features of aerosol particles that are produced by vapor nucleation in hightemperature systems (Flagan and Seinfeld, 1988, Torvela et al. 2014).

Alkali metals play an important role in the formation of fine fly ash particles. It has been shown that the concentration of alkali metals in fuels can correlate with the concentrations of alkali metal compounds that are found in the particles (Sippula et al. 2007). However, not only the concentration of ash-forming elements in the fuel but also the release of ashforming elements affect emissions from different fuels. The release is primarily affected by the fuel bed temperature and the fuel ash chemical composition (Dayton et al. 1995, Baxter et al. 1998, Knudsen et al. 2004, van Lith et al. 2006). Previous studies have shown that higher Cl contents in fuels lead to increased fine particle emissions (Lind et al. 2006, Tissari et al. 2008a); however, in S-rich fuels, alkali metals tend to form alkali sulphates instead of alkali chloride. Alkali sulphates are less volatile and are more likely retained in the bottom ash, which leads to fewer problems on heat exchanger surfaces because these compounds are less sticky (e.g. Lind et al. 2006, Sippula et al. 2008). A fraction of K also reacts with silicates that are present in fuels to form potassium silicates, which are not as volatile as potassium chlorides or

sulfates. However, potassium silicates (and other alkali silicates) melt at relatively low temperatures and may cause slagging problems in the fuel bed (Baxter et al. 1998, Khan et al. 2009). The release behavior of ash-forming elements can also be influenced by additives, which have been used to capture alkali metals in the coarse ash fraction. The use of kaolin as an additive has been studied in biomass fuels for inhibiting the formation of corrosive KCl fumes and particles or for decreasing the slag formation by increasing the ash deformation temperature (Steenari et al. 1998, Aho 2001, Davidsson et al. 2007, Khalil et al. 2011). The use of additives in residential appliances has been shown to reduce PM emissions (Tissari et al. 2008a, Sommersacher et al. 2013). For example, the mixing of biomass fuels and particle emissions (Kassman et al. 2013, Näzelius et al. 2013, Fagerström et al. 2014).

Laboratory studies of different biomasses conducted in controlled environments have shown that the release of different elements varies greatly with the combustion temperature. At temperatures less than 500 °C, Cl is primarily evaporated (van Lith et al. 2006), although smaller quantities of organically associated K may also be released (van Lith et al. 2008). K and Na are not released in large quantities from fuels for temperatures less than 700 °C (Jensen et al. 2000, van Lith et al. 2008); however, the release of these elements increases sharply between 800 °C and 1150 °C, respectively (van Lith et al. 2008). At temperatures exceeding 800 °C, K interacts with silicates in the ash and affects the release (van Lith et al. 2008). S release has been found to occur in two phases. First, a fraction of S is released at temperatures less than 500 °C, which is due to the decomposition of organic S compounds. At temperatures between 850 °C and 1150 °C, inorganic S is gradually released (van Lith et al. 2006). Some heavy metals, such as Zn and Pb, are also found in biomass fuels (Jones et al. 2014) and vaporize at combustion temperatures exceeding 500 °C (van Lith et al. 2008). The vapor subsequently forms particles. The release increases with increasing combustion temperature (Jimenez et al. 2008, Wiinikka et al. 2013). Some metals behave like alkali metals; their release can be reduced by changing the S/Cl ratio of the fuel (Sippula et al. 2008).

In addition to problems in the atmosphere that are induced by fine particle emissions, inorganic components in biomass fuels are connected with several disadvantages in combustion processes. In residential-scale appliances, fine particles may cause deposition on heat exchangers and slag formation on grates, which disturbs the combustion process (Baxter et al. 1998, Öhman et al. 2004, Lindström et al. 2007, Gilbe et al. 2008). Formation of slag may impair combustion conditions and cause emissions of carbonaceous species or even operational shutdowns. In addition to the aforementioned problems, in fluidized bed combustion, fine fly ash particles may also cause agglomeration of fluidized bed material, heat exchanger fouling and high-temperature corrosion (e.g. Baxter et al. 1998, Khan et al. 2009).

3.3.4 Particle emission factors

Particle emission levels from residential combustion appliances can vary significantly according to the combustion technology, fuel and combustion control. For example, emissions from burners and boilers fueled with wood logs and pellets have been reported to vary between 13 and 23 mg/MJ; the minimum and maximum values are 4.6 and 44 mg/MJ, respectively (Obaidullah et al. 2012). Extremely low PM₁ emissions have also been reported from a prototype gasification combustion pellet burner (2.4 mg/MJ, Nuutinen et al. 2010). In older boiler types and when agricultural biomasses are used, PM emissions can be as high as 2200 mg/MJ for old wood log boilers (Johansson et al. 2004) and 215 mg/MJ for rape straw pellets (Carroll and Finnan 2013). Moreover, some operational inadequacies can further increase the emissions (Schmidl et al. 2011).

Modern automated appliances are designed to function continuously for different power demands, which has decreased the need for startup and shutdown procedures. However, combustion conditions during low load operation are not optimal with respect to the combustion chamber design, leading to increased PM emissions and incomplete combustion conditions (Johansson et al 2004, Tissari et al. 2008a, Boman et al. 2011, Verma et al. 2011, Schmidl et al. 2011). Schmidl et al. (2011) reported that EC emissions increased in low load operation, whereas less fine fly ash were found in PM compared to full load operating conditions. Some studies have also reported that the increase in emissions due to decreased power may also be very small (Schmidl et al. 2011, Johansson et al. 2004).

In batch combustion, particle emissions are dominated by emissions from incomplete combustion, including soot and organic material (Tissari et al. 2007). The formation of these species is influenced by both combustion technology and user behavior (Tissari et al. 2009). In modern batch combustion appliances, these emissions always occur, whereas in automatically operated pellet appliances, especially in large-scale combustion units, emissions originating from incomplete combustion are very low.

3.3.5 Gaseous emissions

In addition to particle emissions, many gaseous compounds are also emitted during combustion. These compounds include CO₂, CO, NO_x, SO_x, and the aforementioned gaseous hydrocarbons. CO₂ is a greenhouse gas that is always released in combustion process despite the combustion quality. Carbon monoxide, CO, is an intermediate product of carbon oxidation to CO₂, and CO formation occurs in fuel-rich regions of the flame. The CO emissions are determined by the oxidation of CO (mixing, temperature and O₂ concentration) and not the formation in the flame. In modern residential appliances, e.g., pellet appliances, CO and hydrocarbon emissions are low (Nussbaumer 2003). CO toxicity is particularly important in household appliances. CO can cause fatal poisoning if released in enclosed spaces (Omaye 2002). Eventually, CO oxidizes to CO₂. However, together with VOCs and NO_x, CO contributes to tropospheric ozone formation.

In biomass combustion, NOx emissions (NO and NO₂) are formed via several pathways. The most important mechanism in biomass combustion is the formation of NOx from fuel-N, whereas thermal-NOx formation does not play a significant role due to the relatively low combustion temperatures (Flagan and Seinfeld, 1998). NO and NO₂ are among of the most important molecules in atmospheric chemistry. NO is rapidly oxidized to NO₂ in the atmosphere, causing acidification in the environment. NOx in atmosphere is involved in several chemical reactions and contributes to, e.g., in the formation of SOA and tropospheric ozone. Moreover, N₂O is formed during the combustion process. N₂O is a very strong greenhouse gas (Solomon et al. 2007) and takes part in ozone depletion (Ravishankara et al. 2009). NOx emissions in residential biomass combustion are generally low because both combustion temperatures are low and wood fuels are low in nitrogen; however, NOx emissions may increase when other types of biomass fuels,

such as agricultural biomasses, are used because these fuels have higher N contents (Rabacal et al. 2013).

Sulfur oxides, i.e., SO₂ and SO₃, are formed during the combustion of sulfur-rich fuels; the formation is affected by the S contents of the fuel (Carvalho et al. 2013). Biomass fuels are rich in alkali metals, which bind with S and Cl and prevent the emissions of SO₂ and HCl. Thus, molar ratios of the fuel (K+Na)/(Cl+2S) that exceed one are known to indicate low SO₂ and HCl emissions (Jensen et al. 2001, Sommersacher et al. 2012). SO_x is harmful to both human health and the environment and causes corrosion in materials (Flagan and Seinfeld, 1998). Acidification of forests is the best known effect of SO_x emissions. Moreover, SO_x emissions have been problematic, especially those originating from industrial processes. Sulfur contents in biomass fuels are generally low; therefore, SO₂ emissions are not a major concern (Vassilev et al. 2010).

3.4 Emission reduction in biomass combustion with primary and secondary measures

Several measures have been applied to reduce emissions from combustion processes based on unit sizes. Although similar principles can be used in both residential- and industrial-scale appliances, their usability varies according to the application. The optimization of combustion appliances is often a tradeoff between efficiency and emission control (van Loo and Koppejan 2008). Here, emission control in residential-scale appliances is primarily discussed. The most common primary emission reduction measures include the optimization of air staging, the optimization of combustion chambers, and the modification of fuel (van Loo and Koppejan 2008) by blending different fuel raw materials or by additives (Tissari et al. 2008a).

Air staging can be used for optimizing the combustion process, which reduces emission of both incomplete combustion and NO_x (van Loo and Koppejan, 2008). Air staging has been used in large units for decades to control temperatures in the flame and in the fuel bed. Recently, air staging has also become common in residential combustion appliances, especially in logic-controlled appliances equipped with λ sensors, such as wood chip boilers and pellet boilers. In addition to λ sensors, combustion processes can

be further monitored with thermocouples, CO sensors or draught measurements; the data obtained from these monitoring devices can be used for more precise control (Obernberger and Thek, 2010).

In large units, air staging has been primarily applied to reduce NOx emissions (Khan et al. 2009, Houshfar et al. 2013). In automated residential appliances, similar techniques for controlling combustion and reducing emissions are being used. In batch combustion appliances, air staging is used to improve the combustion quality (Nuutinen et al. 2014). When combustion air is fed in two stages, the primary combustion air flow can be reduced. This slows the gasification of the fuel and creates both a separate zone for the gasification of the fuel and a secondary combustion zone in which combustion gases are efficiently burned out (Tissari 2008, van Loo and Koppejan 2008).

Optimized air staging can also reduce fine fly ash emissions, although the effect of air staging on particle emissions has not been widely studied in residential appliances. Wiinikka and Gebart (2005) found that reducing the primary air flow resulted in lower fine particle emissions, most likely due to lower oxygen concentrations in the fuel bed, which resulted in lower temperatures and lower vaporization of ash elements. Furthermore, feeding combustion air solely through the grate as primary air led to a two-fold increase in particle concentrations. In another study by Wiinikka and Gebart (2004), high air-to-fuel ratios resulted in reduced particle emissions, and increased combustor temperatures resulted in elevated emissions of ash particles. Secondary combustion is especially important in biomass combustion, where emissions from incomplete combustion are formed in the flame; these products are later oxidized in the secondary combustion process (Wiinikka and Gebart 2004, Wiinikka et al. 2007, Fernandes and Costa 2013).

Reducing NO_x emissions with air staging is possible using two different mechanisms. First, by maintaining under-stoichiometric conditions during the primary combustion process, it is possible to create a reducing environment in the primary combustion zone, where HCN and NH₃ are reduced to N₂ instead of being oxidized to NO or NO₂ (van Loo and Koppejan, 2008, Khan et al 2009). Second, because combustion air is distributed between the primary and secondary combustion zones, less combustion air is fed to the primary zone, which decreases the temperature and reduces the formation of thermal-NO_x. However, staged combustion for reducing NO_x emissions may lead to elevated emissions of unburnt species

(Liu et al. 2013). In addition, flue gas recirculation can be applied to prevent slagging, improve mixing and control the temperature (Obernberger and Brunner, 2012). General values for optimal conditions in the primary combustion process have been identified (van Loo and Koppejan 2008, Obernberger and Brunner 2012) to ensure reduced NO_x and unburnt compound emissions, i.e., a residence time exceeding 0.5 sec, an excess air ratio less than 1.0 and temperatures of 900–1000 °C.

Several secondary emission reduction techniques have been used in industrial units for reducing emissions of particles and gases, such as NO_x, SO_x, HCl and PCDD/F (van Loo and Koppejan, 2008). ESP, condensing heat exchangers, catalytic converters, baghouse filters, scrubbers and cyclones can be used to reduce particle emissions (van Loo and Koppejan 2008, Obernberger and Thek 2010). Various secondary emission reduction technologies are under development for residential-scale use (Gröhn et al. 2009, Hukkanen et al. 2012); moreover, several ESPs are already on the market (Obernberger and Mandl 2011). With the current status of residential-scale ESPs, high particle removal efficiencies can be achieved in good combustion conditions; however, these systems seldom function efficiently in variable and high-emission systems, such as batch combustion, where the need for reducing emissions is the greatest (Obernberger and Brunner, 2012).

4 METHODS

Most of the work discussed herein was performed at the Fine Particle and Aerosol Technology laboratory, which is located at the University of Eastern Finland. Some of the experiments in Paper IV were conducted in the field. Particle sampling and collection must be carefully prearranged to cover the wide variety of emissions from residential combustion, the requirements of the measurement instruments and the interactions between the gas and particle phases, which is particularly challenging during the aerosol sample procedure due to changing temperatures and concentrations.

Gas and particle emissions were investigated in this work; the physical and chemical characterization of particle emissions was the primary focus of the investigations. A schematic representation of the measurement system is shown in Figure 4.

4.1 Combustion appliances

Small-scale appliances were used in Papers I–III and partially in Paper IV (Table 2, Figure 5). These appliances are typically used for heating rooms or houses. The masonry heaters used in Paper II heat the environment by natural convection and radiation, whereas heat produced by pellet boilers, oil burners, and larger units is transformed to a fluid through heat exchangers, which is used to transport heat to specific locations.

The pellet boiler used in Papers I, II, III and IV was an Austrian-made, automated fixed-grate pellet boiler with an integrated burner and boiler (Biotech PZ-RL 25 kW). The boiler operates using a top feed (also "overfeed") principle, in which the pellets are dropped onto the grate from the top (Figure 2). This technique ensures that the fuel feed is accurately controlled and that the danger of back burn from the furnace to the storage tank is nonexistent. However, dropping new fuel on the burning fuel can disturb the flame, resulting in the release of some larger particles (Fiedler 2004). Automated and well-controlled operations result in relatively low emissions of gaseous species and particles, which was described in the previous chapter. In the

pellet boiler used in this work, combustion air is led in through separate primary and secondary air inlets. Primary air is inserted from the bottom of the combustion chamber through the grate, and secondary air is inserted in the upper part of the combustion chamber, approximately 10 cm above the grate and through 12 secondary air inlets. The combustion air flows were continuously measured in the experiment system used in this study. The total λ and primary and secondary air flows were used to calculate both the primary lambda (λ_{Pri}) and the secondary lambda (λ_{Sec}).



Figure 4. Schematic drawing of the measurement setup.

Conventional masonry heaters are the most common residential combustion appliances for heating individual rooms or houses in Finland. These heaters are typically capable of storing heat for long periods of time with relative steady and low thermal output. Conventional masonry heaters are often made of bricks, soap stone or rock casting material. In these appliances, fuel can be combusted at relatively high burning rates; moreover, heat is stored in the material and released to the surrounding air over a period of several hours (up to 48 h) after the combustion has been stopped (Tissari 2008). Combustion technology in conventional masonry heaters (and in sauna stoves) is rather simple. Wood is inserted on a grate or on the bottom of the combustion chamber; combustion air is primarily introduced through the grate and/or through the door. Flue gases inside the masonry heater first rise and then fall, possibly rising again to ensure a sufficiently long residence time with the heat-storing material (Figure 5). Sauna stoves are operated following a similar principle to conventional masonry heaters. However, sauna stoves are light weight and are designed to rapidly release heat to the surrounding room.

Modern masonry heaters stand out from conventional heaters due to the improvements in the combustion chamber structure and the separation of combustion air into primary and secondary air flows (Figure 5). Secondary combustion air is generally inserted into the upper part of the combustion chamber to improve combustion quality. Additionally, combustion air flow through the grate can be reduced to control the fuel temperature and to prevent excessively rapid devolatilization of the fuel. Reflecting materials can be used in the combustion chamber to increase the temperature and to improve burnout quality. Generally, in modern Finnish masonry heaters, the combustion process exhibits less variability than in conventional heaters. Moreover, both gaseous and particle emissions are lower in modern masonry heaters (Nuutinen et al. 2014). Previous results have indicated that with this technique, the burnout of EC may not be enhanced as efficiently as the other components of incomplete combustion.

A 20 kW light fuel oil burner was used in Paper IV. This burner was equipped with a pressurized atomization system for the fuel, which is commonly used in residential heating systems. The fuel in the light fuel burner was commercial light fuel oil.

	Abbreviations	Explanations	Appliances	Fuels
	L25	Nominal output, 25 kW		
	L12.5	Lower output, 12.5 kW	Delletheiler 25	
Paper I	L ₇	Lower output, 7 kW	Pellet Doller, 25	Commercial
	Prim ₁	Primary air 29%	KVV	wood pellet
	Prim ₂	Primary air 18%		
	Sec ₁	Secondary air 83%		
	Sec ₂	Secondary air 67%		
	EFC	Efficient combustion	Pellet boiler, 25	
			kW	
	IBC/34	Improved batch	Modern	
		combustion	masonry heater	
	CBC1	Conventional batch	Conventional	
Paper		combustion, whole	masonry heater	
		cycle	1	Commercial
	CBC2/F	Conventional batch	Conventional	wood pellet.
II		combustion, firing	masonry heater	Birch logs
		phase	2	2110111080
	CBC3/23	Conventional batch	Conventional	
		combustion, 2. and 3.	masonry heater	
		batch	3	
	IEBC/S	Inefficient batch	Sauna stove	
		combustion/starting		
	T A71	pnase		
	VV I VAZA			Dire a la arth
	VV4			Pine bark
Paper III	DD			Pener
			Pellet boiler, 25	10% Post 60
	VVFZ		kW	40% reat $-60%$
	W/D2			20% Post $= 80$
	VVI 5			20 % Teat = 80 % Pine bark
	S1			Rve straw
Paper IV	Wood chip	Wood-chip-fired	10 MW	Wood chip
	p	heating plant	10 10111	and sawdust
	LFO	Light fuel oil burner	20 kW	Light fuel oil
	HFO	Heavy fuel oil burner	5.2 MW	Heavy fuel oil

Table 2. Explanations of the appliances, fuels and their abbreviations.



Figure 5. Schematics of the combustion systems (not to scale): a modern pellet boiler (1, Paper I), a modern masonry heater (MMH) and a conventional masonry heater (CMH) (2, Nuutinen et al. 2014), circulating grate combustion technology (3, Sippula et al. 2009b), a light fuel oil burner (4, Oilon Home Ltd) and a sauna stove (5, Tissari et al. 2007).

4.2 Particle measurement and characterization

Sampling is an important part of studying fine particle emissions, especially in small-scale combustion, i.e., where organic compounds can be present in large quantities. Some semivolatile organic species are in present in the gas phase in hot flue gas; however, these species partly condense later on existing particles when the temperature is reduced. Moreover, if samples are obtained from hot flue gas, PM emissions can be substantially underestimated (Nuutinen et al. 2014). In this work, dilution was always used prior to sampling to reduce temperatures, water contents and concentrations and to ensure that the sample better represented the atmospheric conditions. In Papers I and III (and the secondary dilution system used in Paper II), a partial flow dilution tunnel (built according to ISO 8178–1) was used as a primary dilution system. In this system, a portion of the flue gases are transported from the chimney to the dilution tunnel through a heated sample line (Figure 4). The pressure and flow in the tunnel can be adjusted to control the dilution ratio. The flow was maintained at approximately 650 m³/h in the tunnel during this work. Laboratory air was used as dilution air in the tunnel; this air was filtered to remove particles, organic compounds and nitrogen oxides.

The primary dilution and particle collection system that was used in Papers II and IV was a porous tube diluter (PRD) (Lyyränen et al. 2004) connected to a Dekati gravimetric impactor (DGI) (Table 3) (Dekati Ltd., Tampere, Finland). The system is described in detail in Ruusunen et al. 2011. The system was designed to be compact and capable of collecting PM for particle characterization and toxicological analyses. The DGI is a five stage cascade impactor (four impaction stages and a back-up filter), which is operated with a 70 lpm flow. The back-up filter and two filter stages were pooled together; these samples were used in the chemical analyses.

The secondary dilution system was a combination of a PRD and an ejector diluter (ED) (Dekati FPS-4000, ejector only) in Paper II, where filter collections were made after the PRD+ED (Table 2). Similar filter collections were made in Papers I and III in the dilution tunnel. Impactors (Dekati PM10 impactor) (Dekati Ltd., Tampere, Finland) were used before the filter collection to remove particles with the size exceeding 1 µm (Figure 5). As described in Sippula et al. 2007 and 2009b, particles were sampled on 47 mm PTFE and quartz plane filters. This collection system was used for the subsequent analysis of organic carbon (OC), elemental carbon (EC) and carbonate carbon (CO₃). Moreover, ICP-MS and IC analyses were performed from the PTFE filters in Papers I and III. OC, EC and CO₃ were analyzed using a thermal-optical method with an analyzer manufactured by Sunset Laboratory Inc. (OR, USA) (Birch and Cary 1996) and based on the National Institute for Occupational Health NIOSH 5040 procedure (NIOSH 1999). OC is typically present in the particle phase as organic matter (OM). The correction factor for changing OC (i.e., the total amount of carbon in OM) to OM varies from 1.2 to 2.5 (Turpin and Lim 2001, Aiken et al. 2008) based on the individual particle properties. For simplicity, OC results are not converted to OM; instead, the results are presented as OC.

Particle mass-size distributions were measured using a 13-stage Dekati low-pressure impactor (DLPI) (Dekati Ltd., Tampere, Finland). The DLPI collects particles with diameters between 30 nm and 10 μ m at a 10 lpm flow rate. Aluminum foils were used for impaction plates; the aluminum was greased with a mixture of toluene and Apiezon-L vacuum grease to prevent bouncing. The foils were heated to 105 °C before being weighed to evaporate any extra toluene. Similar foils were used in the pre-cutoff impactors before filter collections.

Particle number-size distributions were measured using two different analyzers, i.e., an electrical low-pressure impactor (ELPI) (Dekati Ltd., Tampere, Finland) and a fast mobility particle sizer (FMPS) (TSI Inc., MN, USA) (based on Tammet et al. 2002). The structure of the ELPI is similar to the DLPI; particles are divided into 13 different size classes using inertial impaction (Keskinen et al. 1992). Additionally, particles are charged in the ELPI with corona charger. When the particles hit the impaction plates, they lose the charge; this charge is measured by the electrometers. The ELPI used herein operates with a 10 lpm flow and measures particles with diameters between 30 nm and 10 μ m. When equipped with a filter stage, particles with diameters as small as 7 nm can be observed. Due to its wide measurement range, 1 Hz time resolution and robustness, the ELPI is often used in combustion studies. Particle classification in the FMPS is based on particle electrical mobility. The FMPS is operated with a 10 lpm flow and measures particles with diameters between 5.6 nm and 560 nm (split into 32 size classes). The FMPS also measures with 1 Hz resolution. However, contrary to the ELPI, the FMPS operates at atmospheric pressure. Moreover, the measurements are focused on smaller particles.

Different chemical analyses were performed using the PM₁ samples, including metals, ions and PAHs. ICP-MS was used for analyzing metals, and an IC was used to analyze ions. The PAH analysis included 30 different PAHs. The analyzed PAHs included 16 from the United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA 1984) priority pollutant list and 14 from the genotoxic PAHs set by the World Health Organization (WHO-ICPS 1998). A detailed description of the analysis and the analyzed compounds is presented in Paper II. Briefly, PAH compounds were quantified and compared against a mixture of standard compounds. Additionally, deuterated PAH compounds were used as an internal

surrogate standard; these compounds were analyzed using a gas chromatography-mass spectrometer (GC-MS, Agilent).

Fuel compositions were analyzed using various methods. For biomass fuels, moisture contents, ash contents, heating values, ash deformation temperatures, and elemental compositions were analyzed. In the analyses of elements, different digestion methods were used, including nitric acid dissolution (also in a microwave oven (EPA3051)) and fluoric acid–nitric acid dissolution. These samples were analyzed with ICP-MS or ICP-AES. A more detailed description of the fuel analyses is presented in Paper III.

4.3 Measurement of gaseous emissions

Gaseous components were primarily measured using two different instruments. An ABB Hartman & Braun gas analyzer system (ABB Cemas Gas Analyzing Rack, ABB Automation GmbH, Germany) was used to continuously measure O₂, CO, CO₂ and NO_x. This system also included a flame ionization detector (FID) for measuring organic gaseous compounds (OGC). Furthermore, a Gasmet DX-4000 (Gasmet Technologies Ltd., Helsinki, Finland), which is based on a Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectrometer, was used. This apparatus is capable of measuring H₂O, CO₂, CO, NO, NO₂, N₂O, SO₂, NH₃, CH₄, HCl, HF, and different VOCs, which are especially common in combustion flue gases. The instrument was equipped with an additional O₂ sensor. CO₂ concentrations were also continuously measured in the diluted samples for calculating the dilution ratio (DR) (Figure 4).
	Paper I	Paper II	Paper III	Paper IV
	Lamberg et al. 2011	Lamberg et al. 2011	Lamberg et al. 2013	Kaivosoja et al. 2013
Source/appliance	Pellet boiler	Pellet boiler, MMH, CMH, and SS	Pellet boiler	Pellet boiler, oil burner, wood chip fired plant, and HFO
Fuel	Commercial softwood pellet	Pellet and birch logs	Pellets of several different raw materials	Pellet, wood chips, LFO, and HFO
Primary sampling system	Partial flow dilution tunnel	$PRD^{1)}$ $PRD+ED^{2)}$	Partial flow dilution tunnel	PRD
Secondary sampling system		Partial flow dilution tunnel ³⁾ +ED ⁴⁾ PRD+ED+ED ⁵⁾		PRD+ED+(ED)
Primary (and secondary) DR	102–124(–1220)	13–26 ¹⁾ , 14–35 ²⁾ , 88–128 ³⁾ , 790– 810 ⁴⁾ , and 280– 385 ⁵⁾	106–187	7.1–65
PM collection	Filter collection (PTFE+quartz) and DLPI	Filter collection (PTFE+quartz), DGI, and DLPI	Filter collection (PTFE+quar tz) and DLPI	DGI
PM chemical analyses	OC/EC, anions, and elements	OC/EC, anions, elements, and PAHs	OC/EC, anions, and elements	Anions, elements, and PAHs
Particle number- size distribution	ELPI and FMPS	ELPI	ELPI	

Table 3. Particle sampling and measurement systems.

5 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

5.1 The effect of operating conditions on emissions in a pellet boiler

Modern pellet boilers are capable of using different loads without having to turn the boiler on and off, which has reduced the need for ignitions and shutdowns in real-life operations and has reduced emissions. In typical pellet combustion systems, combustion air flows and fuel inputs are automatically regulated according to needed output powers. Because the combustion chambers and operation are designed to function optimally on nominal loads, changes in fuel and air flows can be expected to affect the combustion conditions at low loads. In Paper I, decreasing the load resulted in slight increases in PM₁ emissions, i.e., from 12.2 mg/MJ to 13.1 and 15.7 mg/MJ when the load decreased from 25 kW to 12.5 kW and 7 kW, respectively. The increase in CO emissions was more evident, i.e., from 64 mg/MJ to 132 and 178 mg/MJ, respectively. These results agree with previous results (Schmindl et al. 2011, Boman et al. 2011). Even small changes in the emissions for different loads may become important with strict emission limits that also account for partial load conditions in type testing. The PM1 composition revealed that most of the increase in PM1 emissions was due to increased EC emissions, whereas inorganic emissions exhibited only a slight decrease. Boman et al. (2011) also reported increased PAH emissions for low loads. Interestingly, Figure 6 shows that the PM₁ chemical profile was very similar for low load (L7), in reduced secondary air (Sec2) and from modern batch combustion, although the PM1 emissions exhibited some variability. Increased emissions for low loads were most likely due to higher air-to-fuel ratios in the pellet boiler, especially in the primary combustion zone. Excess air in the fuel bed and in the combustion chamber can reduce the temperatures in the combustion chamber and weaken the oxidation of combustion gases (Gungor 2010). Furthermore, secondary air may lose its capability of penetrating the primary combustion gases, which further reduces oxidation (Koksal and Hamdullahpur 2004). Overall, the emissions

for low load conditions remained substantially lower than the emissions from batch combustion in Paper II.

In the experiments where different air settings were investigated, decreasing the secondary air (while keeping the total lambda roughly constant) increased incomplete combustion emissions, especially CO in the gaseous phase and EC in the particle phase. With the lowest secondary air inputs, i.e., where the input was decreased by 33% from the normal setting, the PM₁ emission was 29 mg/MJ, which was approximately 2.4-times higher than when operated with the factory settings; an increase in CO emissions was even more substantial. The decrease in the secondary air flow inputs were 17% and 33%, and their effect on both particle and gas phase emissions were substantial, indicating that even rather small changes in combustion settings can lead to significantly increased emissions.

Reducing the amount of primary air through the grate resulted in lower PM1 and CO emissions. The primary air was reduced from 174 lpm to 50 lpm and 15 lpm. However, even with such large primary air reductions, the PM₁ emissions were 5.4 mg/MJ and 3.1 mg/MJ, respectively. The decrease in PM1 emissions is related reductions in both EC emissions and alkali metals. The decrease in PM₁ emissions from 12.2 mg/MJ to 3.1 mg/MJ indicates a considerable emission reduction potential for optimized staged combustion. However, in the context of reducing emissions, the amount of primary air cannot be reduced below certain point without sacrificing the efficiency of the boiler. In the present work, output power of the boiler was not continuously measured; instead, the load with reduced primary air settings was estimated using the total air flow to predict that the output power decreased from 25 kW to 19 kW and 17 kW. However, by redesigning the grate and combustion chamber, it is possible to maintain low primary λ while simultaneously producing the desired amount of heat. In the boiler used herein, the secondary air inlets were relatively close to the grate; therefore, it is possible that secondary air could have created a back flow and was consequentially involved in primary combustion. There were no tools available to study this behavior in more detail. However, the very low primary λ indicates that there may have been additional combustion air in the primary combustion zone, which could have resulted either from leaks or back flow from the secondary air input.

Particle emissions originating from incomplete combustion, especially EC in Paper I, and K and SO₄ originating from the fuel exhibited large

contributions to the total PM1 emissions. When the combustion conditions deteriorated, EC became the most prominent component contributing to the PM₁ emissions; only a slight and insignificant increase in OC emissions occurred. The increased PM1 emissions through increased EC emissions were similar for partial loads and when secondary air was reduced (Figure 6 and 7). However, for nominal load conditions, the EC emissions were already low; further reductions in EC emissions did not play an important role in reducing the total emissions. Therefore, reducing PM1 emissions using reduced primary air inputs was largely related to the decreased K and SO4 emissions. Temperatures on the grate or on the fuel bed were not measured; however, the reduced air flow through the fuel bed may have resulted in reducing conditions and lower fuel bed temperatures, which suppressed the release of alkali metals. Previous results by Wiinikka and Gebart (2005) support these findings. However, in other types of appliances, a considerable increase in primary air caused lower volatilization of inorganic species due to the lower temperatures in the fuel bed (Obernberger and Brunner 2012). Air staging was also used for controlling NOx emissions; however, in the present system, no effect was observed because the combustion chamber geometry was likely not ideal for reducing NOx. The primary and secondary combustion zones were not properly separated to ensure both sufficient residence time and the presence of a reduction zone between the combustion zones, which would enable the reduction of NO_x to N₂.

Both the amounts and distributions of primary and secondary air were varied in the experiments, including the partial load tests and the air reduction tests. Various parameters and correlations were determined based on these experiments. These results revealed that the ratio of primary and secondary combustion lambdas (λ_{Pri} / λ_{Sec}) was more important than combustion air flow alone. Figure 8 highlights the correlations between λ_{Pri} / λ_{Sec} and emissions of CO, PM₁, K and EC.



Figure 6. PM₁ *emissions and compositions in selected experiments.*



*Figure 7. Correlations between EC and PM*¹ *emissions in different experiments.*



Figure 8. Correlations between $\lambda_{Pri} / \lambda_{Sec}$ and the emissions of PM₁, EC and CO (mg/MJ) and the release of K to PM₁ (%).

5.2 Emissions from a residential pellet boiler compared to batch combustion appliances

Particle emissions from batch combustion appliances contain considerable amounts of EC and OC that originate from incomplete combustion. Furthermore, particle emissions and particle characteristics were found to vary significantly between different combustion appliances and combustion conditions. PM₁ emissions from the studied pellet boiler (Paper II) were 19.7 mg/MJ and primarily composed of inorganic species. The highest PM₁ emissions were measured from the starting phase of a sauna stove (257 mg/MJ). Combined with the firing phase in conventional batch combustion (CBC2 in Table 2), the PM₁ emissions from these two conditions were almost

entirely composed of EC and OC, whereas the emissions of particle phase inorganics were low (Figure 6). CO emissions were 5 to 50 times higher in the studied batch combustion appliances than in the pellet boiler, although the air-staging technology in the modern masonry heater resulted in lower CO emissions than in the batch conventional combustion devices used in Paper II. However, the effect of improved combustion technology was not as evident in the PM₁ emissions as in the CO emissions. The most significant difference in emissions between the different combustion appliances and combustion conditions were found in the particulate PAH emissions (Figure 9; Paper II: Table 7). The starting phase of a sauna stove produced the highest PAH emissions, whereas the studied pellet boiler produced the lowest PAH emissions. The PAH emissions behaved in a similar manner to the emissions of a few other compounds, such as OGC; however, PAH emissions were found to be the most sensitive compound to combustion conditions. As a result, the combustion technology affected the PAH emissions more than PM₁ and CO emissions. Toxicological studies (Jalava et al. 2010, Oh et al. 2011, Tapanainen et al. 2012) have shown that the amount of PAH in PM can correlate with the toxicology of the PM₁; therefore, there may be a direct relationship between combustion conditions and health effects.

A direct comparison between the different batch combustion appliances is not straight forward based on the results presented in this thesis due to the differences in the appliances and combustion situations. However, secondary air, or staged combustion, is an important component of controlling emissions in both automated and batch combustion appliances. Oldfashioned appliances are equipped with only one combustion air input or air is led into the system in an uncontrolled manner (typically through the grate and/or the door). Applying automation and fan-assisted combustion air inputs may further improve the combustion quality and reduce the harmful emissions generated in incomplete combustion. Batch combustion is naturally highly variable compared with continuous combustion, such as pellet boilers, making the optimization of the process more complex. In Finnish masonry heaters, such as those used in this work, combustion air input is unforced. This condition most likely leads to situations where combustion air flows are not sufficient for all conditions. Moreover, by maintaining flows that are suitable in some conditions leads to too much air flow for other combustion conditions. More precise combustion air controls would lead to reduced emissions.



Figure 9. Particulate PAH emissions from different combustion sources.

5.3 Emissions from different pellet raw materials

PM₁ emissions from different pellet materials varied substantially, ranging from 5.1 mg/MJ (for peat pellet) to 195 mg/MJ (for rye straw pellet) (Figure 6). Generally, peat pellets produced the lowest PM₁ emissions and were found to decrease PM₁ emissions when mixed with woody biomass. PM₁ emissions from different pellet raw materials were primarily composed of K, SO₄ and Cl. Significant amounts of PO₄ were observed in the PM₁ emissions from straw pellets (Figure 6). The highest PM₁ emissions were measured for straw pellets; the fuel characteristics of straw pellets are substantially different than the other studied pellet fuels. Some fuel properties, such as the contents of K+Na+Cl and K correlated with PM₁ emissions, and the (K+Na)*2Cl/S molar ratio in the fuels correlated with the sum of K and Na in PM₁. These indicate that these elements in the studied fuels directly affected the formation of PM₁. For example, bark contains relatively high amounts of K and Na; therefore, the use of bark in fuels (for example in forest residues or tree including bark) increases particle emissions.

Two independent factors, i.e., the fuel Si content and the fuel Cl/S ratio, affected the release of ash-forming elements and PM1 emissions. Si forms alkali metal silicates with alkali metals, which are less volatile than alkali metals chlorides and sulfates; these compounds are more readily maintained in the bottom ash, suppressing their release (Knudsen et al. 2004). Previous studies have also reported that Cl increases the release of alkali metals (Knudsen et al. 2004, Lind et al. 2006), but there are other studies that have supported the finding that S may decrease the release of alkali metals, especially in Cl-rich fuels (Lind et al. 2006, Sippula et al. 2008). Because peat contains more Si and S than woody biomass, the use of peat as fuel to decrease PM₁ emissions can be due to either of these two processes, or a combination the two. However, based on the results, it was not possible to define which process (or if a combination of the two processes) caused the decreased PM₁ emissions. Although Si prevents the release of alkali metals by forming alkali metal silicates, these alkali silicates decrease the ash melting temperature and can create problems in the usability of the fuel by producing ash melt on the grate.

Pellet raw materials did not have a significant effect on gaseous emissions originating from incomplete combustion. However, some operational problems, primarily due to ash melt formation on the grate, disturbed combustion air flows and increased the CO and OGC emissions. Both the CO and OGC emissions were lower when peat-wood mixtures were used than with woody biomass pellets; therefore, the addition of peat to woody biomass improved the combustion conditions. Peat and straw produced the highest NOx emissions; the addition of peat to woody raw materials increased the NOx emissions. The highest SO₂ emissions were also measured in peat pellet combustion. Gaseous emissions originating from fuel quality, i.e., NOx and SO₂, were directly affected by the pellet fuel properties. Straw pellets were the only fuels to create notable HCl emissions. The fuel (K+Na)/(Cl+2S) molar ratio was found to be a good indicator of SO₂ and HCl emissions (Jensen et al. 2001, Sommersacher et al. 2012).

The use of peat fuel is not straight forward in residential combustion for various reasons. Peat was found to decrease the PM₁ and CO emissions when mixed in pellets with woody biomasses; however, peat also increased the

gaseous NO_x and SO₂ emissions. Additionally, peat increased the fuel ash content, which can create problems, especially in residential appliances that are designed for low-ash content fuels. Furthermore, peat is not a renewable fuel. The use of peat may be an acceptable additive if small quantities of peat resulted in notable decreases in emissions, which may provide more possibilities for using alternative pellet raw materials in residential-scale appliances. Moreover, previous studies have shown that peat has contributed to rising CO₂ concentrations in the atmosphere and perishing natural ecosystems. The studied wood-peat mixtures contained relatively large (up to 40%) fractions of peat; no systematic analysis was performed for different quantities of peat mixed with woody biomass. Tests with mixtures of peat and woody biomass using reduced amounts of peat are needed to better evaluate the use of peat as an additive for reducing emissions. Yet, peat additives could improve the usability of high alkali content biomass fuels in residential-scale appliances.

The PM₁ emission factors from straw pellets were as high as the emissions from incomplete batch combustion (Figures 6 and 7). Additionally, the PM₁ emissions factors from bark pellets were similar to improved batch combustion, although the particle composition was different. The PM₁ emissions from peat combustion were similar to the PM1 emissions in optimized pellet boiler emissions when commercial pellet fuel was used (Paper I). Consequently, the use of such fuels in residential pellet combustion may lead to PM1 emissions that are similar to those from batch combustion. Moreover, despite the lower emissions originating from incomplete combustion, the use of modern combustion technology may not lead to lower emissions. Thus, the utilization of the studied alternative pellet raw materials requires flue gas after-treatment systems. Moreover, based on the current combustion technologies that are available on the market, it is advisable to use these types of fuels in industrial-scale units, i.e., which apply flue gas after-treatment procedures; therefore, excessive particle emissions can be avoided.

5.4 Comparison of renewable and fossil fuels in small and medium scale

The PM₁ emissions (0.1 mg/MJ) from a 20 kW light fuel oil (LFO) boiler were substantially lower than those from the studied pellet boiler; these emissions consisted of EC and SO₄ (Paper IV), which is typical for this appliance type (Hays et al. 2008). Moreover, the CO emissions were low (below the detection limit of our analyzer), and the NOx emissions were nearly the same as those produced by the studied pellet boiler. Previous work has suggested that replacing fossil fuels in residential combustion with biomass fuels can lead to increased particle and gaseous emissions (Johansson et al. 2004); the results presented herein support this finding.

The emissions from industrial-scale heat production unit fueled with wood chips were found to be low due to efficient secondary emission reduction measures, which resulted in emissions that were slightly higher than from LFO but substantially lower than from the studied pellet boiler.

Energy power plants with a size approximately 10 MW are part of decentralized heat production and produce heat for district heating; these power plants are occasionally connected to a specific industrial process. In this work, the PM emissions from wood-chip-fired power plant before the ESP were high; however, after the ESP, particles were effectively removed. However, in operational situations in which the ESP is not functioning properly, PM emissions can be momentarily up to several hundreds of mg/MJ. Similar to the pellet boiler emissions, the PM1 emissions were primarily composed K and SO4; the emissions from incomplete combustion were low. Although the PM1 emissions were lower, the PAH emissions were slightly higher than from the pellet boiler. This result is surprising because the process in industrial-scale operations is very well controlled and equipped with flue gas after-treatment measures.

Heavy-fuel-oil-fired (HFO) burners are typically used in industrial processes and in district heating for producing heat during peak hours and days. Due to very different fuel characteristics, previous studies have shown that HFO emissions were found to be substantially different than wood chip and LFO combustion emissions; however, these emissions exhibit a few similarities, e.g., the large SO₄ fraction (England et al. 2007, Sippula et al. 2009a). The PM₁ emissions from the studied HFO burner were 20 mg/MJ,

which was similar to that of the pellet boiler. SO₄ was identified as the most abundant compound in the particles. A large fraction of the PM₁ was unidentified; however, this fraction likely consisted EC, OC (England et al. 2007, Sippula et al. 2009a) and particle-bound water (Moldanová et al. 2009). Furthermore, some heavy metals were identified; vanadium was the most prevalent. Furthermore, the PAH emissions were even higher than from improved batch combustion (Figure 9). Additionally, the NO_x emissions were higher than from the combustion of stem wood (logs or pellets; Figure 13), whereas the SO₂ emissions derived from the high sulfur contents in the fuels were higher than from any other studied case.

An overall comparison and evaluation of the emissions originating from different heat production systems is very cumbersome. On one hand, bioenergy should be favored to reduce the use of fossil fuels and the production of CO₂ emissions. On the other hand, both gaseous and particle emissions from biomass combustion in residential appliances are larger than from LFO combustion (Paper IV, Johansson et al. 2004). Some emissions, such as SO₂ and NO_x, can be significantly higher in fossil fuel combustion, especially when heavy fuel oils are used. It was also shown in Paper IV that the PAH emissions from wood pellet and wood chip combustion were lower than from the combustion of light and heavy fuel oils. Present legislation for PM emissions are based on particle mass; even though the composition has been linked to the harmfulness of PM, the PM composition is not included in these regulations (Becker et al. 2005, Sklorz et al. 2007, Jalava et al. 2007, Tapanainen et al. 2012).

5.5 Additional examination of the particle emissions

5.5.1 Composition of PM₁ emissions in different combustion experiments

EC and OC constituted a significant fraction of the PM₁ emissions from batch combustion appliances and from the studied pellet boiler when combustion conditions were not optimal (Figure 6). OC was primarily present in the PM₁

emissions from batch combustion appliances, especially when the combustion conditions were extremely poor. Although the amount of OC from batch combustion decreased when the combustion conditions were improved, it was more challenging to reduce the EC emissions (Figures 6 and 7). This behavior was evident in both batch combustion appliances and in pellet combustion. In Paper II, two similar combustion appliances were studied; one appliance represented conventional technology, and the other appliance represented modern technology. The use of modern technology substantially affected the CO, OGC and PAH emissions, but the EC emissions were the same from both appliance types. This behavior in batch combustion was recently reported by Nuutinen et al. 2014. Nevertheless, emissions originating from incomplete combustion can be affected by further optimizing combustion technology. Similar to batch combustion, EC emissions were substantial from the studied pellet boiler with low loads and with reduced secondary air; the PM1 emissions were increased almost entirely due to increased EC emissions (Figures 6 and 7). Both decreased temperatures and less efficient mixtures of secondary air and combustible gases most likely led to the reduced oxidation of EC and the increased emissions. Similar behavior was also reported by Schmindl et al. (2011) using a pellet boiler under non-optimal conditions. The awareness and importance of EC emissions has recently increased, especially in Nordic countries because EC - in addition to direct climate warming effect - can acceleratethe melting of Arctic ice if deposited on the surface of the ice (Bond et al. 2013, Meinander et al. 2013, Jiao et al. 2014).

Paper III presented very different PM₁ emissions from various pellet raw materials. However, the PM composition was found to be very similar in the different fuels despite the different PM₁ emissions (Figure 10). The share of K in the PM₁ emissions was approximately 30% in more than half of the experiments and between 10% and 20% for the other fuels. The proportion of SO₄ varied slightly more, i.e., from 15%–40%, with an average of approximately 20% (excluding the straw pellets). Furthermore, the share of Cl was rather constant, varying from a few percent to 15% (exceeding 20% for straw). If OC, EC and CO₃ were excluded (not shown), K and Na accounted for approximately 30–35% of the PM₁ emissions (varying from 20% to 45%). Similarly, SO₄, Cl and NO₃ accounted for 20%–50% of the PM₁ emissions. PO₄ was important only in PM₁ samples originating from straw pellet combustion (Paper III, Table 6). Based on all of the experiments

presented in this work, K represents approximately 20–40% of the total inorganic PM emissions (excluding the two poorest batch combustion cases in Paper II) when the carbonaceous components (OC, EC and CO₃) were excluded from the analysis.



Figure 10. PM₁ compositions for the experiments with different pellet fuels.

5.5.2 Particle number emissions and particle size

Particle number emissions from residential biomass combustion are generally high with smaller particles compared to industrial-scale biomass boilers. The aerodynamic diameters were typically less than 1 μ m (Figure 11). Notable amounts of particles with diameters exceeding 1 μ m may occur only in very poor combustion conditions and in large appliances.

Batch-wise combustion is naturally highly variable and particle number emissions and particle sizes vary over time. Variation in measured emissions is also present in batch-wise combustion processes from one experiment to another. Thus, identification of uncertainties in limited number of experiments is challenging. Moreover, pellet combustion generated stable number of particles throughout the combustion process compared with batch combustion processes; however, the reduction of secondary air and lower load conditions also made the pellet combustion process less stable (Appendix I: Figure 1). Ash particles are of special importance in biomass combustion; their number emissions are high. Some ash species formed seed particles, but the other condensing species condensed on existing particles rather than forming new particles through nucleation. Previous work has suggested that ZnO may act as a nucleus in fine fly ash particles (Torvela et al. 2014). The particle number emissions were not correlated with combustion conditions or PM emissions, which has been reported also in previous studies (Johansson et al. 2004, Tissari et al. 2008b). Moreover, the particle number emissions were not correlated with the fuel ash content when different biomass fuels were used (Paper III). Although the number emissions were not related to the combustion conditions, the particle sizes (GMDs) increased with increasing PM1 emissions.



Figure 11. Number-size distribution for different experiments as measured with the ELPI.



Figure 12. Particle number-size distributions for the pellet boiler with nominal output (L25, top) and for the conventional masonry heater (CBC3, bottom).

5.7 Emissions with respect to emission regulations

Currently, there are no PM emission limits for residential combustion in Finland; however, there is ongoing work devoted to creating a Europe-wide (Ecodesign Framework Directive 2009/125/EC, Lot 15: Solid fuel small combustion installations; Lot 20: Local space heating products) emission limit

for residential wood combustion. These regulations will also affect the policies in Finland. Currently, units larger than 1 MW have emission limits in Finland that contain PM regulations (Valtioneuvoston asetus 2013). However, emission limits for residential wood combustion are already applied in many parts of Europe.

Most of the standard measurements are performed with a so-called hot filter sampling, where particles are collected in a hot flue gas onto a hot filter. This technique prevents the collection of most organic phase compounds, which condense first when the flue gas cools to the ambient air temperature and subsequently contribute to primary PM emissions in real-life situations (Lipsky and Robinson 2006). Thus, particles collected from diluted and cooled sample gas are typically desired because they better reflect the conditions in ambient air. Dilution is also required for online particle measurement devices. The dilution tunnel method is used in standard measurements in Norway; however, different operational practices make a comparison with this work even more challenging (Norwegian standard 1994). Despite the differences in measurement methods and their possible effects on emissions, the emission limits form a baseline for emission comparisons. In addition, total suspended particles are measured using standard techniques, whereas PM1 (also PM10 with the DLPI) was sampled in this work. PM₁ was selected because these particles are generated through gas phase processes in the combustion process and cover the main mode of PM emitted from residential combustion.

Pellet appliances typically incorporate modern combustion technology with low emissions. The NO_x emissions from residential appliances are fuel derived, and the combustion technology does not have a major effect on the emissions (Rabacal et al. 2013). There are technological options available to decrease NO_x emissions; however, these options are not yet common in residential-scale appliances. In this work, the NO_x emissions from batch combustion were barely below the limits proposed in the new Ecodesign draft (2009/125/EC, draft Jan 2014 for local space heaters). Moreover, the emissions are also below the emission limit when commercial wood pellets and other pellets that are primarily composed of stem wood were used (Figure 13). When the pellets contained more bark (containing N), such as in logging residues, the proposed Ecodesign NO_x limits were exceeded. The use of peat similarly increased the NO_x emissions above the limit.

The CO emission limits in the Ecodesign proposal have been separated for different appliance types. In the studied pellet boiler, CO emissions were below the emissions limit for most of the tested fuels. Moreover, for mixtures of wood and peat, the emissions were well below the regulations (Figure 13). However, when the combustion conditions were not optimal, the CO emissions may increase, even in automated combustion appliances. This finding was observed with low loads, where the CO emissions slightly exceeded the proposed limit even with the lowest tested load (Figure 13). In the draft of the upcoming standard for biomass boiler testing (Directive 2009/125/EC, Lot 15), partial load tests are also considered, which will most likely lead to increased awareness and to improved appliance designed for handling partial loads.

In Paper II, improved batch combustion with air staging and welloperating conventional batch combustion without air staging emitted less CO than the Ecodesign emission limits, both during the specific combustion conditions and the combustion cycles (Paper II, Table 4). However, the CO emissions from the studied sauna stove with simple combustion technology substantially exceeded the emission limits for CO.

A comparison of PM emissions to the proposed emission limits is more complicated than comparing gaseous emissions due to the previously described sampling issues. Based on current knowledge, it is believed that the effect of different sampling methods on the PM results is smallest for pellet appliances due to a lack of or scarcity of organic compounds. Additionally, stable combustion does not exhibit the problem related to the use of different sampling periods. The studied pellet boiler was considered to be state-of-the-art in 2007 and remains on the market today. The PM1 emissions for nominal output conditions and with reduced primary air input were below the Ecodesign emission limit; however, at low loads, the PM₁ emissions exceeded the limits (Figure 14). As described previously, the use of different pellet raw materials increased PM₁ emissions, whereas the emissions from pellets composed primarily of stem wood remained below the Ecodesign emission limit. Therefore, such emission limits make the use of alternative raw materials highly improbable if flue gas after-treatment techniques are not successfully applied in residential-scale appliances. Because the use of bark also increased NOx emissions, ESP alone may not be sufficient to reduce emissions according to the regulations; moreover, NOx reduction techniques should be applied. In addition, ENPlus regulates the

use of different raw materials, requiring only stem wood and chemically untreated residues from forest industry to be used in the best pellet class, i.e., ENPlus–A1 (EPC 2013).

In current emission measurement standards, different periods of combustion are sampled from batch combustion appliances; the sampling times in this work were not the same as described in any valid standard. All of the PM emissions from tested batch combustion situations using diluted samples exceeded the Ecodesign emission limits. Moreover, the OC fraction from masonry heaters did not exceed 23%, which is not sufficient to explain the difference based solely on the sampling method. It seems likely that many manufacturers will face problems with the new emission limits, especially for particle emissions. Although the number of tested appliances represents only a few types of appliances, it can be concluded that air staging is a good technique to reduce gaseous emission; however, the particle emissions may not be very significantly from the current technology. Because the lifetime of combustion appliances can be as high as several decades, the new emission limits will not have a quick effect on the total emissions. Therefore, other measures should be introduced in conjunction with the new emission limits to hasten the regeneration of combustion appliances.

The legislation only provides limits for specific PM components in a few special cases, such as in waste incineration, i.e., where fuel can be very heterogenic. Directive 2010/75/EC sets limits for certain heavy metal air pollutions from waste incineration; the limit for the sum of Sb+As+Pb+Cr+Co+Cu+Mn+Ni+V is 0.5 mg/m³ (11% of O₂, which is equivalent to 0.27 mg/MJ). Such elements are not common in clean woody biomass fuels. Nonetheless, the highest values for pellet combustion were approximately 0.35 mg/m^3 in peat pellet combustion. Moreover, from HFO, the emissions of these metals exceeded the limit (0.45 mg/MJ). Furthermore, inhaled zinc is known to be a harmful metal to human health (Fernandez et al. 2001); however, it is not included in the Directive 2010/75/EC. The highest Zn emissions were from straw pellets, whereas the Zn emissions were higher for pellets containing bark than for commercial pellets.



Figure 13. Comparison of gaseous emissions with the different emissions limits. The NOx emission limit in the Ecodesign draft is common for local space heaters and solid fuel boilers.



Figure 14. Examples of particle emissions compared with the respective emissions limits. All emission limits are measured in hot flue gas (except with the dilution tunnel), whereas the values presented here are measured in the diluted flue gas.

6 AUTHOR'S CONTRIBUTION

The research presented in this study was primarily performed at the Fine Particle and Aerosol Technology Laboratory at the University of Eastern Finland between 2007 and 2011.

Paper I analyzed pellet boiler emissions for different operational settings. The experiments were performed in a laboratory environment. The experiments were primarily designed by O. Sippula and J. Tissari. The author was primarily responsible for conducting the experiments and writing the manuscript. The data were analyzed and interpreted by the author with the assistance of O. Sippula and J. Tissari and under the supervision of J. Jokiniemi.

Different combustion conditions were tested for several combustion appliances in Paper II; this study was performed under the supervision of J. Jokiniemi and M.-R. Hirvonen. The experimental setup was designed and constructed by the author with the assistance of K. Nuutinen, J. Ruusunen, J. Tissari and O. Sippula. P. Yli-Pirilä and K. Nuutinen were responsible for the PAH analysis, and the metal and ion analyses were conducted by U. Makkonen, K. Teinilä, K. Saarnio and R. Hillamo at the Finnish Meteorological Institute. The data were analyzed by the author and J. Ruusunen, and the author interpreted the results with the assistance of J. Tissari, K. Nuutinen, O. Sippula, J. Ruusunen, P. Jalava, M. Tapanainen, M.-R. Hirvonen and J. Jokiniemi. The author contributed the most to writing the manuscript.

Emissions from pellet fuels made from different raw materials were tested in Paper III using the same experimental setup as in Paper I. This study was performed under the supervision of J. Jokiniemi. The experiments were arranged by O. Sippula and J. Tissari. The author was responsible for the emission measurements, and the data analysis was performed by the author with the assistance of O. Sippula. The results were interpreted by the author with the assistance of the co-authors. The author was the primary writer of the manuscript.

The experiments for Paper IV were conducted at several locations, which included both laboratory and field sites, under the supervision of J. Jokiniemi

and M.-R. Hirvonen. The author participated in designing and arranging the experiments and performed the pellet boiler, oil burner and wood-chip-fired power plant experiments with the assistance of T. Kaivosoja and A. Virén. T. Kaivosoja and A. Virén were responsible for the heavy fuel oil emission measurements and the PAH analysis of the samples. T. Torvela and U. Tapper were responsible for the scanning electron microscopy. T. Kaivosoja was primarily responsible for writing the manuscript and analyzing the data. The data were interpreted by all co-authors. The toxicology portion of the study was conducted by P. Jalava, M. Tapanainen and M.-R. Hirvonen.

7 CONCLUSIONS

Residential wood combustion is a significant source of fine particle and gaseous emissions around the globe. The emissions vary depending on the fuel, combustion technology and combustion conditions. User operation often affects combustion behavior in residential-scale appliances. In this thesis, fine particle emissions originating from residential pellet combustion were characterized in different operational situations and using different raw materials as pellet fuel. Moreover, pellet combustion units used for heat production. These experiments included different combustion situations in batch combustion to represent various combustion appliances, combustion phases and combustion technologies, the combustion of light fuel oil in residential-scale appliances, and the use of wood chips and heavy fuel oil in medium-scale energy production.

Generally, the emissions from automated pellet combustion were low (12.2 mg/MJ with wood pellets); the formed particles primarily contained ash, which originated from the volatile inorganic compounds contained in the fuel; alkali metal compounds were the most important. Pellets can be manufactured from different types of woody raw materials and other biomass. Some of these fuels contain high amounts of alkali metals, which were found to produce high fine particle emissions. The emissions from incomplete combustion were low in pellet combustion; however, these emissions increased for some operation conditions, such as a boiler operating at low loads. The PM1 emissions from a modern pellet boiler running with bark pellets had the same PM1 emissions as masonry heaters. Thus, the advantage of using a modern pellet appliance may be partially lost if the wrong fuel type is used.

According to this study, several measures can be used to reduce the PM₁ emissions produced in pellet combustion. First, more precise control of the combustion process, such as advanced staging of combustion air, can be utilized to decrease the release of ash particles from the fuel bed. Reducing primary λ while increasing secondary λ was found to result in lower PM₁ emissions (down to 3.1 mg/MJ). Second, peat as an additive may be used in

pellet raw materials to reduce PM₁ emissions. The composition of peat was found to be favorable for inhibiting the release of alkali metals and consequently the formation of fine ash particles. Furthermore, excess PM₁ emissions in residential pellet combustion can be prevented by avoiding the use of fuels that are rich in alkali metals or Cl, e.g., bark or straw.

Both in continuous combustion and in batch combustion, proper combustion technology effectively reduced the emissions of incomplete combustion, such as OC, CO and PAHs. In contrast, it was more difficult to reduce EC emissions. Moreover, when the combustion conditions deteriorated, EC was the first PM component to increase. This phenomenon was highlighted in two separate cases. First, the increased PM₁ emissions for the studied pellet boiler under low load operation was solely due to the elevated EC emissions. Second, there were no clear differences in the EC emissions between conventional and modern masonry heaters even though there was significant effect on the CO, OGC, and PAH emissions. Furthermore, the PAH emissions were more sensitive than other emission components to combustion conditions. Thus, improved combustion technology can affect the harmfulness of the PM via reducing PAH compounds even though the total PM emissions do not decrease.

Optimally operated light fuel oil combustion in a residential-scale burner was not found to be a major source of fine particles (0.1 mg/MJ) due to the efficient combustion process and low amounts of inorganic impurities in the fuel. The PAH emissions from LFO combustion were slightly higher than those of pellet combustion, whereas the PAH emissions from HFO combustion were similar to a modern batch combustion appliance. The emissions from a wood-chip-fired industrial unit were small due to efficient combustion technology and flue gas after-treatment techniques. Such units would also be suitable for alternative biomass fuels because the optimized combustion processes, including flue gas after-treatment techniques, are most likely suitable for high-ash fuels.

This thesis highlights that there are different applications for utilizing biomass fuels for heat production in residential combustion. Current technical solutions provide possibilities for reducing emissions and for using biomass without excess emissions. The emissions from large units are typically well controlled because they are regulated by law. To take full advantage of modern combustion technology in residential-scale appliances, more stringent PM emission limits must be applied. Additionally, because PM emission limits are set based on their ability to cause adverse health effects, the chemical composition of PM should also be considered. For example, PAH compounds are already monitored in outdoor air; these compounds were shown to reflect the combustion conditions better than particulate mass emissions. A source-based analysis of PAH compounds may provide additional information regarding the potential harmfulness of these emissions.

Continuous combustion appliances, such as pellet boilers and burners, are typically well controlled; however, possibilities remain for reducing the PM emissions under different operating conditions using improved staged combustion. Gasification combustion is an extreme example of staged combustion that has been shown to be beneficial in a small-scale prototype burner. Secondary emission reduction measures, such as electrostatic precipitators, are potentially useful for reducing emissions from residentialscale appliances. These techniques remain under development for residential-scale appliances; their use has not yet been fully demonstrated. ESP technology (or some other secondary reduction technology) should provide emission reductions. First, emissions from existing appliances could be reduced without changing the entire combustion system. Second, highash fuels could be used in systems equipped with ESPs without the concern for excess PM emissions. Consumers would be given a choice of either investing in better appliances equipped with an ESP, which comes with the possibility of using low-cost fuels, or purchase a less expensive, yet modern combustion appliance and use first-class fuels. These alternatives would improve the raw material base that is available for pellet production while preventing excess emissions.

REFERENCES

- Aho, M. 2001. Reduction of chlorine deposition in FB boilers with aluminiumcontaining additives. Fuel, 80, 1943–1951.
- Aiken, A.C. et al. 2008. O/C and OM/OC ratios of primary, secondary, and ambient organic aerosols with high-resolution time-of-flight aerosol mass spectrometry. Environmental Science & Technology, 12, 4478–4485.
- Andreae, M.O., Crutzen, P.J. 1997. Atmospheric Aerosols: Biogeochemical Sources and Role in Atmospheric Chemistry. Science, 276, 1052–1058.
- Andreae, M.O., Gelencsér, A. 2006. Black carbon or brown carbon? The nature of light-absorbing carbonaceous aerosols. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 6, 3131–3148.
- Baeza-Romero, M.T., Wilson, J.M., Fitzpatrick E.M., Jones, J.M., Williams, A. 2010. In Situ Study of Soot from the Combustion of a Biomass Pyrolysis Intermediate Eugenol – and n-Decane Using Aerosol Time of Flight Mass Spectrometry. Energy & Fuels, 24, 439–445.
- Bari, M.A., Baumbach, G., Brodbeck, J., Struschka, M., Kuch, B., Dreher, W., Scheffknecht, G. 2011. Characterisation of particulates and carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in wintertime wood-fired heating in residential areas. Atmospheric Environment, 40, 7627–7634.
- Baxter, L.L., Miles, T.R., Miles Jr., T.R., Jenkins, B.M., Milne, T., Dayton, D., Bryers, R.W., Oden, L.L. 1998. The behavior of inorganic material in biomass-fired power boilers: field and laboratory experiences. Fuel Processing Technology, 54, 47–78.
- Becker, S., Dailey, L.A., Soukup, J.M., Grambow, S.C., Devlin, R.B., Huang, Y.C.T. 2005. Seasonal variations in air pollution particle-induced inflammatory mediator release and oxidative stress. Environmental Health Perspectives, 113, 1032–1038.
- Birch, M.E., Cary, R.A. 1996. Elemental Carbon-Based Method for Monitoring Occupational Exposure to Particulate Diesel Exhaust. Aerosol Science and Technology, 3, 221–241.
- Boman, C., Pettersson, E., Westerholm, R., Boström, D., Nordin A. 2011. Stove Performance and Emission Characteristics in Residential Wood Log and Pellet Combustion, Part 1: Pellet Stoves. Energy & Fuels, 25, 307–314.

- Bond, T. C., Doherty, S. J. Fahey, D. W., Forster, P. M., Berntsen, T., DeAngelo,
 B. J., Flanner, M. G., Ghan, S., Kaercher, B., Koch, D, Kinne, S., Kondo, Y.,
 Quinn, P. K., Sarofim, M. C., Schultz, M. G., Schulz, M., Venkataraman,
 C., Zhang, H., Zhang, S., Bellouin, N., Guttikunda, S. K., Hopke, P. K.,
 Jacobson, M. Z., Kaiser, J. W., Klimont, Z., Lohmann, U., Schwarz, J. P.,
 Shindell, D., Storelvmo, T., Warren, S. G., Zender, C. S. 2013. Bounding
 the role of black carbon in the climate system: A scientific assessment.
 Journal of Geophysical0 Reasearch Atmospheres, 11, 5380–5552.
- Bond, T.C., Bergstrom, R.W. 2006. Light Absorption by Carbonaceous Particles: An Investigative Review. Aerosol Science and Technology, 40, 27–67.
- Bond, T.C., Doherty, S.J., Fahey, D.W.. Forster, P.M., Berntsen, T., DeAngelo, B.J., Flanner, M.G., Ghan, S., Kaercher, B., Koch, D., Kinne, S., Kondo, Y., Quinn, P.K., Sarofim, M.C., Schultz, M.G., Schulz, M., Venkataraman, C., Zhang, H., Zhang, S., Bellouin, N., Guttikunda, S.K., Hopke, P.K., Jacobson, M.Z., Kaiser, J.W., Klimont, Z., Lohmann, U., Schwarz, J.P., Shindell, D., Storelvmo, T., Warren, S.G., Zender, C.S. 2013. Bounding the role of black carbon in the climate system: A scientific assessment. Journal of Geophysical Research – Atmospheres, 11, 5380–5552.
- Boström, C.R., Gerde, P., Hanberg, A., Jenström, B., Johansson, C., Kyrklund, T., Rannung, A., Törnqvist, M., Victorin, K., Westerholm, R. 2002. Cancer risk assessment, indicators, and guidelines for polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the ambient air. Environ Health Perspect. 2002 June; 110(Suppl 3): 451–488.
- Brandt, C., Kunde, R., Dobmeier, B., Schnelle-Kreis, J., Orasche, J., Schmoeckel, G., Diemer, J., Zimmermann, R., Gaderer, M. 2011. Ambient PM10 concentrations from wood combustion - Emission modeling and dispersion calculation for the city area of Augsburg, Germany. Atmospheric Environment, 20, 3466-3474.
- Caroll, J., Finnan, J. 2013. Emissions and efficiencies from the combustion of agricultural feedstock pellets using a small scale tilting grate boiler. Biosystems Engineering, 115, 50–55.
- Carvalho, L., Wopienka, E., Pointner, C., Lundgren, J., Verma, V.K., Haslinger, W., Schmidl, C. 2013. Performance of a pellet boiler fired with agricultural fuels. Applied Energy, 104, 286–296.
- Crippa, M., Canonaco, F., Slowik, J.G., El Haddad, I., DeCarlo, P.F., Mohr, C., Heringa, M.F., Chirico, R., Marchand, N., Temime-Roussel, B., Abidi, E.,

Poulain, L., Wiedensohler, A., Baltensperger, U., Prevot, A.S.H. 2013. Primary and secondary organic aerosol origin by combined gas-particle phase source apportionment. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 16, 8411–8426.

- Dayton, D.C., French, R.J., Milne, T.A. 1995. Direct Observation of Alkali Vapor Release during Biomass Combustion and Gasification. 1. Application Molecular Beam Mass Spectrometry to Switchgrass Combustion. Energy & Fuels, 9, 855–865.
- Davidsson, K.O., Steenari, B.M., Eskilsson, D. 2007. Kaolin addition during biomass combustion in a 35 MW circulation fluidized-bed boiler. Energy & Fuels, 4, 1959–1966.
- Directive 2010/75/EC (2010) Directive 2010/75/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 November 2010 on industrial emissions (integrated pollution prevention and control). *Official Journal of the European Communities*. L 334/17.
- Directive 2009/125/EC. Directive 2009/125/EC on the Ecodesign of Energyrelated Products: ENER Lot 20 – Local Room Heating Products.
- Directive 2009/125/EC. Directive 2009/125/EC on the Ecodesign of Energyrelated Products: TREN Lot 15 – Solid fuel small combustion installations.
- Dockery, D.W., Pope III, C.A. 1994. Acute respiratory effects of particulate air pollution. Annual Review of Public Health, 15, 107–132.
- England, G.C., Watson, J.G., Chow, J.C., Zielinska, B., Chang, M.-C.O., Loos K.R., Hidy, G.M. 2007. Dilution-Based Emissions Sampling from Stationary Sources: Part 2 – Gas-Fired Combustors Compared with Other Fuel-Fired Systems. Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association, 57, 79–93.
- Elsasser, M., Busch, C., Orasche, J., Schön, C., Hartmann, H., Schelle-Kreis, J., Zimmermann, R. 2013. Dynamic Changes of the Aerosol Composition and Concentration during Different Burning Phases of wood Combustion. Energy & Fuels, 27, 4959–4968.
- Elsasser, M., Crippa, M., Orasche, J., DeCarlo, P.F., Oster, M., Pitz, M., Cyrys, J., Gustafson, T.L., Pettersson, B.C., Schnelle-Kreis, J., Prévôt, A.S.H., Zimmermann, R. 2012. Organic molecular markers and signature from wood combustion particles in winter ambient aerosols: aerosol mass spectrometer (AMS) and high time-resolved GC-MS measurements in Augsburg, Germany. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 12, 6113–6128.

- EPA 3051: Microwave assisted acid digestion of sediments, sludges, soils and oils. 1994. United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- European Pellet Council 2013. Handbook for the Certification of Wood Pellet for Heating Purposes, Version 2.0. European Pellet Council (EPC), Brussels, Belgium.
- Fagerström, J., Näzelius, I.-L. Gilbe, C., Boström, D., Öhman, M., Boman, C. Influence of Peat Ash Composition on Particle Emissions and Slag Formation in Biomass Grate Co-combustion. Energy & Fuels, 28, 3403– 3411.
- Finnish Forest Research Institute, Metsäntutkimuslaitos, Metsätilastollinen tietopalvelu. Metsätilastotiedote 26/2009: Pientalojen polttopuun käyttö 2007/2008. Jukka Torvelainen 2.7.2009.
- Finnish Forest Research Institute, Metsäntutkimuslaitos, Metsätilastollinen tietopalvelu. Metsätilastotiedote 15/2013: Puun energiakäyttö 2012. Esa Ylitalo 18.4.2013.
- Fernandes, U., Costa, M. 2013. Formation of Fine Particulate Matter in a Domestic Pellet-Fired Boiler. Energy & Fuels, 27, 1081–1092.
- Fernandez, A., Davis, S.B., Wendt, J.O.L., Cenni, R., Young, R.S., Witten, M.L. 2001. Particulate emission from biomass combustion. Nature, 409, 998– 1000.
- Fiedler, F. 2004. The state of the art of small scale pellet based heating systems and relevant regulations in Sweden, Austria and Germany. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 8, 201–221.
- Fitzpatrick, E.M., Ross, A.B., Bates, J., Andrews, G., Jones, J.M., Phylaktou, H., Pourkashanian, M., Williams, A. 2007. Emission of oxygenated species from the combustion of pine wood and its relation to soot formation. Process Safety and Environmental Protection, B5, 430-440.
- Flagan, R.C, Seinfeld, J.H. 1998. Fundamentals of air pollution engineering. Prentice Hall.
- Furuhata, T., Kobaysahi, Y., Hayashida K., Arai M. 2012. Behavior of PAHs and PM in a diffusion flame of paraffin fuels. Fuel, 91, 16–25.
- Gilbe, C., Öhman, M., Lindström, E., Boström, D., Backman, R., Samuelsson, R., Burvall, J. 2008. Slagging characteristics during residential combustion of biomass pellets. Energy & Fuels, 22, 3536–3543.
- Grieshop, A. P., Logue, J. M., Donahue, N. M., and Robinson, A. L. 2009. Laboratory investigation of photochemical oxidation of organic aerosol

from wood fires 1: measurement and simulation of organic aerosol evolution, Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 9, 1263–1277.

- Gröhn, A., Suonmaa, V., Auvinen, A., Lehtinen, K.E.J., Jokiniemi, J. 2009. Reduction of Fine Particle Emissions from Wood Combustion with Optimized Condensing Heat Exchangers. Environmental Science & Technology, 43, 6269–6274.
- Gungor, A. 2010. Simulation of emission performance and combustion efficiency in biomass fired circulation fluidized bed combustors. Biomass & Bioenergy, 34, 506–514.
- Hays, M.D., Beck, L., Barfield, P., Lavrich, R.J., Dong, Y., van der Wal, R. 2008. Physical and Chemical Characterization of Residual Oil Boiler Emissions. Environmental Science & Technology, 42, 2496–2502.
- Hays, M.D., Gullett, B., King, C., Robinson, J. 2011. Characterization of Carbonaceous Aerosols Emitted from Outdoor Wood Boilers. Energy & Fuels, 25, 5632–5638.
- Heringa, M.F., DeCarlo, P.F., Chirico, R., Tritscher, T., Dommen, J., Weingartner, E., Richter, R., Wehrle, G., Prévôt, A.S.H., and Baltensperger, U. 2011. Investigations of primary and secondary particulate matter of different wood combustion appliances with a highresolution time-of-flight aerosol mass spectrometer, Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 11, 5945–5957.
- Horvath, H. 1993. Atmospheric Light-Absorption. Atmospheric Environment, Part A General Topics, *3*, 293–317.
- Houshfar, E., Skreiberg, O., Lovås, T., Torodovic, D., Sorum, L. 2013. Effect of Excess Air Ratio and Temperature on NOx Emission from Grate Combustion of Biomass in the Staged Combustion Scenario. Energy & Fuels, 25, 4643–4654.
- Hukkanen, A., Kaivosoja, T., Sippula, O., Nuutinen, K., Jokiniemi, J., Tissari, J. 2012. Reduction of gaseous and particulate emissions from small-scale wood combustion with a catalytic combustor. Atmospheric Environment, 50, 16–23.
- Hytönen, K., Yli-Pirilä, P., Tissari, J., Gröhn, A., Riipinen, I., Lehtinen, K.E.J., Jokiniemi, J. Gas-Particle Distribution of PAHs in Wood Combustion Emission Determined with Annular Denuders, Filter, and Polyurethane Foam Adsorbent. 2009. Aerosol Science and Technology, 5, 442–454.
- International Agency for Research on Cancer 2012. IARC: Diesel Engine Exhaust Carcinogenic. Press Release no 213.

- ISO 8178-1: Reciprocating Internal Combustion Engines Exhaust Emission Measurement – Part 1: Test Bed Measurement of Gaseous and Particulate Emissions, 1996. International Organization for Standardization, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Jakobson, M.Z. Short-term effects of controlling fossil-fuel soot, biofuel soot and gases, and methane on climate, Arctic ice, and air pollution health. 2010. Journal of Geophysical Research, 115, D14209, doi:10.1029/2009JD013795.
- Jalava, P.I., Salonen, R.O., Pennanen, A.S., Sillanpää, M., Hälinen, A.I., Happo, M.S., Hillamo, R., Brunekreef, B., Katsouyanni, K., Sunyer, J., Hirvonen, M.R. 2007. Heterogeneities in inflammatory and cytotoxic responses of RAW 264.7 macrophage cell line to urban air coarse, fine, and ultrafine particles from six European sampling campaigns. Inhalation Toxicology, 19, 213–225.
- Jalava, P.I., Happo, M.S., Kelz, J., Brunner, T., Hakulinen, P., Mäki-Paakkanen, J., Hukkanen, A., Jokiniemi, J., Obernberger, I., Hirvonen, M.-R. 2012. In vitro toxicological characterization of particulate emissions from residential biomass heating systems based on old and new technologies. Atmospheric Environment, 50, 24–35.
- Jalava, P.I., Salonen, R.O., Nuutinen, K., Pennanen, A.S., Happo, M.S., Tissari, J., Frey, A., Hillamo, R., Jokiniemi, J., Hirvonen, M.-R. 2010. Effect of combustion condition on cytotoxic and inflammatory activity of residential wood combustion particles. Atmospheric Environment, 44, 1691–1698.
- Jensen, P.A., Frandsen, F.J., Dam-Johansen, K., Sander, B. 2000. Experimental Investigation of the Transformation and Release to Gas Phase of Potassium and Chlorine during Straw Pyrolysis. Energy & Fuels, 14, 1280–1285.
- Jensen, P. A, Frandsen, F. J., Dam-Johansen, K. 2001. In Proceedings of the UEF Conference on Power Production in 21st Century: Impacts of Fuel Quality and Operations, Snowbird, UT, USA, 2001.
- Jiao, C., Flanner, M. G., Balkanski, Y., Bauer, S.E., Bellouin, N., Berntsen, T.K., Bian, H., Carslaw, K.S., Chin, M., De Luca, N., Diehl, T., Ghan, S.J., Iversen, T., Kirkevåg, A., Koch, D., Liu, X., Mann, G.W., Penner, J.E., Pitari, G., Schulz, M., Seland, Ø., Skeie, R.B., Steenrod, S.D., Stier, P., Takemura, T., Tsigaridis, K., van Noije, T., Yun, Y., and Zhang, K. 2014.

An AeroCom assessment of black carbon in Arctic snow and sea ice. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 14, 2399–2417.

- Jimenez, J.L., Canagaratna, M.R., Donahue, N.M., Prevot, A.S.H., Zhang, G., Kroll, J.H., DeCarlo, P.F., Allan, J.D., Coe, H., Ng, N.L., Aiken, A.C., Docherty, K.D., Ulbrich, I.M., Grieshop, A.P., Robinson, A.L., Duplissy, J., Smith, J.D., Wilson, K.R., Lanz, V.A., Hueglin, C., Sun, Y.L., Tian, J., Laaksonen, A., Raatikainen, T., Rautiainen, J., Vaattovaara, P., Ehn, M., Kulmala, M., Tomlinson, J.M., Collins, D.R., Cubison, M.J., Dunlea, E.J., Huffman, J.A., Onasch, T.B., Alfarra, M.R., Williams, P.I., Bower, K., Kondo, Y., Schneider, J., Drewnick, F., Borrmann, S., Weimer, S., Demerjian, K., Salcedo, D., Cottrell, L., Griffin, R., Takami, A., Miyoshi, T., Hatakeyama, S., Shimono, A., Sun, J.Y., Zhang, Y.M., Dzepina, K., Kimmel, J.R., Sueper, D., Jayne, J.T., Herndon, S.C., Trimborn, A.M., Williams, L.R., Wood, E.C., Kolb, C.E., Baltensperger, U., Worsnop, D.R. 2009. Evolution of Organic Aerosols in the Atmosphere. Science, 326, 1525–1529.
- Johansson, L., Leckner, B., Gustavsson, L., Cooper, D., Tullin, C., Potter, A. 2004. Emission characteristics of modern and old-type residential boilers fired with wood logs and wood pellets. Atmospheric Environment, 25, 4183–4195.
- Jones, F., Bankiewicz, D., Hupa, M. 2014. Occurrence and sources of zinc in fuels. Fuel, 117, 763–775.
- Kaivosoja, T., Jalava, P.I., Lamberg, H., Viren, A., Tapanainen, M., Torvela, T., Tapper, U., Sippula, O., Tissari, J., Hillamo, R., Hirvonen, M.-R., Jokiniemi, J. 2013. Comparison of emissions and toxicological properties of fine particles from wood and oil boilers in small (20-25 kW) and medium (5-10 MW) scale. Atmospheric Environment, 77, 193–201.
- Karvosenoja, N., Tainio, M., Kupiainen, K., Tuomisto, J.T., Kukkonen, J., Johansson, M. 2008. Evaluation of the emissions and uncertainties of PM2.5 originated from vehicular traffic and domestic wood combustion in Finland. Boreal Environmental Research, 13, 465–474.
- Kassman, H., Petterson, J., Steenari, B.M., Åmand, L.E. 2013. Two strategies to reduce gaseous KCl and chlorine in deposits during biomass combustion – injection of ammonium sulphate and co-combustion with peat. Fuel Processing Technology, 105, 170–180.
- Kasurinen, S., Jalava, P., Tapanainen, M., Uski, O., Happo, M., Mäki-Paakkanen, J., Lamberg, H., Koponen, H., Nuutinen, I., Kortelainen, M.,

Jokiniemi, J., Hirvonen, M.-R. 2014. Toxicological effects of particulate emissions – a comparison of oil and wood fuels in small and medium scale heating systems. Under review in Atmospheric Environment.

- Keskinen, J., Pietarinen, K., Lehtimäki, M. 1992. Electrical Low-Pressure Impactor. Journal of Aerosol Science, 4, 353–360.
- Khalil, R.A., Housfar, E., Musinguzi, W., Becidan, M., Skreiberg, O., Goiler, F., Lovas, T., Sorum, L. 2011. Experimental Investigation on Corrosion Abatement in Straw Combustion by Fuel Mixing. Energy & Fuels, 25, 2687–2695.
- Khan, A.A., de Jong, W., Jansens, P.J., Spliethoff, H. 2009. Biomass combustion in fluidized bed boilers: Potential problems and remedies. Fuel Processing Technology, 90, 21–50.
- Knudsen, J.N., Jensen P.A., Dam-Johansen, K. 2004. Transformation and Release to the Gas Phase of Cl, K, and S during Combustion of Annual Biomass. Energy & Fuels, 18, 1385–1399.
- Koksal, M., Hamdullahpur, F. 2004. Gas Mixing in Circulating Fluidized Beds with Secondary Air Injection. Chemical Engineering Research and Design, 82, 979–992.
- Kucera, V., Fitz, S. 1995. Direct and indirect air pollution effects on materials including cultural monuments. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, 85, 153– 165.
- Laskin, A., Laskin, J., Nizkorodov, S.A. 2012. Mass spectrometric approaches for chemical characterisation of atmospheric aerosols: critical review of the most recent advances. Environmental Chemistry, 9, 163–189.
- Lind, T., Kauppinen, E.I., Hokkinen, J., Jokiniemi, J.K., Orjala, M., Aurela, M., Hillamo, R. 2006. Effect of chlorine and sulfur on fine particle formation in pilot-scale CFBC of biomass. Energy & Fuels, 20, 61–68.
- Lindström, E., Sandström, M., Boström, D., Öhman, M. 2007. Slagging characteristics during combustion of cereal grains rich in phosphorus. Energy & Fuels, 21, 710–717.
- Lipsky, E.M., Robinson, A.L. 2006. Effects of dilution on fine particle mass and partitioning of semivolatile organics in diesel exhaust and wood smoke. Environmental Science and Technology, 40, 155–162.
- Liu, H., Chaney, J., Li, J., Sun, C. 2013. Control of NOx emissions of a domestic/small-scale biomass pellet boiler by air staging. Fuel, 103, 792– 798.

- Loomis, D., Grosse, Y., Lauby-Secretan, B., Ghissassi, F.E., Bouvard, V., Benbrahim-Tallaa, L., Guha, N., Baan, R., Mattock, H., Straif, K., on behalf of International Agency for Research on Cancer Monograph Working Group IARC, Lyon, France. The carcinogenicity of outdoor air pollution. Lancet Oncology, 14, 1262–1263.
- Lyyränen, J., Jokiniemi, J., Kauppinen, E.I., Backman, U., Vesala, H. 2004. Comparison of different dilution methods for measuring diesel particle emissions. Aerosol Science and Technology, 1, 12–23.
- Marschner, P (ed.). 2012. Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants (3rd Edition). Elsevier.
- McDonald, J.D., Zielinska, B., Fujita, E.M., Sagebiel, J.C., Chow, J.C., Watson, J.G. 2000. Fine particle and gaseous emission rates from residential wood combustion. Environmental Science & Technology, 11, 2080–2091.
- Meinander, O., Kazadzis, S., Arola, A., Riihelä, A., Räisänen, P., Kivi, R., Kontu, A., Kouznetsov, R., Sofiev, M., Svensson, J., Suokanerva, H., Aaltonen, V., Manninen, T., Roujean, J.-L., and Hautecoeur, O. 2013. Spectral albedo of seasonal snow during intensive melt period at Sodankylä, beyond the Arctic Circle. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 13, 3793–3810.
- Meyer, N.K. 2012. Particulate, black carbon and organic emissions from small-scale residential wood combustion appliances in Switzerland. Biomass & Bioenergy, 36, 31–42.
- Mochiad, M., Kawamura, K. 2004. Hygroscopic properties of levoglucosan and related organic compounds characteristic to biomass burning aerosol particles. Journal of Geophysical Research – Atmospheres, 109, doi:10.1029/2004JD004962.
- Moldanová, J., Fridell, E., Popovicheva, O., Demerdjian, B., Tishkova, V., Faccinetto, A., Focsa, C. 2009. Characterisation of particulate matter and gaseous emissions from a large ship diesel engine. Atmospheric Environment, 43, 2632–2641.
- NIOSH Elemental Carbon (Diesel Particulate) Method 5040. In NIOSH Manual of Analytical Methods (NMAM), 4th ed., The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health: Atlanta, GA, 1999.
- Norwegian Standard NS 3058-2:1994. Enclosed wood heaters Smoke emission, Part 2: Determination of particulate emission. p. 1-12.

- Nuutinen, I., Sippula, O., Tissari, J., Jokiniemi, J. 2010. Fine particle and gas emissions of a pellet burner based on gasification combustion. International Aerosol Conference 2010, Helsinki Finland.
- Nuutinen, K., Jokiniemi, J., Sippula, O., Lamberg, H., Sutinen, J., Horttanainen, P., Tissari, J. 2014. Effects of air staging on fine particle, dust and gaseous emissions from masonry heaters. Biomass & Bioenergy, 67, 167–178.
- Nussbaumer, T. 2003. Combustion and Co-combustion of Biomass: Fundamentals, Technologies, and Primary Measures for Emission Reduction. Energy & Fuels, 17, 1510–1521.
- Näzelius, I.-L., Boström, D., Boman, C., Hedman, H., Samuelsson, R., Öhman, M. 2013. Influence of Peat Addition to Woody Biomass Pellets on Slaggning Characteristics during Combustion. Energy & Fuels, 27, 3997– 4006.
- Obaidullah, M., Bram, S., Verma, V.K., De Ruyck, J. 2012. A Review on Particle Emissions from Small Scale Biomass Combustion. International Journal of Renewable Energy Research, 2, 147–159.
- Obernberger, I., Brunner, T. (eds.) 2012. Future low emission biomass combustion systems. ERA-NET Bioenergy Project FutureBioTec, Final Report. Available in

http://futurebiotec.bioenergy2020.eu/files/FutureBioTec-FinalReport.pdf

- Obernberger, I., Mandl, C (Eds.) 2011. Survey on the present state of particle precipitation devices for residential biomass combustion with a nominal capacity up to 50 kW in IEA Bioenergy Task32 member countries. IEA Bioenergy. Available online: http://futurebiotec.bioenergy2020.eu/content/downloads
- Obernberger, I., Thek, G. (Eds.) 2010. The Pellet Handbook. The Production and Thermal Utilization of Biomass Pellets. Earthscan, London, Washington DC.
- Oilon Home Ltd. Oilon Junior Pro –polttimen käyttöohjeet. Oilon Junior burner: Owner's manual. www.oilon.fi.
- Oh, S.M., Kim, H.R., Park, Y.J., Lee, S.Y., Chung, K.H. 2011. Organic extracts of urban air pollution particulate matter (PM2.5)-induced genotoxicity and oxidative stress in human lung bronchial epithelial cells (BEAS-2B cells). Mutation Research/Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 723, 142–151.

- Öhman, M., Nordin, A., Hedman, H., Jirjis, R. 2004. Reasons for slagging during stemwood pellet combustion and some measures for prevention. Biomass & Bioenergy, 27, 597–605.
- Omaye, S.T. 2002. Metabolic modulation of carbon monoxide toxicity. Toxicology, 180, 139–150.
- Onasch, T.B., Trimborn, A., Fortner, E.C., Jayne, J.T., Kok, G.L., Williams, L.R., Davidovits, P., Worshnop, D.R. 2012. Soot Particle Aerosol Mass Spectrometer: Development, Validation, and Initial Application. Aerosol Science and Technology, 46, 804–817.
- Orasche, J., Seidel, T., Hartmann, H., Schnelle-Kreis, J., Chow, J.C., Ruppert, H., Zimmermann, R. 2012. Comparison of Emissions from Wood Combustion. Part 1: Emission Factors and Characteristics from Different Small-Scale Residential Heating Appliances Considering Particulate Matter and Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon (PAH)-Related Toxicological Potential of Particle-Bound Organic Species. Energy & Fuels, 26, 6695–6704.
- Orasche, J., Schnelle-Kreis, J., Schön, C., Hartmann, H., Ruppert, H., Arteaga-Salas, J.M., Zimmermann, R. 2013. Comparison of Emissions from Wood Combustion. Part 2: Impact of Combustion Conditions on Emission Factors and Characteristics of Particle-Bound Organic Species and Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon (PAH)-Related Toxicological Potential. Energy & Fuels, 27, 1482–1491.
- Oster, M., Elsasser, M., Schnelle-Kreis, J., Zimmermann, R. 2011. First field application of a thermal desorption resonance-enhanced multiphotonionisation single particle time-of-flight mass spectrometer for the on-line detection of particle-bound polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 10, 3173–3182.
- Ostro, B., Feng, W.-Y., Broadwin, R., Green S., Lipsett, M. 2007. The Effects of Components of Fine Particulate Air Pollution on Mortality in California: Results from CALFINE. Environmental Health Perspectives, 115, 13–19.
- Petzold, A., Ogren, J.A., Fiebig, M., Laj, P., Li, S.-M., Baltensperger, U., Holzer-Popp, T., Kinne, S., Pappalardo, G., Sugimoto, N., Wehrli, C., Wiedensohler, A., Zhang, X.-Y. 2013. Recommendations for reporting "black carbon" measurements. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 13, 8365–8379.
- Picaud, S., Hoang, P.N.M., Hamad, S., Meijias, J.A., Lago, S. 2004. Theoretical study of the adsorption of water on a model soot surface: II. Molecular dynamics simulations. Journal of Physical Chemistry, 17, 5410–5415.
- Pope III, C.A., Burnett, R.T., Thun, M.J., Calle, E.E., Krewski, D., Ito, K., Thurston, G.D. 2002. Lung Cancer, Cardiopulmonary Mortality, and Long-term Exposure to Fine Particulate Air Pollution. The Journal of the American Medical Association, 9, 1132–1141.
- Rabacal, M., Fernandes, U., Costa, M. 2013. Combustion and emission characteristics of a domestic boiler fired with pellets of pine, industrial wood wastes and peach stones. Renewable Energy, 51, 220–226.
- Ravishankara, A.R., Daniel, J.S., Portmann, R.W. 2009. Nitrous Oxide (N₂O): The Dominant Ozone-Depleting Substance Emitted in the 21st Century. Science, 326, 123–125.
- Reche, C., Viana, M., Amato, F., Alastuey, A., Moreno, T., Hillamo, R., Teinilä, K., Saarnio, K., Seco, R., Penuelas, J., Mohr, C., Prevot, A.S.H., Querol, X. 2012. Biomass burning contributions to urban aerosols in a coastal Mediterranean City. Science of the Total Environment, 427, 175–190.
- Richter, H., Howard, J.B. 2000. Formation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and their growth to soot a review of chemical reaction pathways. Progress in Energy and Combustion Science, 4-6, 565–608.
- Robinson, A.L., Donahue, N.M., Shrivastava, M.K., Weitkamp, E.A., Sage, A.M., Grieshop, A.P., Lane, T.E., Pierce, J.R., Pandis, S.N. 2007. Rethinking organic aerosols: Semivolatile emissions and photochemical aging. Science, 1259–1262.
- Ruusunen, J., Tapanainen, M., Sippula, O., Jalava, P.I., Lamberg, H., Nuutinen, K., Tissari, J., Ihalainen, M., Kuuspalo, K., Mäki-Paakkanen, J., Hakulinen, P., Pennanen, A., Teinilä, K., Makkonen, U., Salonen, R.O., Hillamo, R., Hirvonen, M.-R., Jokiniemi, J. 2011. A novel particle sampling system for physico-chemical and toxicological characterization of emissions. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 10, 7635–7643.
- Saarnio, K., Niemi, J.V., Saarikoski, S., Aurela, M., Timonen, H., Teinilä, K., Myllynen, M., Frey, A., Lamberg, H., Jokiniemi, J., Hillamo, R. 2012. Using monosaccharide anhydrides to estimate the impact of wood combustion on fine particles in the Helsinki Metropolitan Area. Boreal Environmental Research, 3-4, 163–183.
- Schmidl, C., Luisser, M., Padouvas, E., Lasserberger, L., Rzaca, M., Ramirez-Santa Cruz, C., Handler, M., Peng, G., Bauer, H., Puxbaum, H. 2011.

Particulate and gaseous emissions from manually and automatically fired small scale combustion systems. Atmospheric Environment, 45, 7443–7454.

- Schnaiter, M., Linke, C., Möhler, O., Naumann, K.-H., Saathoff, H., Wagner, R., Schurath, U., Wehner, B. 2005. Absorption amplification of black carbon internally mixed with secondary organic aerosol. Journal of Geophysical Research – Atmospheres, 110, D19204, doi:10.1029/2005JD006046.
- Schnelle-Kreis, J., Orasche, J., Abbaszade, G., Schaefer, K., Harlos, D.P., Hansen, A.D.A., Zimmermann, R. 2011. Application of direct thermal desorption gas chromatography time-of-flight mass spectrometry for determination of nonpolar organics in low-volume samples from ambient particulate matter and personal samplers. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 401, 3083–3094.
- Sklorz, M., Briede, J.J., Schnelle-Kreis, J., Liu, Y., Cyrys, J., de Kok, T.M., Zimmermann, R. 2007. Concentration of Oxygenated Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons and Oxygen Free Radical Formation from Urban Particulate Matter. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A: 1866–1869.
- Seinfeld, J.H., Pandis, S.N. Atmospheric chemistry and physics: from air pollution to climate change. A Wiley-Interscience Publication, USA.
- Shiraiwa, M., Kondo, Y., Iwamoto, T., Kita, K. 2010. Amplification of Light Absorption of Black Carbon by Organic Coating. Aerosol Science and Technology, 44, 46–54.
- Simoneit, B.R.T. 2002. Biomass burning a review of organic tracers for smoke from incomplete combustion. Applied Geochemistry, 17, 129–162.
- Simoneit, B.R.T., Schauer, J.J., Nolte, C.G., Oros, D.R., Elias, V.O., Fraser, M.P., Rogge, W.F., Cass, G.R. 1999. Levoglucosan, a tracer for cellulose in biomass burning and atmospheric particles. Atmospheric Environment, 33, 173–182.
- Sippula, O., Hytönen, K., Tissari, J., Raunemaa, T., Jokiniemi, J. 2007. Effect of wood fuel on the emissions from a top-feed pellet stove. Energy & Fuels, 21, 1151–1160.
- Sippula, O., Lind, T., Jokiniemi, J. 2008. Effects of chlorine and sulphur on particle formation in wood combustion performed in a laboratory scale reactor. Fuel, 87, 2425–2436.

- Sippula, O., Hokkinen, J., Puustinen, J., Yli-Pirilä, P., Jokiniemi, J. 2009a. Comparison of particle emissions from small heavy fuel oil and oil-fired boilers. Atmospheric Environment, 43, 4855–4864.
- Sippula, O., Hokkinen, J., Puustinen, H., Yli-Pirilä, P., Jokiniemi, J. 2009b. Particle emissions from small wood-fired district heating units. Energy & Fuels, 23, 2974–2982.
- Sippula, O. 2010. Fine particle formation and emissions in biomass combustion. Report Series in Aerosol Science N:o 108 (2010). Finnish Association for Aerosol Research.
- Sklorz, M., Briede, J.J., Schnelle-Kreis, J., Liu, Y., Cyrys, J., de Kok, T.M., Zimmermann, R. 2007. Concentration of oxygenated polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and oxygen free radical formation from urban particulate matter. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health – Part A – Current Issues, 21, 1866–1869.
- Solomon, S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M. Tignor, and H.L. Miller (eds.). 2007b. Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK, and New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Sommersacher, P., Brunner, T., Obernberger, I. 2012. Fuel indexes: A novel method for the evaluation of relevant combustion properties of new biomass fuels. Energy & Fuels, 26, 380–390.
- Sommersacher, P., Brunner, T., Obernberger, I., Kienzl, N., Kanzian, W. 2013. Application of Novel and Advanced Fuel Characterization Tools for the Combustion Related Characterization of Different Wood/Kaolin and Straw/Kaolin Mixtures. Energy & Fuels, 27 5192–5206.
- Statistics Finland 2012. Total energy consumption by energy source 2011. Helsinki, Finland.
- Statistics Finland 2014. Energy supply and consumption, 2013. Helsinki, Finland.
- Steenari, B.-M., Lindqvist, O. 1998. High-temperature reactions of straw and the anti-sintering additives kaolin and dolomite. Biomass & Bioenergy, 14, 67–76.
- Steenari, B.-M., Lundberg, A., Petterson, H., Wilewska-Bein, M., Andersson, D. 2009. Investigation of Ash Sintering during Combustion of Agricultural Residues and the Effect of Additives. Energy & Fuels, 23, 5655–5662.

- Stohl, A., Klimont, Z., Eckhardt, S., Kupiainen, K., Shevchenko, V.P., Kopeikin, V.M., Novigatsky, A.N. 2013. Black carbon in the Arctic: the underestimated role of gas flaring and residential combustion emissions. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 2013, 13, 8833–8855.
- Summary and Evaluation of Existing Data on Air Staging Strategies. 2010. Report, Project ERA-NET, FutureBioTec. Available in http://futurebiotec.bioenergy2020.eu/files/FutureBioTec-Summary%20and%20Evaluation%20of%20Air%20Staging%20Strategies. pdf.
- Tammet, H., Mirme, A., Temm, E. 2002. Electrical aerosol technology of Tartu University. Atmospheric Research, 62, 315–324.
- Tapanainen, M., Jalava, P.I., Mäki-Paakkanen, J., Hakulinen, P., Happo, M., Lamberg, H., Ruusunen, J., Tissari, J., Nuutinen, K., Yli-Pirilä, P., Hillamo, R., Salonen, R.O., Jokiniemi, J., Hirvonen, M.-R. 2011. In vitro immunotoxic and genotoxic activities of particles emitted from two different small-scale wood combustion appliances. Atmospheric Environment, 45, 7546–7554.
- Tapanainen, M., Jalava, P.I., Mäki-Paakkanen, J., Hakulinen, P., Lamberg, H., Ruusunen, J., Tissari, J., Jokiniemi, J., Hirvonen, M-R. 2012. Efficiency of log wood combustion affects the toxicological and chemical properties of emission particles. Inhalation Toxicology, 24, 343–355.
- Tissari, J., Hytönen, K., Lyyränen, J., Jokiniemi, J., 2007. A novel field measurement method for determining fine particle and gas emissions from residential wood combustion. Atmospheric Environment, 41, 8330–8344.
- Tissari, J., Sippula, O., Kouki, J., Vuorio, K., Jokiniemi, J. 2008a. Fine Particle and Gas Emissions from the Combustion of Agricultural Fuels Fired in a 20 kW Burner. Energy & Fuels, 22, 2033–2042.
- Tissari, J., Lyyränen, J., Hytönen, K., Sippula, O., Tapper, U., Frey, A., Saarnio, K., Pennanen, A.S., Hillamo, R., Salonen, R.O., Hirvonen, M.-R., Jokiniemi, J. 2008b. Fine particle and gaseous emissions from normal and smouldering wood combustion in a conventional masonry heater. Atmospheric Environment, 34, 7862–7873.
- Tissari, J., Hytönen, K., Sippula, O., Jokiniemi, J. 2009. The effects of operating conditions on emissions from masonry heaters and sauna stoves. Biomass & Bioenergy, 33, 513–520.

- Tissari, J. 2008. Fine Particle Emissions from Residential Wood Combustion. Ph.D. Thesis. Kuopio University Publications C. Natural and Environmental Sciences 237. 63 p.
- Torvela, T., Tissari, J., Sippula, O., Kaivosoja, T., Leskinen, J., Virén, A., Lähde, A., Jokiniemi, J. 2014. Effect of wood combustion conditions on the morphology of freshly emitted fine particles. Atmospheric Environment, 87, 65–76.
- Turpin, B.J., Lim, H.-J. 2001. Species Contributions to PM2.5 Mass Concentrations: Revisiting Common Assumptions for Estimating Organic Mass. Aerosol Science and Technology, 35, 602–610.
- US Environmental Protection Agency 1984. Guidelines Establishing Test Procedures for the Analysis of Pollutants Under the CleanWater Act: Method 610. Polynuclear Aromatic Hydrocarbons. Fed Reg, 49(209):43344–43352 (40 CFR Part 136).
- Valtioneuvoston asetus polttoaineteholtaan alle 50 megawatin energiantuotantoyksiköiden ympäristönsuojeluvaatimuksista. 750/2013. http://www.finlex.fi/fi/laki/alkup/2013/20130750.
- van Lith, S.C., Alonso-Ramírez, V., Jensen, P.A., Frandsen, F.J., Glarborg, P. 2006. Release to the Gas Phase of Inorganic Elements during Wood Combustion. Part 1: Development and Evaluation of Quantification Methods. Energy & Fuels, 20, 964–978.
- van Lith, S.C., Jensen, P.A., Frandsen, F.J., Glarborg, P. Release to the Gas Phase of Inorganic Elements during Wood Combustion. Part 2: Influence of Fuel Composition. Energy & Fuels, 22, 1598–1609.
- Vassilev, S.V., Vassileva, C.G. 2009. A new approach for the combined chemical and mineral classification of the inorganic matter in coal. 1. Chemical and mineral classification systems. Fuel, 88, 235–245.
- Vassilev, S.V., Baxter, D., Andersen, L.K., Vassileva, C.G. 2010. An overview of the chemical composition of biomass. Fuel, 89, 913–933.
- Verma, V.K., Bram, S., Gauthier, G., De Ruyck, J. 2011. Evaluation of the performance of a pellet boiler as a function of operational loads: Part-2. Biomass and Bioenergy, 35, 272–279.
- Wang, H., 2011. Formation of nascent soot and other condensed-phase materials in flames. Proceedings of the Combustion Institute, 33, 41–67.
- Wentzel, M., Gorzawski, H., Naumann, K. H., Saathoff, H., Weinbruch, S. 2003. Transmission electron microscopical and aerosol dynamical

characterization of soot aerosols. Journal of Aerosol Science, 34, 1347–1370.

- Westberg Miettinen, H., Byström, M., Leckner, B. 2003. Distribution of Potassium, Chlorine, and Sulfur between Solid and Vapor Phases during Combustion of Wood Chips and Coal. Energy & Fuels, 17, 18–28.
- Wiinikka H, Gebart, R., 2004. Critical Parameters for Particle Emissions in Small-Scale Fixed-Bed Combustion of Wood Pellets. Energy & Fuels, 18, 897–907.
- Wiinikka, H., Gebart, R. 2005. The influence of air distribution rate on particle emissions in fixed bed combustion of biomass. Combustion Science and Technology, 177, 1747–1766.
- Wiinikka, H., Gebart, R., Boman, C., Boström, D., Öhman, M. 2007. Influence of fuel ash composition on high temperature aerosol formation in fixed bed combustion of woody biomass pellets. Fuel, 86, 181–193.
- Wiinikka, H., Gronberg, C., Boman, C. 2013. Emissions of Heavy Metals during Fixed-Bed Combustion of Six Biomass Fuels. Energy & Fuels, 27, 1073–1080.
- World Health Organization (WHO), 1998. Selected Non-heterocyclic Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons. Environmental Health Criteria 202.
 WHO International Program of Chemical Safety (IPCS), Geneva, Switzerland.

APPENDIX I: TIME SERIES OF GASEOUS COMPONENTS FROM RESIDENTIAL COMBUSTION

Figure 1: O_2 , CO and OGC concentrations as a function of time in the different experimental cases.



Pellet combustion: peat (20%) and pine bark (80%).



Pellet combustion: peat (40%) and pine bark (60%).



Pellet combustion: nominal load (L25).



Pellet combustion: low load (L_{12.5}).



Pellet combustion: reduced primary air (Prim₂).



Conventional masonry heater (CBC3).

Paper I

Reprinted with permission from Lamberg et al., Energy & Fuels, 25, 4952–4960, 2011. Copyright (2011) American Chemical Society.

energy&fuels

Effects of Air Staging and Load on Fine-Particle and Gaseous Emissions from a Small-Scale Pellet Boiler

Heikki Lamberg,*,[†] Olli Sippula,[†] Jarkko Tissari,[†] and Jorma Jokiniemi^{†,‡}

⁺Fine Particle and Aerosol Technology Laboratory, Department of Environmental Science, University of Eastern Finland, Post Office Box 1627, FI-70211 Kuopio, Finland

⁺VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland, Fine Particles, Post Office Box 1000, FI-02044 VTT, Espoo, Finland

Supporting Information

ABSTRACT: Fine-particle and gaseous emissions from a modern small-scale pellet boiler were studied with different air-staging settings and under different load operations. Commercial wood pellets were used in the boiler, which worked with a top-feed fuel input. Partial load operation experiments included half-load 12.5 kW and low-load 7 kW. In air-staging experiments, the amounts of primary air were decreased by 71 and 82% while simultaneously keeping constant total air/fuel ratios. This was found to result in considerably lower emissions than during normal full-load operation with factory settings. The reduction in fine-particle emissions was based on both a decrease in alkali metal emissions and emissions of unburnt carbonaceous particles. However, when the amounts of secondary air were decreased by 17 and 33%, there were higher emissions of both fine particles and gases during full-load operation, especially of emission components originating from incomplete combustion. The primary air/secondary air ratio correlated with CO, PM₁, K, EC, and SO₄ emissions. Furthermore, correlations were found between the primary air/fuel ratio and particle geometric mean diameter (GMD) and between the secondary air supply and GMD. These correlations were seen with all measured points, which indicates that they apply to all of the operational situations that were studied. The results show that there is significant potential for decreasing particle emissions from automated pellet combustion systems by optimizing combustion air staging in the furnace.

1. INTRODUCTION

Wood-based biomass fuels are used for heat and energy production because they reduce carbon dioxide (CO_2) emissions and fossil fuel consumption. The European Union has set targets to increase the overall use of biomass to control CO₂ emissions.¹ To achieve these goals, one way to use wood fuels is in small-scale combustion in households. However, combustion of wood fuels, especially in small-scale heat production, is known to cause major emissions of pollutants, such as organic gaseous carbon (OGC), particulate matter (PM), and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) because of poor combustion control and lack of flue gas after treatments.^{2–4} Furthermore, burning biomass generally produces higher amounts of such emissions than oil, which is the fuel often replaced by biomass in small-scale use.⁵ Fine particles (PM1, fine particles with aerodynamic diameter under 1 μ m) are known to have adverse effects on human health,⁶ and increases in biomass combustion can lead to increased concentrations of PM in the atmosphere. In addition, fine particles may have negative effects on combustion appliances. Furthermore, emissions of wood combustion are important precursors of secondary organic aerosol.7

Automation of small-scale combustion appliances has been shown to provide good control of the combustion process similar to large-scale combustion and to accomplish better efficiency and lower emissions.⁴ Wood pellets are well-suited to automatic heating appliances and have the potential to grow in household energy markets. Pellet appliances equipped for continuous combustion can easily achieve good combustion efficiency because of stable fuel quality⁸ and combustion process. Even though the gaseous and PM1 emissions from pellet combustion are generally low compared to the emissions from log-fueled batch combustion appliances,4,5 increased emissions may occur during some operational procedures, such as cleaning periods⁹ and periods of lower load, 5,10-12 which are common during normal operation. Secondary emission reduction measures are not yet common in small-scale combustion devices even though there are a number of devices being developed with varying flue gas after-treatment techniques. Primary reduction of emissions, such as by optimized air staging, is a strategy for reducing emissions that is likely to be favored by boiler manufacturers because it enhances the completeness of combustion, thus increasing appliance efficiency while being more feasible than after-treatment techniques that require extra investments, maintenance, materials, and space.

Particle emissions from small-scale combustion usually contain mostly PM_1 .^{9,13} PM_1 emissions from pellet combustion are generally low and are mainly formed of alkali salts. Emissions associated with incomplete combustion, such as elemental carbon and organic carbon, are low.^{9,14} This is a result of the design and combustion control in pellet appliances. Ash particles are mainly formed from alkali compounds that vaporize in the hot temperatures of the flame or fuel bed. Cooling of the flue

Received:	July 20, 2011
Revised:	September 27, 2011
Published:	October 05, 2011

ARTICLE



Figure 1. Schematic drawing of the experimental setup.

gases or chemical reactions cause the vaporized components to saturate and condense, forming fine particles.^{9,15}

The formation of emissions can be affected by staging of the combustion air supply in the furnace.¹⁶ The air supply in gratefired appliances is divided between primary air supplied through the grate and secondary air supplied later above the grate. It has been reported that, in staged biomass combustion, the primary combustion should be understoichiometric, with a sufficient residence time (about 0.5 s) between primary and secondary combustion zones.⁸ Air staging has been used in large-scale energy production for reduction of nitrogen oxide (NO_x) emissions.^{17,18} Air staging has also been used at small scales, especially to decrease the emissions of incomplete combustion. It has been reported that reducing primary air flow through the fuel bed results in lower evaporation of alkali metals. This is due to either lower fuel bed temperatures¹⁶ or reducing conditions in the fuel bed, which convert K oxides into K salts that have significantly higher volatilization temperatures and are thus converted into the grate ash.8 However, too large of air flow through the fuel bed has been found to decrease the residence time in the primary combustion zone and to increase particle emissions.¹⁹ Furthermore, no correlations were found between particle concentrations in the primary combustion zone and in the flue gas, which shows that the oxidation in the secondary combustion zone has a major effect on emission factors.¹⁹ Previous studies show that there are ways to further develop the combustion process to decrease the emissions in normal combustion situations in small-scale pellet combustion.

In the present study, the aim was to investigate the effects of partial load and air staging on particle and gaseous emissions from a modern small-scale pellet boiler. The goal was also to investigate if combustion parameters, such as combustion air supply, air distribution, and air/fuel ratios, could be linked with emission characteristics, such as PM_1 and particle number emissions, particle size, and particle chemical composition.

2. EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

Combustion experiments were performed in a laboratory environment with a 25 kW pellet boiler suitable for household heat production. Heat from the pellet boiler system was transported to a 200 kW heat exchanger to cool the system and enable stable operation. The flue gases were led to an approximately 3 m high insulated steel stack (Figure 1). After the stack, a hood equipped with a flue gas fan was used to transport the flue gases outside. There was a space between the stack and the hood to ensure natural draft in the stack and in the appliance. A portion of the flue gases were transported to a dilution tunnel through an insulated and heated sample line. The diameter of the sample line was 12 mm, and it was heated to 140 °C to prevent cooling and condensation in the line. The dilution tunnel was built according to the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) standard,²⁰ and it has been described in studies on different kinds of emission measurements from biomass combustion.^{9,13,21} The air used to dilute flue gases in the tunnel was taken from the laboratory room air and was filtered in three stages: a prefilter removed coarse particles; a chemical filter removed hydrocarbons and nitrogen oxides; and a post-filter removed fine particles. The sample flow from the stack to the dilution tunnel was drawn by adjusting a vacuum in the dilution tunnel. To control the process and the setup during the experiment, temperatures were measured continuously at three different locations: after the pellet boiler at the entrance into the



Figure 2. Sketch of the pellet boiler used in this study: 1, ash box; 2, grate and primary air supply; 3, secondary air supply; 4, heat exchanger; 5, flue gas outlet; 6, primary air inlet; 7, secondary air inlet; 8, pellet feeding screw; 9, ignition fan; and 10, pellet storage.

stack ($T_{\text{flue 1}}$), in the stack at the point that samples were drawn into the dilution tunnel ($T_{\text{flue 2}}$), and in the dilution tunnel (T_{sample}) (Figure 1).

2.1. Combustion Appliance and Operational Practices. The combustion appliance used in these experiments was a pellet boiler with a 25 kW maximum load (Biotech Energietechnik GmbH, model PZ-RL). The pellet boiler operates with a top-feed fuel input and includes an integrated burner and boiler (Figure 2). The boiler can be operated continuously between the loads of 6 and 25 kW. It is equipped with logic-controlled fans for the supply of combustion air. The primary air was fed in through holes in the grate at the bottom of the cylindrical furnace. The width of the grate was approximately 110 mm, and the diameter of each hole was approximately 7 mm. Secondary air was fed in 100 mm above the grate through 12 holes with a diameter of 15 mm each. The furnace widened approximately 130 mm above the grate. Commercial wood pellets originating from Finland were used in the study. The primary pellet raw material was pine stem wood, and details of the fuel composition is presented in Table 1.

Combustion experiments were performed with three different operational manipulations: partial loads, reduced primary combustion air supplies, and reduced secondary combustion air supplies. Normal operation was assumed to obtain nominal load of 25 kW (L_{25}), represented as a baseline, to which the other settings were compared. Partial loads included half load, about 12.5 kW ($L_{12.5}$), and low load, about 7 kW (L_7). Low load was selected as a partial-load condition where the boiler still operates continuously. Partial loads were created by adjusting the load in the boiler.

Primary air settings were selected from the settings of the pellet boiler, where the normal average air flow of 176 liters per minute (lpm) was reduced to 75% (Prim₁) and 50% (Prim₂). Secondary air settings were also selected from the boiler setting, where the average secondary air flow of 302 lpm was reduced to 75% (Sec₁) and 50% (Sec₂). However, it was found that these setting values in the boiler did not fully correlate ARTICLE

moisture (%)	7.5
ash content (%, 550 °C)	0.2
net calorific value (MJ/kg)	18.91
ash fusibility, deformation (°C)	1450
bulk density (g/L)	633
S (m %)	< 0.02
C (m %)	51.2
H (m %)	6.4
N (m %)	<0.1
Cl (m %)	0.007
Si (mg/kg)	140
K (mg/kg)	420
Na (mg/kg)	<20
Zn (mg/kg)	7.04
Ca (mg/kg)	633
Fe (mg/kg)	52.6

Table 1. Properties of the Fuel Used

with the real measured combustion air flows. In the cases of Prim₁ and Prim₂, the primary combustion air flows decreased by 71 and 82%, to averages of 50 and 15 lpm, respectively, and in the cases of Sec₁ and Sec₂, the secondary combustion air flows decreased by 17 and 33% to 250 and 202 lpm, respectively. Combustion air flows are presented in more detail in Table 2. Reductions of primary and secondary air flows were found to decrease load because of lower fuel supply. This occurred because, in normal use, the combustion process in this pellet boiler is controlled by adjusting the air flows and the fuel supply. The estimated loads are presented in Table 3.

Combustion air supplies were measured before they entered the pellet boiler with Schmidt (model SS 20.60) flow sensors that were installed in flow tubes upstream of the combustion air fans. The large diameters of the flow tubes (diameter of 101.7 mm and primary air tube of 44.5 mm in Prim₁ and Prim₂) ensured that only a negligible pressure loss was caused by the measurement. Thus, the flow measurement did not affect the combustion process.

Each of the combustion experiments were performed in a preheated pellet boiler. The boiler was turned on 3 h before the start of the experiment, and the warming was performed on full load. Each variable parameter for the upcoming experiment was changed 1 h before the start of the experiment, which was found to be sufficient for the combustion process to stabilize. The boiler worked automatically during each experimental period (3-4 h), and the user had no control over the combustion process.

2.2. Gas Measurements. Gas measurements were made in the undiluted flue gas in the stack. A combination of gas analyzers (ABB Cemas gas-analyzing rack) continuously measured CO₂, carbon monoxide (CO), oxygen (O₂), and NO_x concentrations. NO_x results were calculated and are further presented as NO₂ equivalents. The CO₂ concentration was also measured in the dilution tunnel with a CO₂ analyzer (ABB AO2040, Uras 14) to continuously calculate and control the dilution ratio (DR).³

2.3. Particle Measurements and Analyses. Particle measurements were made in the dilution tunnel. DR varied between 101 and 124, except in Sec₂, where DR needed to be increased (DR 1220) to prevent the online particle measurement devices from exceeding the measurement range. The variation in DRs was small within each experimental period (Table 2). Particle concentrations were corrected by multiplying the results by the DR. All of the emission results were calculated in relation to the fuel energy input to the burning process.²²

Particle number size distributions were measured with an electrical low-pressure impactor (ELPI, Dekati Ltd.) and a fast mobility particle

1	,	,,					
	L ₂₅	L _{12.5}	L ₇	Prim ₁	Prim ₂	Sec1	Sec ₂
$T_{\text{flue 1}} (^{\circ}\text{C})$	154 ± 1.4	84 ± 1.5	75 ± 0.6	127 ± 1.0	110 ± 1.1	139 ± 2.0	117 ± 0.7
$T_{\rm flue \ 2}$ (°C)	99 ± 1.0	51 ± 0.7	46 ± 0.3	79 ± 0.8	69 ± 0.6	89 ± 1.5	74 ± 0.4
T_{sample} (°C)	30 ± 0.7	29 ± 0.8	30 ± 0.1	29 ± 0.4	31 ± 0.3	30 ± 1.0	28 ± 0.3
dilution ratio	124 ± 6	103 ± 7	102 ± 7	119 ± 3	118 ± 5	120 ± 5	1220 ± 84
primary air flow (lpm)	176 ± 9	84 ± 9	49 ± 23	50 ± 7	15 ± 9	183 ± 7	183 ± 7
secondary air flow (lpm)	302 ± 15	129 ± 15	90 ± 11	320 ± 29	315 ± 21	250 ± 12	202 ± 7
total air flow (lpm)	478	214	139	371	331	434	385

Table 2. Flue Gas Temperatures, Dilution Ratios, and Combustion Air Flows^a

 $^{a}T_{flue 1}$ was measured in the flue gas where the flue gases entered the stack. $T_{flue 2}$ was measured at the point where the sample was taken to the dilution tunnel. T_{Sample} was measured at the point where the sample was taken from the dilution tunnel. The values from continuous measurements are average values with standard deviations.

Table 3. G	aseous and P	article Emission	Factors and	Fine-Particle	Characteristics ^{<i>a</i>}
------------	--------------	------------------	-------------	---------------	-------------------------------------

	L ₂₅	L _{12.5}	L_7	Prim ₁	Prim ₂	Sec1	Sec ₂
СО	63 ± 56	132 ± 113	178 ± 102	13.6 ± 11	3.55 ± 7.06	213 ± 189	335 ± 292
NO _x	81 ± 3.8	76 ± 6.4	79 ± 6.8	76 ± 2.4	83 ± 3.4	75 ± 2.8	73 ± 2.9
O ₂ (%)	9.8 ± 0.8	13.3 ± 1.0	14.7 ± 0.8	10.1 ± 0.5	10.4 ± 0.6	9.5 ± 0.7	10.1 ± 0.9
λ_{Tot}	1.93 ± 0.30	2.69 ± 0.34	3.41 ± 0.44	1.95 ± 0.09	1.99 ± 0.12	1.84 ± 0.12	1.95 ± 0.17
λ_{Prim}	0.71	1.06	1.20	0.27	0.09	0.78	0.93
λ_{Sec}	1.22	1.63	2.21	1.68	1.90	1.06	1.02
$\lambda_{\rm Prim}/\lambda_{\rm Sec}$	0.58	0.65	0.54	0.16	0.05	0.73	0.91
$load^b$	25	11.2	7.3	19.4	17.3	22.7	20.1
PM_1	12.2 ± 1.0	15.3 ± 1.1	16.3 ± 0.9	5.9 ± 0.4	3.0 ± 0.7	16.1 ± 1.2	29.0 ± 1.8
OC	0.28 ± 0.46	1.37 ± 1.75	0.46 ± 0.52	0.53 ± 0.26	0.09 ± 0.14	1.35 ± 1.34	3.06 ± 1.85
EC	0.75 ± 0.21	7.84 ± 0.26	8.27 ± 0.53	0.55 ± 1.78	0.00 ± 0.01	4.97 ± 0.47	14.0 ± 1.60
CO ₃	0.42 ± 0.51	0.75 ± 0.65	0.57 ± 0.52	0.38 ± 0.66	0.26 ± 0.44	1.22 ± 0.41	5.64 ± 5.60
Ca	0.33	0.27	0.37	0.28	0.42	0.32	2.87
K	2.76	2.34	2.19	1.83	1.27	3.22	5.24
Na	0.11	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.19	0.86
Zn	0.14	0.16	0.16	0.14	0.15	0.13	0.25
Fe	0.22	0.19	0.31	0.23	0.19	0.13	0.12
SO ₄	2.22	1.88	1.88	1.56	0.65	1.99	2.21
others analyzed	0.72	0.23	0.28	0.21	0.29	0.20	1.28
release fraction							
from fuel to PM ₁							
K (%)	12.4	10.5	9.9	8.2	5.7	14.5	23.6
Zn (%)	38.3	42.4	43.4	38.3	40.3	35.0	67.7
number emissions,	$1.56\times10^{13}\pm$	$1.38\times10^{13}~\pm$	$1.20\times10^{13}~\pm$	$2.22\times10^{13}~\pm$	$1.23\times10^{13}\pm$	$2.88\times10^{13}\pm$	$3.82\times10^{13}~\pm$
ELPI	3.01×10^{12}	7.96×10^{12}	4.47×10^{12}	$2.53 imes 10^{12}$	$2.11 imes 10^{12}$	1.44×10^{13}	2.23×10^{13}
FMPS ^c	$3.01\times10^{13}\pm$			$2.05\times10^{13}~\pm$	$1.53\times10^{13}\pm$	$2.94\times10^{13}~\pm$	
	3.08×10^{12}			$1.81 imes 10^{12}$	$1.56 imes 10^{12}$	$4.94 imes 10^{12}$	
GMD, ELPI (FMPS ^c)	68.5 (46.6)	79.6	82.6	58.7 (49.8)	53.7 (41.3)	70.7 (61.9)	77.9
MMD, DLPI	124	181	336	101	136	132	158

 a CO, NO₃₂ PM₁, EC, OC, CO₃, Ca, K, Na, Zn, Fe, SO₄, others analyzed, in units of mg MJ⁻¹; number emissions, in units of number MJ⁻¹; and GMD and MMD, in units of nm. The chemical composition was analyzed from one filter sample only, whereas the other compositions (OC/EC and mass) were analyzed from three samples. The values from continuous measurements are average values with standard deviations. Other analyzed chemical species have been presented in more detail in the Supporting Information. b Load is an estimation, except L₂₅. It is calculated from nominal load and total combustion air flows. c Because of some operational problems with FMPS, the results are only presented for N₂₅, Prim₁, Prim₂, and Sec₁.

sizer spectrometer (FMPS, model 3091, TSI, Inc.). The ELPI was operated with a flow rate of 10 lpm and cutoff diameters from 24 nm to 9.38 μ m with sintered impaction plates. FMPS uses a flow rate of 10 lpm and measures particles in the range from 5.6 to 560 nm. Particle mass size distributions were measured with a 13-stage Dekati low-pressure impactor (DLPI, Dekati Ltd.) with a flow rate of 10 lpm and cutoff diameters from 28 nm to 9.84 μ m. Aluminum foils, greased with a mixture of toluene and Apiezon-L vacuum grease (M and I Materials Ltd.), were used on the impactor stages in the DLPI. Two parallel filter collections were made. For the first filter collection system, a polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) filter (Pall Corporation, P/N R2PJO47) was placed on a stainless-steel filter holder (Gelman Sciences 2220) and particles larger than 1 μ m were removed with a pre-cutoff impactor (Dekati Ltd.). For the second filter collection system, identical pre-cutoff

impactor and filter holders were used with a set of three quartz filters (Pallflex, Tissuequartz) and one PTFE filter (see Figure 1). Elemental carbon (EC), organic carbon (OC), and carbonate carbon (CO₃) were analyzed from the quartz filter samples with a thermal-optical method²³ using an OCEC carbon aerosol analyzer from Sun Laboratories, Inc. (model 4 L). The analyses were performed according to the National Institute for Occupational Health procedure.²⁴ A detailed description of the method has been presented elsewhere.^{9,25} All of the filters and impactor foils were weighed before and after the collection at a stable room temperature of 20 °C and a relative humidity of 40%. Filters were kept in the weighing room for at least 24 h before weighing for them to stabilize. Weighing was performed with a microbalance with 1 μ g sensitivity (Mettler Toledo, MT5) and a charge eliminator (Staticmaster, Po-210). The elemental analyses (Ag, Al, As, B, Ba, Be, Bi, Ca, Cd, Co, Cr, Cu, Fe, K, Li, Mg, Mn, Mo, Na, Ni, Pb, Rb, Sb, Se, Th, Ti, Tl, U, V, and Zn) were performed by inductively coupled mass spectrometry (ICP-MS; hydrofluoric acid and nitric acid dissolution). Anions (Br, Cl, F, SO₄, and NO₃) were analyzed by ion chromatography (IC; water dissolution).

3. RESULTS

Flue gas temperatures that were measured after the flue gas entered the stack ($T_{\rm flue 1}$) varied between 75 °C (L_7) and 154 °C (L_{25}) (Table 2). The variation within each experiment was small, which indicates that the combustion process was stable during the experiments. No significant changes in the diluted sample temperatures ($T_{\rm sample}$) measured in the dilution tunnel were observed, with temperatures varying by just 3 °C between the different experiments.

The highest O₂ concentrations were seen with partial loads (Table 3), while the reduction of primary and secondary air did not have any major effect on flue gas O₂ concentrations. Total air/fuel ratios (λ_{Tot}) were calculated from O₂ concentrations according to Finnish Standards Association (SFS) standard 5624.²² In addition, air/fuel ratios were calculated for primary and secondary combustion zones (λ_{Prim} and λ_{Sec}) based on the measured primary and secondary air flows and λ_{Tot} . λ_{Prim} is defined as the air/fuel ratio calculated on the basis of the combustion air supply through the grate, while λ_{Sec} is the air/fuel ratio calculated on the basis of the secondary nozzles above the grate. The lowest λ_{Tot} was measured from L₇ (3.41). λ_{Prim} varied between 0.09 (Prim₂) and 1.20 (L₇), and λ_{Sec} varied between 1.02 (Sec₂) and 2.21 (L₇) (Table 3).

Combustion air flows were measured continuously in each experiment. Primary combustion air supply varied between 15 lpm (Prim₂) and 183 lpm (Sec₁ and Sec₂) (Table 2). Secondary combustion air supply varied between 90 lpm (L_7) and 320 lpm (Prim₁). The results in Table 2 show that, when the primary air supply was reduced, the secondary air supply automatically increased slightly (13–18 lpm). The reverse was also true with reduction in the secondary air supply, leading to an increase in the primary air supply of about 7 lpm.

3.1. Gaseous Emissions. The emissions of gaseous compounds, CO and NO₂₀ are presented in Table 3. The CO emissions were clearly affected by the different operational changes between each experiment. On full load (L_{25}), the CO emission was 64 mg/MJ, and by comparison, it increased 2-fold on half load ($L_{12.5}$) and 2.7-fold on load (L_7). The CO emissions from Prim₁ and Prim₂ were only 21 and 5.6% that of L_{25} , respectively. The reduction of secondary air increased CO emissions 3.4- and 5.3-fold in Sec₁ and Sec₂, respectively. CO



Figure 3. Number-size distributions, measured with ELPI.



Figure 4. Mass size distributions, measured with DLPI.

emissions also varied significantly within each experiment. No clear variation in NO_x emissions between the different experiments was observed (Table 3). The highest NO_x emissions were measured in $Prim_2$ (83 mg/MJ), and the lowest NO_x emissions were measured in Sec₁ (73 mg/MJ).

3.2. Particle Number Emissions and Number Size Distribution. The particle number emissions measured with ELPI varied between 1.20×10^{13} number MJ^{-1} from L_7 and 3.82×10^{13} number MJ^{-1} from Sec₂ (Table 3). The variations in particle number emissions were generally low within each experimental period, but it was clear that the variations in number emissions increased when the amount of secondary air was reduced in Sec₁ and Sec₂. In comparison to particle number emissions by L_{25} , there was slight decreases in $L_{12.5}$, L_7 , and Prim₂ and clear increases in Prim₁, Sec₁, and Sec₂.

The particle geometric mean diameters (GMDs) presented in Table 3 increased when partial loads were used ($L_{12.5}$ and L_7) or secondary air supply was reduced (Sec₁ and Sec₂). However, GMD decreased when primary air supply was reduced (Prim₁ and Prim₂). The smallest GMD was measured from Prim₂ (53.7 nm), and the largest GMD was measured from L_7 (82.6 nm). The L_{25} GMD was 68.5 nm. Unimodal number distributions were seen in all experiments. Because of the low accuracy of ELPI for measuring small particles, the differences in particle sizes are not clearly visible (Figure 3). However, Prim₂ clearly has the smallest GMD, and the differences in number emissions can be clearly observed.

3.3. Particle Mass Emissions and Mass Size Distribution. PM_1 emission was 12.2 mg/MJ at L_{25} (Table 3). In comparison to L_{25} , PM_1 emissions increased slightly when partial loads



Figure 5. NO_{*x*} and CO emissions as a function of $\lambda_{Pri}/\lambda_{Sec}$.



Figure 6. PM₁, EC, and K emissions as a function of $\lambda_{Pri}/\lambda_{Sec}$.

(15.3 mg/MJ from $L_{12.5}$ and 16.3 mg/MJ from L_7) were used and when secondary air supply was reduced (16.1 mg/MJ from Sec₁ and 29.0 mg/MJ from Sec₂). Similar to CO emissions, PM₁ emissions decreased when the primary air supply (5.9 mg/MJ from Prim₁ and 3.0 mg/MJ from Prim₂) was reduced.

Mass mean diameters (MMDs) were calculated from the DLPI results (Table 3). The smallest MMD was measured from Prim₂ (101 nm), and the largest MMD was measured from L_7 (336 nm). The differences in mass size distributions between each experiment are clearly distinguishable in Figure 4. Figure 4 also shows a possible second mode in Sec₂.

3.4. Particle Chemical Composition. The chemical compositions of the particle samples in all of the experiments were mainly composed of EC, K, and SO₄ (Table 3). A higher amount of OC was only detected from Sec₂. The emissions of EC increased significantly when partial loads were used in comparison to the emission factors from the full load (Table 3). The increase in EC emissions from L_{25} to $L_{12.5}$ and L_7 was 10.4- and 11-fold, respectively. The reduction of the secondary air supply also affected the EC emissions with 6.6- and 18.6-fold increases above L_{25} from Sec₁ and Sec₂, respectively. Reduction of the primary air supply decreased the EC emissions of Prim₁ to a level 30% below that of L_{25} . In Prim₂, the EC emissions were practically non-existent (under the detection limit).

The variations in OC emissions were much smaller than those of EC. However, a similar trend can also be seen for OC; partial loads and reduced secondary air supply increased the OC emissions, but reduced primary air supply decreased the OC emissions.



Figure 7. PM₁, K, and SO₄ emissions as a function of λ_{Pri} .



Figure 8. PM₁, K, and SO₄ emissions as a function of λ_{Sec} .

The proportions of K and Zn in fuel that were released as fine particles, calculated on the basis of the fuel chemical composition, varied between 5.7-24 and 35-68%, respectively (Table 3). The K release as fine particles decreased for Prim₁ and Prim₂ and increased for Sec₁ and Sec₂. In comparison to L₂₅, the K released from partial loads was slightly decreased. The Zn release as fine particles varied less and was only clearly different for Sec₂.

3.5. Correlations between Operational Settings and Emissions. Connections between operational settings and emission characteristics were checked by linear correlations. Correlations between operational settings, such as primary air flow, secondary air flow, total air/fuel ratio, primary air/fuel ratio, and secondary air/fuel ratio, and characteristics of gaseous and particle emissions were tested. Selected correlations are presented in Figures 5-9. It was found that some settings and emissions correlated with all 7 data points, while others correlated with only 5 data points when the partial load experiments were excluded from the tests. However, the test was performed with 5 data points too because the combustion conditions in partial load experiments differed significantly from the other experiments, for example, by a higher air/ fuel ratio. Some factors, such as OC and EC were also found to correlate linearly with primary air flow and secondary air flow but with only 3 data points (for example, in L₂₅, Prim₁, and Prim₂). These correlations may be realistic, but with such a limited number of data points, they will not be further discussed.

The primary air/fuel ratio, λ_{Prim} , was found to correlate linearly with GMD (7 measurement points) (Figure 7) and with



Figure 9. Secondary air flows and λ_{Pri} as a function of GMD.

K and SO₄ emissions and the release of K as fine particles (5 measurement points, with partial load results excluded). The reduction of secondary air/fuel ratio, λ_{Secr} seemed to increase K and SO₄ emissions and the release of K and Zn as fine particles when partial load experiments were excluded from the test (5 measurement points; Figure 8). The secondary combustion air flows correlated linearly with GMD (7 measurement points), K emissions and the release of K to fine particles (5 measurements points, with partial load results excluded). The $\lambda_{Prim}/\lambda_{Sec}$ ratio was found to correlate linearly with CO, PM₁, K, EC, and SO₄ emissions (7 measurement points) (Figures 5 and 6).

4. DISCUSSION

The benefits of the new automated boilers over the old type of boilers are that the load can be adjusted flexibly according to the heat requirement and, thus, there is less need to shut down and start up, which has lowered emissions, together with improved combustion technology. In this study, emission factors for all experimental settings were low compared to the old type of pellet boiler/burners and batch combustion appliances, such as masonry heaters and stoves,^{4,5,21} and at a similar level to modern pellet boilers.^{4,10,12}

4.1. Effect of Partial Load. It has previously been reported that the emissions from a pellet boiler increase with continuous combustion at partial loads.^{5,10} In this study, PM_1 emission factors increased slightly but the CO and EC emission factors increased more significantly. Air/fuel ratios were significantly higher at partial-load conditions than at full-load conditions. The air distribution also changed; a larger amount of air was inserted as primary air with partial loads. A change in air distribution can affect mixing in the primary and secondary combustion zones or change the residence time and temperatures inside the furnace. A lower temperature because of a higher air/fuel ratio can decrease the oxidation rate of $\rm CO,^{26}$ and a higher air/fuel ratio and air supply through the fuel bed has been reported to increase the emissions from pellet combustion.¹⁶ It is also possible that the secondary air, which is inserted through 12 15 mm diameter holes, lost its capability to penetrate the furnace when the secondary air supply decreased, because it is known that the penetration capability weakens when the air is distributed to the furnace walls through too many inlets around the furnace.²⁷

4.2. Effect of Primary Air Reduction. The amount of primary air is known to affect the temperature in the fuel bed and the release of ash particles; the reduction of primary air has been found to decrease the temperature in the primary combustion zone and lead to reduced volatilization of alkali metals in the fuel bed,^{8,16} whereas too large of air flow through the fuel bed has been found to increase the temperature in the fuel bed and to increase fine-particle emissions.¹⁶ Furthermore, primary air affects the composition of the product gas formed in the primary combustion zone. This also affects the combustion behavior in the secondary combustion zone. If the energy content of the product gas from primary combustion is too low, the secondary combustion may not be efficient enough.

Reduction of the primary air supply generally had a positive effect on emission factors; emissions of PM1 and CO decreased significantly (Table 3), as well as the emissions of K and SO₄ and the release of K as fine particles (Figure 7). The release behavior of K and other inorganic species may be affected by several factors. First, a very low primary air supply is likely to create a local environment similar to a gasification combustion process, where the fuel is first gasified and the combustion of the gasified fuel occurs mainly in the secondary combustion zone, which is likely to result in lower fuel bed temperatures.²⁵ Second, a decrease in primary air produces more reducing conditions, which may also affect the release behavior of inorganic elements. In addition, a low primary air supply and consequent high secondary air supply increases secondary air jet velocities, which enhances mixing in the secondary combustion zone and can be seen in very small emissions of unburnt gases and particles in Prim₁ and Prim₂.

 $\lambda_{\rm Prim}$ was 0.71 in L₂₅ and dropped to 0.27 (Prim₁) and 0.09 (Prim₂) (Table 3). Because the $\lambda_{\rm Prim}$ was very low for Prim₁ and Prim₂ (0.09, equaling 4.5% of the total air flow), it is very likely that some secondary air also acted as primary air because of the possible back-mixing of secondary jets downward in the combustion chamber. In addition, the primary air factors were much lower than what is suggested to be an optimal primary air/fuel ratio from the point of view of efficiency and emissions.²⁸ It must be pointed out that, in this appliance, with a top-feed fuel input, a false air through the fuel input channel would end up in the secondary combustion zone rather than in the primary combustion zone. We could not continuously measure the load of the appliance, but estimation by means of total air flow predicts that the load on Prim₁ was about 19 kW and about 17 kW on Prim₂.

4.3. Effect of Secondary Air Reduction. The reduction of the secondary air supply was found to have generally negative effects on emissions: PM_1 , alkali metals, and products of incomplete combustion. It is well-known that secondary air has a critical role in reducing emissions from biomass combustion. The staging of combustion air in primary and secondary zones has been found to have a major effect on emission formation during pellet combustion^{16,19} by oxidizing the product of incomplete combustion in the secondary combustion zone. It has also been reported in batch combustion appliances, where CO emissions have been reduced by a factor of 2 or more^{4,21} when a secondary air supply has been applied.

The effect of the secondary air supply on emission formation can be highlighted by comparing L_{25} to Sec₁ and Sec₂, where the primary air supply was constant during these tests but the secondary air supply changed. However, λ_{Prim} and λ_{Sec} changed because of the different air distribution and constant λ_{Tot} (Table 3). While the emissions from incomplete combustion were low in L_{25} , the emissions increased significantly on Sec₁ and Sec₂. The secondary air reduction particularly increased EC, OC, and CO emissions, but K and particle number emissions were also increased (Table 3). In these experiments, it seems probable that the secondary air supply also enhanced the fuel combustion rate because of the relatively small furnace, and thus, the decrease of secondary air flow simultaneously increased the λ_{Prim} because of the lower fuel combustion rate (Table 3). The increase of λ_{Prim} could have affected the formation of K particles in the fuel bed, leading to larger K emissions from Sec₁ and Sec₂ compared to L₂₅. Estimation by means of total air flow predicts that the loads of Sec₁ and Sec₂ were about 23 and 20 kW, respectively. Sec₁ emissions were similar to those of L_{12.5} and L₇, but combustion conditions deteriorated from Sec₁ to Sec₂. OC emissions of Sec₂ can be affected by the DR, which was much higher than for the other experiments (Table 2). DR is known to affect the OC concentration, which contributes 10% of the total PM₁ emission from Sec₂.²⁹

Sec₂ with the highest λ_{Prim} was practically the only experimental setting where particles over 1 μ m were seen in mass size distributions. However, the lack of particles over 1 μ m could have been generally affected by the appliance type over all test runs; most of the coarse particles in other experiments could have been stuck to the heat exchanger walls.

As already discussed for lower loads, the mixing and penetration of secondary air in the furnace can have a great impact on emission formation. Even though the secondary combustion air flows are much higher than for partial loads, it is possible that the inefficient mixing/penetration negatively affected the emission formation and the amount of oxygen and decreased the combustion temperature in the secondary combustion zone, which is indicated by the flue gas temperatures (Table 2).

4.4. Correlations between Air/Fuel Ratios and Emission Characteristics. The correlations between operational characteristics and emissions confirm that the air staging significantly affects the different emission properties in small-scale pellet combustion. λ_{Prim} and λ_{Sec} seem to affect emission properties, including both the formation of products of incomplete combustion and the emissions of alkali metal compounds. The strong correlations between $\lambda_{Prim}/\lambda_{Sec}$ and emissions indicate that the relation of primary and secondary air seems to be the most important factor affecting the different emission factors, and thus, it could be an important factor in emission control (Figures 5 and 6). It must be pointed out that these correlations also apply to partial-load conditions, whereas many other correlations found in this study correlated mostly when partial-load experiments were excluded from the test.

As mentioned earlier, the secondary air supply and λ_{Prim} seem to correlate with GMD (Figure 9). There might be different phenomena affecting the particle size. First, it seems that a higher particle concentration favored the increase of GMD by coagulation and agglomeration (Sec₁ and Sec₂). Coagulation and agglomeration can also be favored by longer residence times as was the case with partial loads (L_{12.5} and L₇) with lower combustion air flows but with lower number emissions. Finally, it has been suggested that alkali metal particles are smaller than those of soot particles.¹³ A low secondary combustion air supply seems to favor emissions with a higher level of EC (Table 3), whereas with high secondary combustion air, PM₁ was mainly composed of alkali metals (Prim₁ and Prim₂).

5. CONCLUSION

Particle and gaseous emission factors were found to vary according to load and air staging in the modern small-scale pellet boiler. However, the emissions were also relatively low in less optimal conditions when compared to other types of wood combustion appliances. PM_1 emissions were mainly composed of K and SO₄, and most of the increase that was seen in PM_1 emission factors between the different experiments was caused by an increase in EC emissions. At full load (L_{2S}) and with a reduced primary air supply ($Prim_1$ and $Prim_2$), the PM_1 was mainly composed of ash particles.

Air staging was found to affect the emission formation in all of the experimental situations. Under partial-load conditions, the air/fuel ratio increased, air distribution changed, and more combustion air was led in through the primary air supply. This led to a slight increase in PM_1 emissions but to a more significant increase in CO emissions. Air staging on partial loads was nonetheless not optimal, and the emissions could be reduced by further optimization of air staging and furnace design.

Primary air reduction was found to decrease emission factors. PM₁ emissions decreased from 12.2 mg/MJ (L_{25}) to 5.9 mg/MJ (Prim₁) and 3.0 mg/MJ (Prim₂), and the emissions of EC and CO also decreased. The lowest emissions of K and SO₄ were found with reduced primary air supplies.

Sufficient input of secondary air together with good mixing is important to cut down the emissions. The reduction of secondary air led to increased emissions of unburnt gases and particles and a larger particle size.

The $\lambda_{Prim}/\lambda_{Sec}$ ratio was found to correlate with the emission factors of K, EC, PM₁, and CO, as well as with the release of K to fine particles. The $\lambda_{Prim}/\lambda_{Sec}$ ratio was found to affect not only the formation and oxidation of products from incomplete combustion but also the release of alkali metals. λ_{Prim} and λ_{Sec} were also found to correlate with the release of K to fine particles but not as well as the $\lambda_{Prim}/\lambda_{Sec}$ ratio. It can be concluded that, in this study, the $\lambda_{Prim}/\lambda_{Sec}$ ratio seems to be the most important operational factor affecting emissions from small-scale pellet combustion in different air-staging and load conditions.

According to the results obtained in this study, there are possibilities to further improve the combustion process by optimization of air staging to decrease emissions, particularly for partial loads but also under full-load conditions. In modern pellet boilers, where practically all of the PM₁ consists of ash particles, the reduction of the temperature in the fuel bed with optimizing primary air input seems to be the most promising method for primary emission reduction.

ASSOCIATED CONTENT

Supporting Information. Emission factors for the ashforming content and content of individual metals (μ g MJ⁻¹) of emitted PM₁. This material is available free of charge via the Internet at http://pubs.acs.org.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

*Telephone: +358403553285. Fax: +35817163098. E-mail: heikki.lamberg@uef.fi.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The authors thank Pentti Willman from the University of Eastern Finland for carbon analyses. This work was supported in part by the Finnish Funding Agency for Technology and Innovation (Grant 40296/07) and the strategic funding of the

Energy & Fuels

University of Eastern Finland for Project Sustainable Bioenergy, Climate Change, and Health.

REFERENCES

(1) European Union. Directive 2009/28/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 April 2009 on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources and amending and subsequently repealing Directives 2001/77/EC and 2003/30/EC. Off. J. Eur. Union 2009, 140, 16–61.

(2) McDonald, J. D.; Zielinska, B.; Fujita, E. M.; Sagebiel, J. C.; Chow, J. C.; Watson, J. G. Fine particle and gaseous emission rates from residential wood combustion. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2000**, 34, 2080–2091.

(3) Tissari, J.; Hytönen, K.; Lyyränen, J.; Jokiniemi, J. A novel field measurement method for determining fine particle and gas emissions from residential wood combustion. *Atmos. Environ.* 2007, 41, 8330–8344.

(4) Lamberg, H.; Nuutinen, K.; Tissari, J.; Ruusunen, J.; Yli-Pirilä, P.; Sippula, O.; Tapanainen, M.; Jalava, P.; Makkonen, U.; Teinilä, K.; Saarnio, K.; Hillamo, R.; Hirvonen, M.-R.; Jokiniemi, J. Physicochemical characterization of fine particles from small-scale wood combustion. *Atmos. Environ.* 2011, DOI: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2011.02.072.

(5) Johansson, L. S.; Leckner, B.; Gustavsson, L.; Cooper, D.; Tullin, C.; Potter, A. Emission characteristics of modern and old-type residential boilers fired with wood logs and wood pellets. *Atmos. Environ.* 2004, 38, 4183–4195.

(6) Pope, C. A., III; Dockery, D. W. Health effects of fine particulate air pollution: Lines that connect. J. Air Waste Manage. 2006, 56, 709–742.

(7) Grieshop, A. P.; Logue, J. M.; Donahue, N. M.; Robinson, A. L. Laboratory investigation of photochemical oxidation of organic aerosol from wood fires 1: Measurement and simulation of organic aerosol evolution. *Atmos. Chem. Phys.* **2009**, *9*, 1263–1277.

(8) Nussbaumer, T. Combustion and co-combustion of biomass: Fundamentals, technologies, and primary measures for emission reduction. *Energy Fuels* **2003**, *17*, 1510–1521.

(9) Sippula, O.; Hytönen, K.; Tissari, J.; Raunemaa, T.; Jokiniemi, J. Effect of wood fuel on the emissions from a top-feed pellet stove. *Energy Fuels* 2007, 21, 1151–1160.

(10) Tissari, J.; Sippula, O.; Koukio, J.; Vuorio, K.; Jokiniemi, J. Fine particle and gas emissions from the combustion of agricultural fuels fired in a 20 kW burner. *Energy Fuels* **2008**, *22*, 2033–2042.

(11) Kjällstrand, J.; Olsson, M. Chimney emissions from small-scale burning of pellets and fuelwood—Examples referring to differents combustion appliances. *Biomass Bioenergy* **2004**, *27*, 557–561.

(12) Boman, C.; Petterson, E.; Westerholm, R.; Boström, D.; Nordin, A. Stove performance and emission characteristics in residential wood log and pellet combustion, part 1: Pellet stoves. *Energy Fuels* 2011, 25, 307–314.

(13) Tissari, J.; Lyyränen, J.; Hytönen, K.; Sippula, O.; Tapper, U.; Frey, A.; Saarnio, K.; Pennanen, A. S.; Hillamo, R.; Salonen, R. O.; Hirvonen, M.-R.; Jokiniemi, J. Fine particle and gaseous emissions from normal and smouldering wood combustion in a conventional masonry heater. Atmos. Environ. 2008, 42, 7862–7873.

(14) Wiinikka, H.; Gebart, R.; Boman, C.; Boström, D.; Öhman, M. Influence of fuel ash composition on high temperature aerosol formation in fixed bed combustion of woody biomass pellets. *Fuel* 2007, *86*, 181–193.

(15) Jokiniemi, J. K.; Lazaridis, M.; Lehtinen, K. E. J.; Kauppinen, E. I. Numerical-simulation of vapor aerosol dynamics in combustion processes. J. Aerosol Sci. **1994**, 25, 429–446.

(16) Wiinikka, H.; Gebart, R. The influence of air distribution rate on particle emissions in fixed bed combustion of biomass. *Combust. Sci. Technol.* **2005**, *177*, 1747–1766.

(17) Lyngfelt, A.; Leckner, B. Combustion of wood-chips in circulationg fluidized bed boilers—NO and CO emissions as functions of temperature and air-staging. *Fuel* **1999**, *78*, 1065–1072.

(18) Khan, A. A.; de Jong, W.; Jansens, P. J.; Spliethoff, H. Biomass combustion in fluidized bed boilers: Potential problems and remedies. *Fuel Process. Technol.* **2009**, *90*, 21–50. (19) Wiinikka, H.; Gebart, R. Experimental investigations of the influence from different operating conditions on the particle emissions from a small-scale pellets combustor. *Biomass Bioenergy* 2004, 27, 645–652.

(20) International Organization for Standardization (ISO). ISO 8178-1: Reciprocating Internal Combustion Engines-Exhaust Emission Measurement-Part 1: Test-Bed Measurement of Gaseous and Particulate Emissions, ISO: Geneva, Switzerland, 1996.

(21) Tissari, J.; Hytönen, K.; Sippula, O.; Jokiniemi, J. The effects of operating conditions on emissions from masonry heaters and sauna stoves. *Biomass Bioenergy* **2009**, *33*, 513–520.

(22) Finnish Standards Association (SFS). SFS 5624, Air Quality. Stationary Source Emissions. Determination of the Flue Gas Conditions; SFS: Helsinki, Finland, 1990.

(23) Turpin, B. J.; Saxena, P.; Andrews, E. Measuring and simulating particulate organics in the atmosphere: Problems and prospects. *Atmos. Environ.* **2000**, *34*, 2983–3013.

(24) National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH). NIOSH elemental carbon (diesel particulate) method 5040. In NIOSH Manual of Analytical Methods (NMAM), 4th ed.; NIOSH: Atlanta, GA, 1999.

(25) Sippula, O.; Hokkinen, J.; Puustinen, H.; Yli-Pirilä, P.; Jokiniemi, J. Particle emissions from small wood-fired district heating units. *Energy Fuels* 2009, 23, 2974–2982.

(26) Gungor, A. Simulation of emission performance and combustion efficiency in biomass fired circulating fluidized bed combustors. *Biomass Bioenergy* **2010**, *34*, 506–514.

(27) Koksal, M.; Hamdullahpur, F. Gas mixing in circulation fluidized beds with secondary air injection. *Chem. Eng. Res. Des.* 2004, 82, 979–992.

(28) Eskilsson, D.; Rönnbäck, M.; Samuelsson, J.; Tullin, C. Optimization of efficiency and emissions in pellet burners. *Biomass Bioenergy* 2004, 27, 541–546.

(29) Lipsky, E. M.; Robinson, A. L. Effects of dilution on fine particle mass and partitioning of semivolatile organics in diesel exhaust and wood smoke. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2006**, *40*, 155–162.

Emission factors for the ash-forming content and content of individual metals ($\mu g M J^{-1}$) of emitted PM_1 .

	Ag	Al	As	В	Ba	Be	Bi	Cd	Co	Cr	Cu	Li	Mg	Mn	Mo
L ₂₅	0.26	19.5	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>8.43</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.91</td><td>96.1</td><td>7.78</td><td>2.86</td><td>108</td><td>13.6</td><td>7.06</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>8.43</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.91</td><td>96.1</td><td>7.78</td><td>2.86</td><td>108</td><td>13.6</td><td>7.06</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>8.43</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.91</td><td>96.1</td><td>7.78</td><td>2.86</td><td>108</td><td>13.6</td><td>7.06</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>8.43</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.91</td><td>96.1</td><td>7.78</td><td>2.86</td><td>108</td><td>13.6</td><td>7.06</td></dl<></td></dl<>	8.43	<dl< td=""><td>0.91</td><td>96.1</td><td>7.78</td><td>2.86</td><td>108</td><td>13.6</td><td>7.06</td></dl<>	0.91	96.1	7.78	2.86	108	13.6	7.06
L _{12.5}	0.59	43.6	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>2.61</td><td><dl< td=""><td>14.0</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.48</td><td>46.0</td><td>21.6</td><td>2.38</td><td>19.7</td><td>8.43</td><td>4.28</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>2.61</td><td><dl< td=""><td>14.0</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.48</td><td>46.0</td><td>21.6</td><td>2.38</td><td>19.7</td><td>8.43</td><td>4.28</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	2.61	<dl< td=""><td>14.0</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.48</td><td>46.0</td><td>21.6</td><td>2.38</td><td>19.7</td><td>8.43</td><td>4.28</td></dl<></td></dl<>	14.0	<dl< td=""><td>0.48</td><td>46.0</td><td>21.6</td><td>2.38</td><td>19.7</td><td>8.43</td><td>4.28</td></dl<>	0.48	46.0	21.6	2.38	19.7	8.43	4.28
L ₇	0.74	61.1	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>17.8</td><td>0.59</td><td>0.59</td><td>63.2</td><td>29.0</td><td>2.22</td><td>19.7</td><td>9.04</td><td>6.37</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>17.8</td><td>0.59</td><td>0.59</td><td>63.2</td><td>29.0</td><td>2.22</td><td>19.7</td><td>9.04</td><td>6.37</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>17.8</td><td>0.59</td><td>0.59</td><td>63.2</td><td>29.0</td><td>2.22</td><td>19.7</td><td>9.04</td><td>6.37</td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>17.8</td><td>0.59</td><td>0.59</td><td>63.2</td><td>29.0</td><td>2.22</td><td>19.7</td><td>9.04</td><td>6.37</td></dl<>	17.8	0.59	0.59	63.2	29.0	2.22	19.7	9.04	6.37
Prim ₁	0.54	29.2	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>11.7</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.54</td><td>54.8</td><td>29.2</td><td>1.73</td><td>15.6</td><td>11.1</td><td>4.86</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>11.7</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.54</td><td>54.8</td><td>29.2</td><td>1.73</td><td>15.6</td><td>11.1</td><td>4.86</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>11.7</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.54</td><td>54.8</td><td>29.2</td><td>1.73</td><td>15.6</td><td>11.1</td><td>4.86</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>11.7</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.54</td><td>54.8</td><td>29.2</td><td>1.73</td><td>15.6</td><td>11.1</td><td>4.86</td></dl<></td></dl<>	11.7	<dl< td=""><td>0.54</td><td>54.8</td><td>29.2</td><td>1.73</td><td>15.6</td><td>11.1</td><td>4.86</td></dl<>	0.54	54.8	29.2	1.73	15.6	11.1	4.86
Prim ₂	0.51	41.7	1.02	<dl< td=""><td>1.12</td><td><dl< td=""><td>12.9</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.31</td><td>26.7</td><td>20.4</td><td>3.77</td><td>27.7</td><td>6.0</td><td>1.53</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	1.12	<dl< td=""><td>12.9</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.31</td><td>26.7</td><td>20.4</td><td>3.77</td><td>27.7</td><td>6.0</td><td>1.53</td></dl<></td></dl<>	12.9	<dl< td=""><td>0.31</td><td>26.7</td><td>20.4</td><td>3.77</td><td>27.7</td><td>6.0</td><td>1.53</td></dl<>	0.31	26.7	20.4	3.77	27.7	6.0	1.53
Sec ₁	0.57	42.2	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>1.13</td><td><dl< td=""><td>11.7</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.38</td><td>34.5</td><td>23.2</td><td>2.93</td><td>23.3</td><td>13.4</td><td>2.93</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>1.13</td><td><dl< td=""><td>11.7</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.38</td><td>34.5</td><td>23.2</td><td>2.93</td><td>23.3</td><td>13.4</td><td>2.93</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	1.13	<dl< td=""><td>11.7</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.38</td><td>34.5</td><td>23.2</td><td>2.93</td><td>23.3</td><td>13.4</td><td>2.93</td></dl<></td></dl<>	11.7	<dl< td=""><td>0.38</td><td>34.5</td><td>23.2</td><td>2.93</td><td>23.3</td><td>13.4</td><td>2.93</td></dl<>	0.38	34.5	23.2	2.93	23.3	13.4	2.93
Sec ₂	2.86	287	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>18.1</td><td><dl< td=""><td>11.4</td><td><dl< td=""><td>2.86</td><td>337</td><td>171</td><td><dl< td=""><td>88.8</td><td>34.4</td><td>22.9</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>18.1</td><td><dl< td=""><td>11.4</td><td><dl< td=""><td>2.86</td><td>337</td><td>171</td><td><dl< td=""><td>88.8</td><td>34.4</td><td>22.9</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	18.1	<dl< td=""><td>11.4</td><td><dl< td=""><td>2.86</td><td>337</td><td>171</td><td><dl< td=""><td>88.8</td><td>34.4</td><td>22.9</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	11.4	<dl< td=""><td>2.86</td><td>337</td><td>171</td><td><dl< td=""><td>88.8</td><td>34.4</td><td>22.9</td></dl<></td></dl<>	2.86	337	171	<dl< td=""><td>88.8</td><td>34.4</td><td>22.9</td></dl<>	88.8	34.4	22.9
	Ni	Pb	Rb	Sb	Se	Sr	Th	Ti	Tl	U	V	Br	Cl	F	NO ₃
L ₂₅	62.8	1.82	14.4	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>8.17</td><td>0.13</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>372</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>8.17</td><td>0.13</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>372</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>8.17</td><td>0.13</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>372</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>8.17</td><td>0.13</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>372</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	8.17	0.13	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>372</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>372</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>372</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>372</td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>372</td></dl<>	372
L _{12.5}	28.7	12.4	13.4	0.36	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>8.67</td><td>0.12</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>8.67</td><td>0.12</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>8.67</td><td>0.12</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	8.67	0.12	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""></dl<>
L ₇	42.8	6.67	12.9	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>7.56</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>7.56</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>7.56</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>7.56</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	7.56	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""></dl<>
Prim ₁	32.0	5.19	9.72	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>8.32</td><td>0.11</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>8.32</td><td>0.11</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>8.32</td><td>0.11</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>8.32</td><td>0.11</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	8.32	0.11	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""></dl<>
Prim ₂	14.2	114	5.10	5.10	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>7.65</td><td>0.10</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>7.65</td><td>0.10</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>7.65</td><td>0.10</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	7.65	0.10	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""></dl<>
Sec ₁	20.9	4.53	16.7	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>5.19</td><td>0.09</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>5.19</td><td>0.09</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>5.19</td><td>0.09</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>5.19</td><td>0.09</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	5.19	0.09	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""></dl<>
Sec ₂	174.7	30.5	17.2	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>79.2</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>79.2</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>79.2</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>79.2</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	79.2	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""></dl<>

Paper II

Reprinted from Atmospheric Environment, 45, Heikki Lamberg, Kati Nuutinen, Jarkko Tissari, Jarno Ruusunen, Pasi Yli-Pirilä, Olli Sippula, Maija Tapanainen, Pasi Jalava, Ulla Makkonen, Kimmo Teinilä, Karri Saarnio, Risto Hillamo, Maija-Riitta Hirvonen, Jorma Jokiniemi, Physicochemical comparison of fine particles from small-scale wood combustion, 7635–7643, 2011, with permission from Elsevier. Atmospheric Environment 45 (2011) 7635-7643

ELSEVIER

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Atmospheric Environment



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/atmosenv

Physicochemical characterization of fine particles from small-scale wood combustion

Heikki Lamberg^{a,*}, Kati Nuutinen^a, Jarkko Tissari^a, Jarno Ruusunen^a, Pasi Yli-Pirilä^a, Olli Sippula^a, Maija Tapanainen^b, Pasi Jalava^b, Ulla Makkonen^c, Kimmo Teinilä^c, Karri Saarnio^c, Risto Hillamo^c, Maija-Riitta Hirvonen^b, Jorma Jokiniemi^{a,d}

^a Fine Particle and Aerosol Technology Laboratory, Department of Environmental Science, University of Eastern Finland, P.O. Box 1627, FI-70211 Kuopio, Finland ^b National Institute for Health and Welfare, Department of Environmental Health, P.O. Box 95, FI-70701 Kuopio, Finland ^c Finnish Meteorological Institute, Air Quality Research, P.O. Box 503, FI-00101 Helsinki, Finland

^d VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland, Fine Particles, P.O. Box 1000, FI-02044 VTT, Espoo, Finland

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 17 June 2010 Received in revised form 17 February 2011 Accepted 20 February 2011

Keywords: Wood combustion Emission Fine particles Particle characteristics

ABSTRACT

Emissions from small-scale wood combustion appliances are of special interest since fine particles have been consistently associated with adverse health effects. It has been reported that the physicochemical characteristics of the emitted particles affect also their toxic properties but the mechanisms behind these phenomena and the causative role of particles from wood combustion sources are still mostly unknown. Combustion situations vary significantly in small-scale appliances, especially in batch combustion. Combustion behaviour is affected by fuel properties, appliance type and operational practice. Particle samples were collected from six appliances representing different combustion situations in small-scale combustion. These appliances were five wood log fuelled stoves, including one stove equipped with modern combustion technology, three different conventional combustion appliances and one sauna stove. In addition, a modern small-scale pellet boiler represented advanced continuous combustion technology. The aim of the study was to analyze gas composition and fine particle properties over different combustion situations. Fine particle (PM1) emissions and their chemical constituents emerging from different combustion situations were compared and this physicochemical data was combined with the toxicological data on cellular responses induced by the same particles (see Tapanainen et al., 2011). There were significant differences in the particle emissions from different combustion situations. Overall, the efficient combustion in the pellet boiler produced the smallest emissions whereas inefficient batch combustion in a sauna stove created the largest emissions. Improved batch combustion with air-staging produced about 2.5-fold PM₁ emissions compared to the modern pellet boiler (50.7 mg M]⁻¹ and 19.7 mg M]⁻¹, respectively), but the difference in the total particulate PAH content was 750-fold (90 μ g MJ⁻¹ and 0.12 μ g MJ⁻¹, respectively). Improved batch combustion and conventional batch combustion showed almost the same PM_1 emissions (51.6 mg MJ⁻¹), but a 10-fold difference in total particulate PAH emissions (910 μ g MJ⁻¹). These results highlight that same PM1 emissions can be associated with very different chemical compositions, potentially leading to different toxic properties of the particles. Thus, changing from an old, less efficient, combustion appliance to a modern appliance can have a greater impact on toxic properties than the emitted PM1 mass might indicate.

© 2011 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Fine particles from small-scale biomass combustion are of special interest since they are consistently associated with adverse

health effects. Exposure to fine particles has been associated with different health effects, such as pulmonary and cardiovascular symptoms (Kappos et al., 2004; Pope et al., 2002). Small-scale combustion of wood has been claimed to be a major source of fine particle mass, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and some gaseous pollutants such as volatile organic compounds (VOC) (Hellén et al., 2008) and these emissions have been associated with adverse health effects (Straif et al., 2006; Naeher et al., 2007).

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +358 40 3553285; fax: +358 17 163098. *E-mail address*: heikki.lamberg@uef.fi (H. Lamberg).

^{1352-2310/\$ –} see front matter \odot 2011 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2011.02.072

The detrimental health effects, caused by particles are influenced by both the physical and chemical properties of the fine particles (Kocbach Bølling et al., 2009). These include particle-related size, surface area, chemical composition, solubility and structure.

In Finland, small-scale biomass combustion accounts for about 20% of all energy production (Mattila et al., 2003) and in 2000 it was estimated to be responsible for 25% of the total fine particle emissions (Karvosenoja et al., 2008). There are many different kinds of combustion appliances in households equipped with a wide range of different combustion technologies. Due to differences in combustion technology, usage and purpose of heating, combustion phases, and these can have a major impact on the emissions. For example, significant differences in particle emissions have been reported between conventional masonry heaters, modern masonry heaters and sauna stoves (Tissari et al., 2009).

Fine particles originated in small-scale wood combustion mainly consist of ash, elemental carbon and organic material (Tissari et al., 2008). Particle emissions are dominated by ash particles in good combustion, for example in pellet combustion. Ash particles are formed when ash species volatilize in the hot combustion chamber and form particles when the flue gas cools down. In small-scale combustion, the most common ash particles are alkali metals, such as K₂SO₄, KCl, K₂CO₃ and KOH (Sippula et al., 2007). Under poor combustion conditions, particles are mostly formed of elemental carbon and organic material (Tissari et al., 2008). In biomass combustion, incomplete combustion is invariably present regardless of the combustion conditions. Different kinds of hydrocarbons are also formed during incomplete combustion, including polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) that are known to be harmful to human health (Boström et al., 2002). Poor appliance design and different operational practices, e.g. poor quality of wood, overloading of the firebox or insufficient air supply may lead to incomplete combustion (Tissari et al., 2008).

Even though fine particles are a serious health concern, surprisingly little information is available about how different physicochemical properties of fine particles influence the toxicological responses. Since the health effects caused by poor air quality are the most important reasons to restrict and study fine particle emissions, it would be important to gather more information about formation of different particles in combustion processes when legislation is planned and improvements in technology introduced. It is also important to know how different particle properties emitted from different combustion situations are connected to their health-related properties.

In this study, fine particle and gaseous emissions from six different combustion appliances and combustion situations were studied. Five of these appliances were different batch combustion appliances, and one was a modern pellet boiler capable of continuous combustion. Batch combustion appliances represent both conventional and modern combustion technologies, and special combustion situations were selected for particle sampling. This selection was done to achieve a wide range of different combustion situations producing particles of different physicochemical properties. Since the combustion process is a complex phenomenon, and the temporary emissions are very difficult to define, the physicochemical characterizations were made over the specific combustion situations. Fine particle samples were collected so that they could be subjected to toxicological tests. The toxicological responses from the same particles are described by Tapanainen et al. (2011). The main focus was to investigate particles formed in different combustion situations under typical small-scale appliances, and to compare the findings to physicochemical properties and other particle properties.

2. Methods

2.1. Combustion appliances

Six different small-scale combustion appliances representing various combustion situations were studied. Five of these appliances were wood log fuelled combustion appliances, including one masonry heater equipped with modern combustion technology, three different conventional masonry heaters and one sauna stove. The modern small-scale pellet boiler represented modern continuous combustion technology. All of the combustion appliances, except for the pellet boiler, were typical small-scale appliances in use in Finland (Tissari, 2008).

The pellet boiler worked with a top-feed fuel input and had an integrated fixed grate burner and boiler. It was equipped with a lambda sensor and microprocessor controlled fans to provide combustion air. Pellet boiler represented efficient combustion (EFC). Three conventional masonry heaters represented conventional batch combustion (CBC). It is typical for the conventional masonry heaters that the inlet of combustion air, which draws in most of the combustion air may also enter via the door of the heater without any precise control. In cases of conventional masonry heater 1 (CBC1) and conventional masonry heaters 3 (CBC3), the appliances were relatively small masonry heater 2 (CBC2), the appliance was relatively large (approx. 3500 kg) made of brick stones.

In the case of improved batch combustion (IBC), the appliance was a modern masonry heater made of soapstone. A modern masonry heater differs from its conventional counterpart in its air input principle i.e. both primary and secondary air is led to combustion chamber. Primary air is led through the grate, whereas secondary air is led to the top part of the combustion chamber from the sides, resulting in staged combustion. This has been found to improve the burnout of combustible gases and particles when compared to the situation with a traditional masonry heater (Tissari et al., 2009). The sauna stove was a light metal made traditional Finnish design which had a very simple combustion technology, where heat is stored in the small stones situated lying on top of the stove. Sauna stove represented inefficient batch combustion (IEBC), since it has been found to produce large emissions of PM1, carbon monoxide (CO) and organic gaseous carbon (OGC) (Tissari et al., 2007, 2009). IBC/34, CBC2/F, CBC3/23 and IEBC/S include specific combustion situations that take place within the combustion cycles as they are described later in 2.4.

Gaseous and particle emissions from combustion appliances fluctuate significantly within combustion cycle according to combustion phases. This can be seen easily especially in batch combustion processes and they can be seen after every addition of the fuel. Combustion can be divided into three phases (Fig. 1). The firing phase (1) is defined as lasting from the ignition of the fire until the moment when the minimum O_2 is reached. The combustion phase (2) includes first a strong combustion which starts to die out as the amount of fuel decreases. The combustion phase is the period from the minimum O₂ concentration until a concentration of 14%. Burnout phase (3) is from that on (van Loo and Koppejan, 2008; Tissari, 2008). The variation over different combustion phases and combustion situations is highlighted in Fig. 1. However, in combustion appliances with continuous combustion, different combustion phases take place in the fuel laver, where combustion is stable and can be better controlled than in batch combustion appliances.

2.2. Appliance operation

Each of the combustion appliances was operated according to manufacturer's operation manual. In every combustion test, the



Fig. 1. Flue gas oxygen concentration, OGC emissions and CO emissions during combustion cycle in CBC3. Sampling periods, batch additions and combustion phases are presented. (1) Firing phase, (2) combustion phase and (3) burnout phase.

appliance was initially at room temperature and it was left to cool down after previous test. An ignition batch, described in Table 1, was set on the bottom of the appliance's fire chamber, and 200 g of wood stick and chippings were placed on top of wood logs as kindling. The batch was ignited from top with matches. The pellet boiler was operated with nominal output power 25 kW. The boiler was set on 3 h before test to ensure stability of the system and stable combustion conditions. Birch wood was used in all of the log fuelled appliances with varying sizes of log batches with commercial wood pellet being used in the pellet boiler. The primary pellet raw material was pine. The fuel properties are presented in Table 2.

2.3. Experimental setup

Combustion tests were performed in a laboratory environment at stable temperature conditions. The experimental setup is presented in Fig. 2. The flue gases were led through an externally insulated steel stack and led outside through a hood using a flue gas fan. Particle samples to the diluters were taken from the stack through an insulated and externally heated (150 °C) sample line.

Sampling train consisted of three parallel dilution systems. A porous tube diluter (PRD) and ejector diluter (ED, Dekati Ltd.) (Lyyränen et al., 2004) were used for the rapid dilution of the samples for filter collections and there was also a Dekati Low

Table 2				
Properties	of	the	fuels	used.

	Birch log	Pellet
Ash content (%)	0.4	0.3
Moisture (%)	10-13	8.1
NHV (MJ kg ⁻¹)	18.7	19.0
Al	0.32	0.76
Ca	313	892
Cr	0.07	< 0.5
Cl	n/a	10
Cu	1	1.37
Fe	<200	44.3
K	527	420
Mg	35	142
Mn	81	82
Na	11	180
Ni	0.19	0.33
Р	103	58
S	106	< 0.02
Zn	48	<1

The elemental analyses are presented as mg kg⁻¹ of dry fuel. The ash content is the mass percentage of dry fuel, and the moisture content is the mass percentage of wet fuel. NHV, net heating value; n/a, analysis result is not available.

Pressure Impactor (DLPI, Dekati Ltd.), which measured particle mass-size distribution. Aluminum foils, greased with a mixture of toluene and Apiezon-L vacuum grease (M & I Materials Ltd.) to prevent particle bouncing effect, were used in DLPI. PM1 filter samples were collected on 47 mm polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) membrane filters (Pall Corporation, P/N R2PIO47) and 47 mm quartz fibre filters (Pallflex, Tissuequartz). A pre-impactor (Dekati Ltd.) with a cut-of-diameter of 1 µm was used to remove any particles with an aerodynamic diameter larger than 1 µm (Tissari et al., 2008). Filters were placed on stainless steel filter holders (Gelman Sciences Inc., model 2220). Dekati Gravimetric Impactor (DGI, Dekati Ltd.) with a 70 lpm flow rate and a cut-off size from 0.2 um to 2.5 um with backup filter was used for collecting PM₁ samples for chemical and toxicological analyses in each combustion situation. The dilution was carried out using a porous tube diluter. The DGI setup was the same as that used by Ruusunen et al. (2009). PTFE stages and backup filter were used in DGI. Approximately 30 mg of PM₁ sample was collected during three repeated tests for toxicological and chemical analyses (anions, cations and PAHs). Sample preparation is described in more detail in Tapanainen et al. (2011).

Dilution rations in PRD + ED system and in PRD in DGI systems were kept approximately the same in each test run. This was done to assure similar conditions and the same particle properties in two different dilution systems (Lipsky and Robinson, 2006). More

Table 1

		, -FF			
		Description of situations	Combustion appliance	Collection time	Batch and fuel
EFC	Experiment 1, 4 tests	Efficient combustion	Pellet boiler	Continuous combustion, 2-3 h	Commercial wood pellet
IBC	Experiment 2, 3 tests	Improved batch combustion	Modern masonry heater	Cycle, 120 min	1. batch 10 $ imes$ 0.4 kg, other
IBC/34				3. and 4. batch, 50 min	batches 4×1 kg
CBC1	Experiment 3, 3 tests	Conventional batch combustion	Conventional masonry	Cycle, 55 min	1. batch 7 \times 0.23 kg, other
			heater 1		batches 5 \times 0.48 kg
CBC2	Experiment 4, 3 tests	Conventional batch combustion	Conventional masonry	Cycle, 140 min	1. batch 3 $ imes$ 1 kg, other
CBC2/F			heater 2	Firing phase, beginning of the	batches 3 \times 1.3 kg
				2. batch, 15 min	
CBC3	Experiment 5, 3 tests	Conventional batch combustion	Conventional masonry	Cycle, 65 min	1. batch 7 $ imes$ 0.43 kg, other
CBC3/23			heater 3	2. and 3. batches, 40 min	batches 4 \times 0.75 kg
IEBC	Experiment 6, 3 tests	Inefficient batch combustion	Sauna stove	Cycle, 55 min	1. batch 5 \times 0.31 kg,
IEBC/S				Ignition batch and 2. batch,	2. batch 6 \times 0.53 kg,
				20-35 min	
					3. batch 5 \times 0.64 kg

About 200 g of kindling were used in the ignition in every combustion test. EFC, IBC, CBC1, CBC2, CBC3, IEBC include cycle with batch additions and ignition phases, which also take place in normal operation. IBC/34, CBC2/F, CBC3/23 and IEBC/S include specific combustion situations that take place within the cycles.



Fig. 2. Schematic drawing of the experimental setup.

dilution was provided for ELPI, since it oversteps more easily its detection area. Dilution ratios were calculated by using CO2 concentration in the undiluted flue gas and in the diluted flue gas using the equation described by Sippula et al. (2009). Particle concentrations were dilution corrected by multiplying results with the dilution ratio. All of the emission results were calculated in relation to fuel energy input to the burning process (SFS 5624, 1990). The average dilution ratios calculated between 13.0 and 26.2 in PRD-DGI, between 13.9 and 25.5 in PRD + ED, and between 91 and 127 in the dilution tunnel (Table 3). A system of one PRD and two EDs was used in case of CBC2, because it was not possible to use a dilution tunnel due to the size and weight of the masonry heater. O₂ concentrations, presented in Table 3, varied between 8.1% with (IEBC) and 13.4% with (CBC1). Temperatures of the flue gas were measured continuously approximately 2 m after they entered into the chimney (Fig. 2). The lowest flue gas temperature was measured for CBC2/F, 90 °C and the highest flue gas temperature for IEBC, 450 °C. Diluted sample temperatures varied between 18 °C and 27 °C.

Particle number—size distributions were measured from dilution tunnel (ISO 8178-1, 1996) with Electrical Low Pressure Impactor (ELPI, Dekati Ltd.) with a flow rate of 10 lpm and a cut-off size from 24 nm to 9.38 μ m with sintered impaction plates. Gaseous emissions, carbon dioxide (CO₂), carbon monoxide (CO), organic gaseous carbon (OGC) and nitrogen oxides (NO_x) were analyzed from undiluted flue gas by gas analyzer system (ABB, Cemas Gas Analysing Rack). Gas emissions were also measured with a Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR, Gasmet Technologies Ltd.) gas analyzer. Carbon dioxide (CO₂ concentration was also measured continuously in diluted samples to calculate dilution ratios. CO₂ analyzers included three different CO₂ analyzers, one for the PRD-DGI system (ABB AO2040, Uras 14, ABB Automation GmbH), one in the dilution

lable S	Ta	bl	e	3
---------	----	----	---	---

Dilution ratios, sample temperatures, flue gas temperatures and O2 concentrations.

	O ₂ (%)	Dilution ratio			Sample T, °C	Flue gas T, °C		
		PRD + DGI	Dilution tunnel	PRD + ED	PRD-DGI	Dilution tunnel	PRD + ED	
EFC	11.9 ± 0.93	13 ± 4.3	106 ± 19	14 ± 1.3	24 ± 0.5	26 ± 0.6	20 ± 0.2	152 ± 1.2
IBC/34	10.5 ± 2.7	26 ± 9.3	810 ± 103^{a}	24 ± 4.1	26 ± 0.5	27 ± 0.2^{a}	27 ± 0.6	268 ± 18
IBC	11.6 ± 3.3		790 ± 130^{a}			27 ± 0.5^a		242 ± 61
CBC1	13.4 ± 3.6	16 ± 5.3	128 ± 27	24 ± 5.8	19 ± 0.5	22 ± 0.4	22 ± 0.8	222 ± 64
CBC2/F	8.4 ± 3.3	17 ± 3.6	$ m 280\pm44^{b}$	35 ± 6.0	19 ± 0.5	26 ± 0.3^{b}	23 ± 0.02	88 ± 8.0
CBC2	10.3 ± 4.0		385 ± 166^{b}			24 ± 0.4^{b}		96 ± 21
CBC3/23	12.2 ± 2.9	20 ± 4.5	91 ± 18	20 ± 2.8	23 ± 0.7	25 ± 0.2	21 ± 1.8	276 ± 45
CBC3	13.0 ± 3.0		88 ± 22			25 ± 0.3		246 ± 70
IEBC/S	10.9 ± 4.7	24 ± 13	90 ± 21	30 ± 10	19 ± 0.2	23 ± 0.9	19 ± 0.4	311 ± 100
IEBC	8.1 ± 5.0		108 ± 28			23 ± 1.2		450 ± 160

^a Dilution ratio and temperatures were measured after dilution tunnel + ED.

^b Dilution ratios and temperatures were measured after PRD + ED + ED. The values from continuous measurements are average values with standard deviations.

tunnel (Vaisala CARBOCAP, GMP343) and one after the PRD + ED system (Sensorex, SX 500, portable).

2.4. Sampling for toxicological analyses

Sampling times were selected to represent different kinds of combustion situations in normal small-scale combustion (Table 1). Selected combustion situations and their emissions may not represent typical average emissions from the types of appliances used in this study, but they merely represent the average values of emissions from different combustion situations. Combustion situations are affected by the appliance type, use of the appliance and fuel properties. Emissions over specific combustion situations can be related to the properties of the produced particles and their toxicological responses. However, particle number emissions and gas emissions are described both from the combustion cycle, as well as from each combustion situations (toxicological sampling time).

Sampling and collection times are divided into different categories according to the individual combustion situation in the different combustion appliances. The particle samples in EFC were collected from a small-scale pellet boiler with 25 kW maximum output power, which represented modern small-scale combustion technology. In CBC1, the sample collection period was 55 min over combustion cycle including the ignition phase and two batches. In CBC2 firing phase (CBC2/F), the sample time was 15 min from the beginning of the second batch to obtain a sample of PM1 from a firing phase in conventional masonry heater. In CBC3 batches 2 and 3 (CBC3/23), the sample time was 40 min during second and third batches. It represented the relatively good combustion conditions in the CBCs. In IBC batches 3 and 4 (IBC/34), the collection time was 50 min during the third and fourth batches. In IEBC, sampling was conducted during the start (IEBC/S); ignition and the second batch.

2.5. Chemical analyses

All of the filter samples and impactor stages were weighed before and after particle collection in a stable room temperature and relative humidity around 20 °C and 40%, respectively. Filters were kept in the weighing room at least 24 h prior to weighing in order that they would stabilize. Gravimetric analyses were performed with a microbalance of 1 μ g sensitivity (Mettler Toledo, MT5) with Staticmaster Po-210 charge eliminator from PTFE filters. PM₁ particle samples from DGI impactor stages were pooled together to form PM₁ sample for toxicological and chemical analyses (excluding OC/EC and gravimetric analyses). Detailed description of the sample preparation has been presented in detail in Tapanainen et al. (2011).

Table 4	
The averaged gaseous emission factors (mg N	IJ^{-1}).

Carbonate carbon (CO₃), organic (OC) and elemental (EC) carbon analyses were performed from the quartz filter samples by a thermal-optical method (Turpin et al., 2000), using an OCEC Carbon Aerosol Analyzer (model 4 L) from Sun Laboratories Inc. The analyses were performed according to the National Institute for Occupational Health (NIOSH 1999) procedure. Detailed description has been presented by Sippula et al. (2007, 2009).

Concentrations of major inorganic ions (Cl⁻, NO₃⁻, SO₄²⁻, Na⁺, NH₄⁺, K⁺, Mg²⁺, and Ca²⁺) were analyzed using two Dionex ICS-2000 (Dionex Corporation, Sunnyvale, CA, USA) ion chromatography systems. Twelve different elements (Al, As, Cd, Co, Cu, Cr, Pb, Mn, Ni, Fe, Zn and V) were analyzed with an ICP-MS (Perkin-Elmer Sciex Elan 6000, Perkin-Elmer Corp., Waltham, MA, USA) using Rh as an internal standard (nitric acid and hydrofluoric acid dissolution).

2.5.1. PAH analysis

PAH compounds were analyzed by a method modified from Christensen et al. (2005) and Schubert et al. (2003); for details see Supplementary material. Briefly, PAH compounds in particulate matter samples were identified and quantified comparing against a mixture of standard compounds comprising of 30 commercially available PAHs. In addition, deuterated PAH compounds (product Z-014J, AccuStandard Inc., USA) were used as an internal surrogate standard for quantification of the PAHs. To evaluate and validate the analytical method, a Standard Reference Material (SRM 1649a Urban Dust, NIST, Gaithersburgh, USA) was analyzed in a similar manner to samples. The particulate matter samples were spiked with the internal surrogate standard and extracted with dichloromethane in an ultrasonic bath. Solid-phase extraction (Alumina-B, ICN Biomedicals, Germany) was used as a cleanup step before injection of the sample on the GC-MS system (Agilent). Quantification limit was estimated by signal-to-noise ratio and the average quantification limit was 0.1 ng mg⁻¹.

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Gaseous emissions

3.1.1. Gaseous emissions during the combustion situations

Gaseous emission factors varied significantly between the different combustion situations. The emissions values from continuous measurements are presented as an average of all measured data during the sampling period. Since the combustion process in batch combustion changes significantly over time, the presented standard deviation also describes the variation in the process. The largest emission factors were seen in IEBC/S, with the smallest in EFC (Table 4). In IEBC/S, the emissions of CO and OGC were 4400 mg MJ⁻¹ and 830 mg MJ⁻¹, respectively. CO and OGC

ous ennosion nectors (mg mj	, ,.				
CO	OGC	NO _x	HCI	CH ₄	C ₆ H ₆
80 ± 67	0.96 ± 1.3	49 ± 7.0	0.1 ± 0.1	0.3 ± 0.2	0.9 ± 1.4
580 ± 490	16 ± 59	74 ± 47	n/a	n/a	n/a
390 ± 270	14 ± 45	75 ± 11	n/a	n/a	n/a
2700 ± 2100	95 ± 260	82 ± 79	1.7 ± 8.2	47 ± 130	7.0 ± 36
2300 ± 330	250 ± 530	194 ± 250	0.8 ± 20	130 ± 280	27 ± 87
1200 ± 1100	82 ± 102	76 ± 22	1.3 ± 3.0	84 ± 120	18 ± 37
830 ± 810	66 ± 210	82 ± 55	1.0 ± 1.4	43 ± 57	$\textbf{5.9} \pm \textbf{7.0}$
930 ± 840	94 ± 200	88 ± 40	0.9 ± 0.7	55 ± 64	6.9 ± 6.8
6100 ± 7400	1050 ± 1500	540 ± 670	n/a	n/a	n/a
4400 ± 5600	830 ± 1200	420 ± 540	$\textbf{3.2} \pm \textbf{5.8}$	770 ± 1200	50 ± 87
	$\begin{array}{c} \hline CO \\ \hline & 80 \pm 67 \\ 580 \pm 490 \\ 390 \pm 270 \\ 2700 \pm 2100 \\ 2300 \pm 330 \\ 1200 \pm 1100 \\ 830 \pm 810 \\ 930 \pm 840 \\ 6100 \pm 7400 \\ 4400 \pm 5600 \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c } \hline CO & OGC \\ \hline \hline & 80 \pm 67 & 0.96 \pm 1.3 \\ \hline & 580 \pm 490 & 16 \pm 59 \\ \hline & 390 \pm 270 & 14 \pm 45 \\ 2700 \pm 2100 & 95 \pm 260 \\ 2300 \pm 330 & 250 \pm 530 \\ 1200 \pm 1100 & 82 \pm 102 \\ \hline & 830 \pm 810 & 66 \pm 210 \\ \hline & 930 \pm 840 & 94 \pm 200 \\ \hline & 6100 \pm 7400 & 1050 \pm 1500 \\ \hline & 4400 \pm 5600 & 830 \pm 1200 \\ \hline \end{tabular}$	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c } \hline CO & OGC & NO_x \\ \hline \hline 80 ± 67 & 0.96 \pm 1.3 & 49 \pm 7.0 \\ \hline 580 ± 490 & 16 \pm 59$ & 74 \pm 47 \\ \hline 390 ± 270 & 14 \pm 45$ & 75 \pm 11 \\ 2700 ± 2100 & 95 \pm 260$ & 82 \pm 79 \\ 2300 ± 330 & 250 \pm 530$ & 194 \pm 250 \\ 1200 ± 1100 & 82 ± 102 & 76 \pm 22 \\ \hline 830 ± 810 & 66 \pm 210$ & $82 \pm 55 \\ \hline 930 ± 840 & 94 ± 200 & 88 ± 40 \\ 6100 ± 7400 & 1050 ± 1500 & 540 ± 670 \\ \hline 4400 ± 5600 & 830 ± 1200 & 420 ± 540 \\ \hline \end{tabular}$	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$

CO, OGC and NO_x were measured with the ABB analyzing rack, while HCl, CH_4 , C_6H_6 were measured with the FTIR. The values from continuous measurements are average values with standard deviations.

emissions in EFC were 79 mg MJ⁻¹ and 0.96 mg MJ⁻¹, respectively. This highlights the differences between good continuous combustion in EFC and incomplete combustion in IEBC/S. Gaseous emissions were similar to each other in different CBCs. CO emissions were the highest in CBC1, about double to CBC2/F and CBC3/23. However, OGC emissions were on a similar level in all of CBCs. Emissions of CO and OGC were lower in IBC/34 than in CBC3/23 and IBC/34, but CBC3/23 without air-staging, the results are well comparable with each other. This shows that the air-staging used in IBC decreases the gaseous emissions due to better burnout of combustible gases.

3.1.2. Gaseous emissions during combustion cycles

Comparing these results from the combustion cycle to the ones described earlier in chapter 3.1.1, the comparison of the selected combustion situations can be compared to combustion cycles (Table 4). In CBC1 and EFC, the emissions described earlier already represent combustion cycles. All of the gaseous emission factors in CBC2/F were clearly lower than the emissions emerging from CBC2. On the other hand, in CBC3, the emissions were slightly higher, than in CBC3/23 for the same appliance. Compared to results from previous study (Tissari et al., 2009) obtained from similar combustion situations and combustion appliances, the CO results here are larger from CBC1 and CBC2, but smaller in CBC3. It seems that the appliance design in CBC3 was optimal for burnout of combustible gases compared to CBC1 and CBC2. CO and OGC emissions from IEBC were approximately two times larger than that reported previously in a sauna stove (Tissari et al., 2009), but similar results have been reported from an old-type wood boiler (Johansson et al., 2004). Large emissions can be explained by the differences in appliance usage and with the simple combustion technology. In addition, the gaseous emissions (CO and OGC) in IBC are about half of the emissions described before in a masonry heater equipped with air-staging (Tissari et al., 2009).

3.2. Particle emissions

Table 5

3.2.1. PM₁ emissions during the toxicological sampling

 PM_1 emission factors can be divided into three main groups, emissions from inefficient batch combustion (IEBC), emissions from batch combustion (CBC1, CBC2, CBC, IBC) and emissions from efficient combustion (EFC) (Table 5). The emissions varied less within each specific group than between the different groups. From IEBC/S, the PM_1 emission was highest, 260 mg MJ^{-1} . The lowest PM_1 emission originated from EFC 19 mg MJ^{-1} , as expected. PM_1 emissions from the different masonry heaters did not vary significantly, between 51 mg MJ^{-1} in IBC/34 and 81 mg MJ^{-1} in CBC1, even though the appliances and combustion situations were different. It has also to be noted that although the PM_1 emissions from IBC/34

	18-	1			Other analyzed		
	16-						
	14-				SO ₄ ²⁻		
ſW	12-				CI ⁻		
gm)	10-				K*		
ions	8 -				illing iva		
nissi	6-						
1, er	4-						
đ	2-						
	0 -						
		EFC	IBC/34	CBC1 C	BC2/F CBC3/23 IEBC/S		
	Fig. 3. Emissions of PM ₁ ash compounds.						

and CBC3/23 were rather similar, CO emission from CBC3/23 was 1.6-fold and OGC emission 5.9-fold compared to IBC/34.

3.2.2. PM₁ chemical composition

Most of the particulate matter consists of inorganic alkali metal components in EFC, shown in Fig. 3 and Table 6. The most abundant chemical species were K⁺, SO₄²⁻, Cl⁻ and Na⁺. These components vaporize in hot flame temperatures from ash-forming elements in the fuel. When flue gases cool down, they form particles (Valmari et al., 1998). Combustion in EFC differs significantly from CBCs and demonstrated in the results presented in Fig. 3 and Tables 5 and 6. EC is the most abundant component in all of the CBCs and IBC/34 highlighting incompleteness of the oxidation in batch combustion appliances (Wiinikka, 2005: Tissari et al., 2007). Other common components are OC, K^+ , CO₃ and SO₄²⁻. The smallest emissions of such components were seen in CBC2/F. When considering these results in conjunction with previous studies it can be concluded that its combustion temperature was most likely the lowest of all appliances tested here, since the evaporation of these components is strongly related to combustion temperature (Davidsson et al., 2002: Knudsen et al., 2004). However, the temperature inside the combustion chamber was not measured. OC is a typical component of all kinds of batch combustions where incomplete combustion is always present (Tissari et al., 2007). Interestingly, the PM1 chemical properties are similar with IBC/34 and CBC3/23, even though the air-staging in IBC clearly affected the gas emissions. This shows that the air-staging in IBC did not affect the oxidation of OC and EC significantly. In IEBC/S, EC and OC are the most abundant components in the particle phase (Table 5). This confirms the hypothesis that with simple combustion technology and ignition phase of the

Emission factors of PM ₁ , carbon compounds, number emissions, and mean particle sizes.								
	PM ₁	EC	OC	CO ₃	N _{Tot}	GMD	MMD	
EFC	19.7 ± 1.6	0.1 ± 0.17	$\textbf{0.9}\pm\textbf{2.1}$	1.2 ± 1.1	$3.5E + 13 \pm 8.0E + 12$	60 ± 3.3	137 ± 6.1	
IBC/34	50.7 ± 26	24 ± 6.7	$\textbf{3.6} \pm \textbf{1.2}$	$\textbf{2.3} \pm \textbf{0.50}$	$8.4E + 13 \pm 7.2E + 13$ $6.8E + 13 \pm 3.5E + 13$	76 ± 11 74 ± 5.1	179 ± 25	
CBC1	81.4 ± 13	24 ± 5.3	11 ± 4.6	$\textbf{3.4} \pm \textbf{2.3}$	$1.0E + 14 \pm 1.8E + 14$ 1.2E + 12 + 2.1E + 12	63 ± 10	277 ± 110	
CBC2/F	67 ± 6.5	49 ± 10	19 ± 16	$\textbf{4.2} \pm \textbf{7.3}$	$1.9E + 13 \pm 3.6E + 12$	142 ± 33 136 ± 32	658 ± 230	
CBC3	51.6 ± 12	20 + 24	25 + 15	54 + 20	$3.1E + 13 \pm 2.2E + 13$ $2.4E + 12 \pm 1.4E + 12$	70 ± 11 72 + 0.2	196 + 14	
IEBC	51.0 ± 12	28 ± 5.4	5.5 ± 1.5	5.4 ± 5.0	$5.4E + 13 \pm 1.4E + 13$ $7.3E + 13 \pm 4.4E + 13$	107 ± 60	180 ± 14	
IEBC/S	257 ± 85	130 ± 23	160 ± 26	5.9 ± 12	$6.7E + 13 \pm 3.2E + 13$	105 ± 58	415 ± 83	

PM₁, EC, OC, CO₃, mg MJ⁻¹; N_{Tot}, # MJ⁻¹; GMD and MMD, nm. The values from continuous measurements (N_{Tot} and GMD) are average values with standard deviations.

Table 6

Emission factors for the ash-forming content (mg $MJ^{-1})$ and content of individual metals ($\mu g \; MJ^{-1})$ of emitted PM1.

	EFC	IBC/34	CBC1	CBC2/F	CBC3/23	IEBC/S
Na ⁺ , mg MJ ⁻¹	3.2	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>9.5E-03</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.67</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>9.5E-03</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.67</td></dl<></td></dl<>	9.5E-03	<dl< td=""><td>0.67</td></dl<>	0.67
NH4 ⁺ , mg MJ ⁻¹	8.1E-03	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>0.098</td><td>0.022</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>0.098</td><td>0.022</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<>	0.098	0.022	<dl< td=""></dl<>
K ⁺ , mg MJ ⁻¹	7.2	7.0	9.0	0.37	4.0	0.89
Mg ²⁺ , mg MJ ⁻¹	<dl< td=""><td>1.8E-03</td><td><dl< td=""><td>8.2E-03</td><td>3.1E-03</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	1.8E-03	<dl< td=""><td>8.2E-03</td><td>3.1E-03</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<>	8.2E-03	3.1E-03	<dl< td=""></dl<>
Ca ²⁺ , mg MJ ⁻¹	<dl< td=""><td>0.015</td><td>8.8E-03</td><td>0.049</td><td>0.024</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<>	0.015	8.8E-03	0.049	0.024	<dl< td=""></dl<>
Cl ⁻ , mg MJ ⁻¹	2.1	0.95	0.58	0.22	0.67	0.49
SO4 ^{2–} , mg MJ ^{–1}	3.1	<dl< td=""><td>2.3</td><td>0.093</td><td>1.3</td><td>0.32</td></dl<>	2.3	0.093	1.3	0.32
NO ₃ ⁻ , mg MJ ⁻¹	0.079	0.11	0.43	0.044	0.22	0.19
Cd, µg MJ ⁻¹	0.17	3.1	2.2	1.8	1.8	1.9
Co, μg MJ ⁻¹	<dl< td=""><td>14</td><td>3.2</td><td>5.5</td><td>1.4</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<>	14	3.2	5.5	1.4	<dl< td=""></dl<>
Cr, μg MJ ⁻¹	0.4	<dl< td=""><td>1.7</td><td>0.026</td><td><dl< td=""><td>1.5</td></dl<></td></dl<>	1.7	0.026	<dl< td=""><td>1.5</td></dl<>	1.5
Cu, μg MJ ⁻¹	6.5	5.5	5.9	1.7	2.0	<dl< td=""></dl<>
Mn, μg MJ ⁻¹	20	2.7	7.4	43	1.9	<dl< td=""></dl<>
Ni, μg MJ ⁻¹	<dl< td=""><td>0.62</td><td>0.81</td><td>1.6</td><td>0.7</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<>	0.62	0.81	1.6	0.7	<dl< td=""></dl<>
Pb, μg MJ ⁻¹	3.9	11	12	2.7	7.2	6.3
V, μg MJ ⁻¹	<dl< td=""><td>0.021</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.11</td><td>0.026</td><td>0.10</td></dl<></td></dl<>	0.021	<dl< td=""><td>0.11</td><td>0.026</td><td>0.10</td></dl<>	0.11	0.026	0.10
As, μg MJ ⁻¹	0.045	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>0.037</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>0.037</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>0.037</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<>	0.037	<dl< td=""></dl<>
Fe, μg MJ ⁻¹	1.4	20	21	160	24	<dl< td=""></dl<>
Zn, μg MJ ⁻¹	84	1300	630	280	730	970

<DL, below detection limit.

combustion (ignition and 2. batch), the particles are mostly formed of components from incomplete combustion. However, Na⁺, Cl⁻, K⁺, SO₄²⁻ and Zn could also be identified from IEBC/S particles, but in a small fraction.

3.2.3. PAH emissions

PAH contents of PM1 from IEBC/S and EFC can be clearly distinguished from the other situations, IEBC/S with the largest and EFC with the smallest PAH contents (Table 7). Different combustion situations in CBCs are at a similar level in total PAHs, but the differences between IBC/34 and different CBCs were greater than in PM₁. In addition, when comparing PAH contents and PM₁ emissions from IBC/34 and EFC, it can be seen that the difference in PAHs between these two combustion situations are greater than indicated by the PM1 emissions. This highlights that the impact of improved combustion technology on the particulate PAH seem to be more significant than would be predicted from the PM₁ emissions, gas emissions or other particle chemical properties. This has importance from legislative point of view, where PM is commonly used as restricted factor. Similar findings on PAHs from batch combustion appliances with different combustion technologies (Tissari et al., 2007) and differences between old and new combustion technology (Johansson et al., 2004) have been reported previously. PAH emissions in this study, are similar to those described elsewhere in similar combustion situations (Hytönen et al., 2009; Boman et al., 2005), despite slightly different collection methods and dilution ratios used in these studies. Hytönen et al. (2009) analysed 15 different PAH compounds and Boman et al. (2005) 37 different PAH compounds. Total PAHs from combustion cycle in masonry heater (CBC1) are about 2-fold from a masonry heater and total PAHs from IEBC/S produced about 2-fold emissions compared to smouldering combustion in Hytönen et al. (2009). Boman et al. (2005) described higher total PAH emissions from a pellet boiler than the ones here in EFC in similar combustion situations, but overall, both emissions are low.

The distributions of the different PAH-species varied with the different combustion situations. In all combustion situations, phenanthrene, fluoranthene and pyrene were the most common PAH compounds, except in CBC3/23 where cyclopenta[c,d]pyrene was the third most common PAH compound. Thus prevalence of the three most common PAH compounds, phenanthrene, fluoranthene and pyrene, has also been described by Boman et al. (2005). In EFC

Table 7

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) contents in PM₁ samples, total PAHs, genotoxic PAHs and PAH/PM₁.

PAH compounds, ng mg ⁻¹ in PM ₁	EFC	IBC/34	CBC1	CBC2/F	CBC3/23	IEBC/S
Naphthalene	0.2	1.0	1.1	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>5.7</td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>5.7</td></dl<>	5.7
Acenaphthylene	<dl< td=""><td>4.5</td><td>51.1</td><td>129.3</td><td>11.9</td><td>1517.7</td></dl<>	4.5	51.1	129.3	11.9	1517.7
Acenaphthene	<dl< td=""><td>< DL</td><td>1.6</td><td>3.5</td><td>1.4</td><td>64.5</td></dl<>	< DL	1.6	3.5	1.4	64.5
Fluorene	<dl< td=""><td>4.9</td><td>90.0</td><td>333.5</td><td>34.6</td><td>2928.6</td></dl<>	4.9	90.0	333.5	34.6	2928.6
Phenanthrene	0.6	352.5	2317.3	5369.6	1060.8	19381.1
Anthracene	<dl< td=""><td>25.6</td><td>483.7</td><td>955.7</td><td>226.5</td><td>4611.7</td></dl<>	25.6	483.7	955.7	226.5	4611.7
1-Methylphenanthrene	0.1	15.7	148.0	122.9	81.8	788.4
Fluoranthene	1.7	412.1	2834.9	3475.9	2187.4	11264.9
Pyrene	2.1	371.2	2742.1	3199.8	2578.2	12045.6
Benzo[c]phenanthrene	0.1	31.9	29.9	361.2	248.8	875.8
Benzo[a]anthracene	0.1	46.1	1004.3	1396.5	1051.8	3005.7
Cyclopenta[c,d]pyrene	0.2	<DL	2150.1	1991.1	1954.2	6576.1
Triphenylene	0.1	5.3	127.7	187.2	85.6	366.0
Chrysene	0.1	19.1	907.0	1201.9	908.7	2493.0
5-Methylchrysene	<dl< td=""><td>0.7</td><td>7.4</td><td>7.3</td><td>4.5</td><td>18.5</td></dl<>	0.7	7.4	7.3	4.5	18.5
Benzo[b]fluoranthene	0.1	47.7	783.2	1208.4	859.7	1748.1
Benzo[k]fluoranthene	<dl< td=""><td>5.0</td><td>1120.5</td><td>868.0</td><td>656.8</td><td>4497.0</td></dl<>	5.0	1120.5	868.0	656.8	4497.0
Benzo[j]fluoranthene	0.1	19.3	365.9	881.3	626.4	927.5
Benzo[e]pyrene	0.2	31.2	524.8	801.3	600.3	1234.2
Benzo[a]pyrene	0.1	32.6	1149.0	2001.9	1628.4	3245.0
Perylene	<dl< td=""><td>4.2</td><td>152.9</td><td>255.4</td><td>216.8</td><td>438.8</td></dl<>	4.2	152.9	255.4	216.8	438.8
Indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene	<dl< td=""><td>11.5</td><td>506.9</td><td>924.1</td><td>703.7</td><td>1305.5</td></dl<>	11.5	506.9	924.1	703.7	1305.5
Dibenzo[a,h]anthracene	<dl< td=""><td>1.7</td><td>49.5</td><td>156.3</td><td>122.2</td><td>210.2</td></dl<>	1.7	49.5	156.3	122.2	210.2
Benzo[g,h,i]perylene	0.2	16.1	669.4	1051.2	924.6	1672.8
Anthanthrene	< DL	2.3	307.9	549.7	473.0	1006.9
Dibenzo[a,l]pyrene	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>4.0</td><td>26.0</td><td>11.9</td><td>13.0</td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>4.0</td><td>26.0</td><td>11.9</td><td>13.0</td></dl<>	4.0	26.0	11.9	13.0
Dibenzo[a,e]pyrene	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>63.3</td><td>190.5</td><td>93.4</td><td>208.8</td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>63.3</td><td>190.5</td><td>93.4</td><td>208.8</td></dl<>	63.3	190.5	93.4	208.8
Coronene	<dl< td=""><td>1.5</td><td>421.8</td><td>419.3</td><td>245.3</td><td>971.0</td></dl<>	1.5	421.8	419.3	245.3	971.0
Dibenzo[a,i]pyrene	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>53.1</td><td>21.1</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>53.1</td><td>21.1</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>53.1</td><td>21.1</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<>	53.1	21.1	<dl< td=""></dl<>
Dibenzo[a,h]pyrene	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>12.2</td><td>92.6</td><td>26.8</td><td>19.7</td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>12.2</td><td>92.6</td><td>26.8</td><td>19.7</td></dl<>	12.2	92.6	26.8	19.7
Total PAHs	5.96	1464	19027	28215	17647	83442
Total genotoxic PAHs	2.62	650	10400	14070	10273	33241
PAH/PM1 (%)	6.0E-04	0.15	1.9	1.8	2.8	8.3
Proportion of genotoxic PAHs from the sum	0.439	0.444	0.547	0.499	0.582	0.398

Genotoxic PAH compounds defined on the basis of the WHO/IPCS criteria (WHO, 1998). Determination limit of the method 0.1 ng mg $^{-1}\!$. < DL, under determination limit.

with smallest amount of total PAHs, about 73% of PAHs were phenanthrene, fluoranthene and pyrene. In IBC, the amount was 77%, 32% in CBC3/23, 42% in CBC2/F, 41% in CBC1 and 50% in IEBC/S.

Total PAH emissions from PM₁ emissions (PAH/PM₁) ranged extensively, the lowest value being 0.00006% for EFC and the highest was 8.3% for IEBC/S. PAH/PM₁ described by Boman et al. (2005) with a different types of pellet combustion are higher than those detected in here. However, similar to Boman et al. (2005), it was seen also here that the PAH/PM₁ decreased as the emissions of OGC and total PAHs became smaller. In addition, OGC emissions seem to correlate with total PAH emissions, but due to the small number of values, no conclusions could be made. The total genotoxic PAHs were calculated as a percentage of the total PAH, as described by Jalava et al. (2005) (Table 7). Genotoxic PAHs represent 38% (IEBC/S) to 58% (CBC2/F) of total PAHs.

3.2.4. Particle size distributions

The mass—size distributions are presented in Fig. 4 and mass mean diameters (MMD) in Table 5. IEBC/S can be clearly distinguished from other distributions. The emission is clearly higher and the MMD is larger (415 nm), while MMD is 277 nm in CBC1 and 137 nm in EFC. The differences between different combustion situations for mass—size distributions are much clearer than for number—size distributions (Fig. 5). IEBC/S can be clearly distinguished, and there is no bimodal distribution compared to number—size distribution. One must



Fig. 4. Mass-size distributions from the combustion tests under different combustion situations, measured with DLPI.

remember that mass-size distributions were measured over specific combustion situations and they represent averaged values over certain time periods.

The averaged number emission factors (N_{Tot}) and geometric mean diameters (GMD) over combustion situations are presented in Table 5. GMD values calculated from ELPI data varied between 61 nm and 136 nm. The largest GMD values were measured from CBC2/F and the smallest from EFC. On the other hand, the number emission was smallest in CBC2/F, 1.9E + 13 #/MJ. The highest number emission was measured from CBC1, 1.0E + 14 #/MJ. The Fig. 5 shows IEBC/S and CBC2/F bimodal number-size distributions in IEBC/S and CBC2/F. These two combustion situations are also those with the most incomplete combustion, according to the emissions of gases, EC and OC. It has been previously reported that particle size increases when combustion situation deteriorate (Tissari et al., 2008). In CBC2/F, the low flue gas temperature (Table 3) provides also evidence that the residence time inside the appliance has been relatively long, giving the particles more time for coagulation/agglomeration, leading to a smaller number concentration and a larger particle size (Table 5).

3.3. Particle size properties and number emissions in combustion cycles

The averaged number emission factors and GMDs during the combustion cycles are presented in Table 5. The number emissions



Fig. 5. Number–size distributions from the combustion tests under different combustion situations, measured with ELPI.

varied between 1.2E + 13 #/MJ in CBC2 and 8.4E + 13 #/MJ in IBC. The average GMDs varied from 70 nm in CBC3 to 142 nm in CBC2. It has been studied before that the number emissions and particle sizes fluctuate significantly during the combustion process, especially in batch combustion appliances. Only averages are presented here, but a detailed description with similar appliances can be found in Tissari et al. (2007).

4. Conclusions

The results presented in this study clearly show that substantial differences in fine particle properties were produced by the different combustion situations from small-scale appliances. It is evident that PM_1 mass does not reflect all of the variation affecting possible toxic properties of fine particles originating from combustion. The physicochemical properties of the particles produced here represented very different combustion situations but this reflects well the situation with small-scale combustion appliances operated in different ways for different periods of time. This gave us a possibility to study the effect of combustion situations on particle physicochemical properties. It must be pointed out that the particle properties and particle emissions described here do not necessarily represent typical emissions of the appliance type, but rather the particle properties originating under these specific combustion situations.

Log fired batch combustion with simple combustion technology in IEBC/S produced the largest PM1 emissions, whereas a modern pellet fired continuous combustion appliance in EFC created the smallest emissions. The differences between different batch combustion situations in different masonry heaters, however, were more or less at the same level, even though it was predicted from the gas emissions that they would more significantly differ from each other. It was expected that at least the IBC/34 with its airstaging would produce smaller PM1 emissions and that particle chemical properties would differ more from CBCs. However, if one considers only the particle chemical properties, the differences between different CBCs were very small. The only clear difference was in CBC2/F where the gas emissions already revealed more incomplete combustion and this was reflected in the amount of OC and EC. As combustion conditions improve, larger fractions of K⁺, SO₄²⁻ and some Cl⁻ are analyzed from the fine particles. In good continuous combustion, fine particles are mainly formed from different alkali metals K⁺ and Na⁺, and also Cl⁻ and SO₄²⁻. In IBC/ 34, these same elements became more prevalent, but the presence of particles of EC and OC show that there are more areas of incomplete combustion in the combustion zones of this application than in pellet boiler.

No straightforward correlations were found between different combustion situations with particle number emissions and GMD. It has been previously shown that particle size will decrease and number emission increase, as combustion conditions improve (Tissari, 2008). The bimodal distribution in the particle number—size distributions and larger particles sizes were observed in those cases where combustion conditions deteriorated. The ultrafine particle mode has been proposed to be mainly formed of ash particles and the shift of the particle size during different combustion conditions to be formed from condensed organic vapour. We believe that this explains the differences between particle sizes and compositions also in this study.

Substantial differences were seen in PAH emissions between different combustion situations. As PAHs are known to be harmful to human health, it can be predicted that these results would be reflected in the toxic potencies of fine particles. When the fine particle emissions from modern and conventional masonry heaters were compared, it can be seen that PM₁ emissions were roughly

7642

similar but the difference in PAHs was 10-fold. These results show that PAH emissions can decrease dramatically when air-staging is applied in the batch combustion technology. In addition, even though a log fired sauna stove in IEBC/S is not a widely used combustion appliance in other parts of the world, its possible health effects seem to be significant, at least on the local scale, since the PAH emissions from this device are more than 10 times higher than those from CBCs. This applies to any incomplete combustion process as well. Therefore, it should be possible to decrease PAH emissions rather easily by improving the combustion technology.

Different combustion situations produce different kinds of particle emissions and particles with different physicochemical characteristics. It is clear that incomplete combustion produces more emissions than combustion under more optimal conditions, but the differences in all health-related chemical components can be greater than the PM₁ alone would indicate. More care should be taken in the design of combustion appliances, and improving combustion technology in small-scale batch combustion appliances. In addition, a wider set of chemical analyses is recommended to be performed in order to provide more specific data to aid in the evaluation of health effects attributable to small-scale combustion of wood.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank Pentti Willman from the University of Eastern Finland for carbon analyses. We acknowledge The Finnish Funding Agency for Technology and Innovation for funding this study.

Appendix. Supplementary material

Supplementary information associated with this article can be found in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2011.02.072.

References

- Boman, C., Nordin, A., Westerholm, R., Pettersson, E., 2005. Evaluation of a constant volume sampling setup for residential biomass fired appliances—influence of dilution conditions on particulate and PAH emissions. Biomass and Bioenergy 29, 258–268.
- Boström, C.-E., Gerde, P., Hanberg, A., Jenström, B., Johansson, C., Kyrklund, T., Rannung, A., Törnqvist, M., Victorin, K., Westerholm, R., 2002. Cancer risk assessment, indicators, and guidelines for polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the ambient air. Environmental Health Perspectives 110, 451–488.
- Christensen, A., Östman, C., Westerholm, R., 2005. Ultrasound-assisted extraction and on-line LC–GC–MS for determination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) in urban dust and diesel particulate matter. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 381, 1206–1216.
- Davidsson, K.O., Stojkova, B.J., Petterson, J.B.C., 2002. Alkali emission from birchwood particles during rapid pyrolysis. Energy & Fuels 16, 1033–1039. Hellén, H., Hakola, H., Haaparanta, S., Pietarila, H., Kauhaniemi, M., 2008. Influence
- Hellén, H., Hakola, H., Haaparanta, S., Pietarila, H., Kauhaniemi, M., 2008. Influence of residential wood combustion on local air quality. Science of the Total Environment 393, 283–290.
- Hytönen, K., Yli-Pirilä, P., Tissari, J., Gröhn, A., Riipinen, I., Lehtinen, K.E.J., Jokiniemi, J., 2009. Gas-particle distribution of PAHs in wood combustion emissions determined with annular denuders, filters, and polyurethane foam adsorbent. Aerosol Science and Technology 43, 442–454.
- ISO 8178-1: Reciprocating Internal Combustion Engines Exhaust Emission Measurement – Part 1: Test Bed Measurement of Gaseous and Particulate Emissions, 1996. International Organization for Standardization, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Jalava, P.I., Salonen, R.O., Hälinen, A.I., Sillanpää, M., Sandell, E., Hirvonen, M.-R., 2005. Effects of sample preparation on chemistry, cytotoxicity, and inflammatory responses induced by air particulate matter. Inhalation Toxicology 17, 107–117.
- Johansson, L.S., Leckner, B., Gustavsson, L., Cooper, D., Tullin, C., Potter, A., 2004. Emission characteristics of modern and old-type residential boilers fired with wood logs and wood pellets. Atmospheric Environment 38, 4183–4195. Kappos, A.D., Bruckmann, P., Eikmann, T., Englert, N., Heinrich, U., Höppe, P.,
- Kappos, A.D., Bruckmann, P., Eikmann, I., Englert, N., Heinrich, U., Hoppe, P., Koch, E., Krause, G.H.M., Kreyling, W.G., Rauchfuss, K., Rombout, P., Schulz-Klemp, V., Thiel, W.R., Wichmann, H.-E., 2004. Health effects of particles in ambient air. International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health 207, 399–497.

- Karvosenoja, N., Tainio, M., Kupiainen, K., Tuomisto, J.T., Kukkonen, J., Johansson, M., 2008. Evaluation of the emissions and uncertainties of PM_{2.5} originated from vehicular traffic and domestic wood combustion in Finland. Boreal Environmental Research 13, 465–474.
- Knudsen, J.N., Jensen, P.A., Dam-Johansen, K., 2004. Transformation and release to the gas phase of Cl, K and S during combustion of annual biomass. Energy & Fuels 18, 1385–1399.
- Kocbach Bølling, A., Pagels, J., Yttri, K.E., Barregard, L., Sallsten, G., Schwarze, P.E., Boman, C., 2009. Health effects of residential wood smoke particles: the importance of combustion conditions and physicochemical particle properties. Particle and Fibre Toxicology 6. doi:10.1186/1743-8977-6-29.
- Lipsky, E.M., Robinson, A.L., 2006. Effects of dilution on fine particle mass and partitioning of semivolatile organics in diesel exhaust and wood smoke. Environmental Science & Technology 40, 155–162. Lyyränen, J., Jokiniemi, J., Kauppinen, E.J., Backman, U., Vesala, H., 2004. Comparison
- Lyyränen, J., Jokiniemi, J., Kauppinen, E.I., Backman, U., Vesala, H., 2004. Comparison of different dilution methods for measuring diesel particle emissions. Aerosol Science and Technology 38, 12–23.
- Mattila, L., Saastamoinen, J., Helynen, S., Hämäläinen, J., Mäkinen, T., Lohiniva, E., McKeough, P., Wolff, J., Nordman, H., Tuunanen, J., Sipilä, K., Tuhkanen, S., 2003. Energy production technologies. In: Kara, M., Hirvonen, R., Mattila, L., Viinikainen, S., Tuhkanen, S., Lind, I. (Eds.), Energy Vision 2030 for Finland. VTT Energy, Edita Prima Ltd., Helsinki, pp. 67–124. Naeher, L.P., Brauer, M., Lipsett, M., Zelikoff, J.T., Simpson, C.D., Koenig, J.Q.
- Naeher, L.P., Brauer, M., Lipsett, M., Zelikoff, J.T., Simpson, C.D., Koenig, J.Q., Smith, K.R., 2007. Woodsmoke health effects: a review. Inhalation Toxicology 19, 67–106.
- NIOSH Elemental Carbon (Diesel Particulate) Method 5040, 1999. NIOSH Manual of Analytical Methods (NMAM), fourth ed. The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Atlanta, USA.
- Pope III, C.A., Burnett, R.T., Thun, M.J., Calle, E.E., Krewski, D., Ito, K., Thurston, G.D., 2002. Lung cancer, cardiopulmonary mortality, and long-term exposure to fine particulate air pollution. The Journal of the American Medical Association 287, 1132–1141.
- Ruusunen, J., Lamberg, H., Tapanainen, M., Hytönen, K., Sippula, O., Tissari, J., Ihalainen, M., Karhunen, T., Pennanen, A.S., Willman, P., Hirvonen, M.-R., Salonen, R.O., Jokiniemi, J., 2009. European Aerosol Conference 2009, Karlsruhe, Abstract T150A30.
- Schubert, P., Schantz, M.M., Sander, L.C., Wise, S.A., 2003. Determination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons with molecular weight 300 and 302 in environmental-matrix standard reference materials by gas chromatography/mass spectrometry. Analytical Chemistry 75, 234–246.
- SFS 5624: Air Quality. Stationary Source Emissions. Determination of the Flue Gas Conditions, 1990. Finnish Standards Association SFS, Helsinki, Finland.
- Sippula, O., Hytönen, K., Tissari, J., Raunemaa, T., Jokiniemi, J., 2007. Effect of wood fuel on the emissions from a top-feed pellet stove. Energy & Fuels 21, 1151–1160.
- Sippula, O., Hokkinen, J., Puustinen, H., Yli-Pirilä, P., Jokiniemi, J., 2009. Particle emissions from small wood-fired district heating units. Energy & Fuels 23, 2974–2982.
- Straif, K., Baan, R., Grosse, Y., Secretan, B., El Ghissassi, F., Cogliano, V., 2006. Carcinogenicity of household solid fuel combustion and of high-temperature frying. The Lancet Oncology 7, 977–978.
- Tapanainen, M., Jalava, P.I., Mäki-Paakkanen, J., Hakulinen, P., Happo, M.S., Lamberg, H., Ruusunen, J., Tissari, J., Nuutinen, K., Yli-Pirilä, P., Hillamo, R., Salonen, R.O., Jokiniemi, J., Hirvonen, M.-R., 2011. *In vitro* immunotoxic and genotoxic activities of particles emitted from two different small-scale wood combustion appliances. Atmos. Environ 45, 7546–7554.
- Tissari, J., Hytönen, K., Lyyränen, J., Jokiniemi, J., 2007. A novel field measurement method for determining fine particle and gas emissions from residential wood combustion. Atmospheric Environment 41, 8330–8344.
- Tissari, J., Lyyränen, J., Hytönen, K., Sippula, O., Tapper, U., Frey, A., Saarnio, K., Pennanen, A.S., Hillamo, R., Salonen, R.O., Hirvonen, M.-R., Jokiniemi, J., 2008. Fine particle and gaseous emissions from normal and smouldering wood combustion in a conventional masonry heater. Atmospheric Environment 42, 7862–7873.
- Tissari, J., 2008. Fine Particle Emissions from Residential Wood Combustion, PhD Thesis, Kuopio University Publications C. Natural and Environmental Sciences, p. 237.
- Tissari, J., Hytönen, K., Sippula, O., Jokiniemi, J., 2009. The effects of operating conditions on emissions from masonry heaters and sauna stoves. Biomass and Bioenergy 33, 513–520.
- Turpin, B.J., Saxena, P., Andrews, E., 2000. Measuring and simulating particulate organics in the atmosphere: problems and prospects. Atmospheric Environment 34, 2983–3013.
- Valmari, T., Kauppinen, E.I., Kurkela, J., Jokiniemi, J.K., Sfiris, G., Revitzer, H., 1998. Fly ash formation and deposition during fluidized bed combustion of willow. Journal of Aerosol Science 29, 445–459.
- van Loo, S., Koppejan, J. (Eds.), 2008. Handbook of Biomass Combustion and Co-Firing. Twenty University Press, Enchede.
- Wiinikka, H., 2005. High temperature aerosol formation and emission minimization during combustion of wood pellets. PhD Thesis, Department of Applied Physics and Mechanical Engineering, Luleä University of Technology. Luleä, Sweden.
- World Health Organization (WHO), 1998. Selected Non-Heterocyclic Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons. Environmental Health Criteria 202. WHO International Programme of Chemical Safety (IPCS), Geneva, Switzerland.

PAH compounds in particulate matter samples were identified and quantified comparing against a mixture of standard compounds comprising of 30 commercially available PAHs. Reference PAH compounds investigated in this study were obtained from Dr. Ehrenstorfer GmbH (Augsburg, Germany). An internal surrogate standard was used for quantification of the PAH. Standard reference material, SRM 1649a Urban Dust (NIST; Gaithersburg, MD, USA), was used for evaluation and validation of the analytical method. Hexane and dichloromethane were used as solvents (HPLC grade, Rathburn Chemicals, UK).

8

5 or 10 mg of PM samples that were sampled during the specific combustion situations, 9 10 were spiked with the internal surrogate standard of deuterated PAHs and extracted in Kimax glass tubes with 3 ml of dichloromethane for 15 min using an ultrasonic bath (model 11 USC1200TH, VWR). After the extraction, a few drops of nonane, were added and the 12 13 solvent volume was reduced to approximately 100 µl under a gentle stream of nitrogen and solvent exchanged to hexane. Solid-phase extraction was used as a cleanup step before 14 injection of the sample on the GC-MS system. SPE columns were prepared for activated 15 Alumina-B (ICN Biomedicals, Germany). The columns were conditioned with 6 ml of hexane 16 before addition of the sample. Sample extracts were loaded on top of the column and eluted 17 18 with 8 ml of hexane to remove aliphatic fraction. The PAH fraction was eluted with 10 ml of dichloromethane and concentrated to approximately 100 µl. 19

20

GC-MS analysis were performed on a gas chromatograph (6890N GC, Agilent) coupled to a mass-selective detector (5973inert MSD, Agilent). The GC column used for analyses was a 50 % phenyl methylpolysiloxane (DB-17ms, 60 m × 0.25 mm i.d. × 0.25 µm film thickness, J&W Scientific) with a 10 m retention gap (0.25 mm i.d.). Pulsed splitless injection was used with injection pressure 350 kPa for 1 min after the 2 µl sample injection. The injector temperature was held at 320 °C. The GC carrier gas was helium (1.2 l/min). The initial GC

temperature, 60 °C, was held for 1 min then programmed at 6.5 °C min⁻¹ to a final 27 temperature of 320 °C, which was held for 49 min. Total run time was 90 min. Transfer line 28 temperature was set to 320 °C. The MSD was operated in electron ionization mode and the 29 30 temperatures of the MSD ion source and quadrupole analyzer were kept at 230 °C and 150 °C, respectively. Quantitative analysis was performed in the selected ion monitoring mode. 31 The quantification limit was estimated via the signal-to-noise ratio and the average 32 quantification limit was 0.1 ng mg⁻¹. Blank samples were also cleaned and analyzed at the 33 same time as the PM samples to check for potential contamination. 34

35

Paper III

Reprinted with permission from Lamberg et al., Energy & Fuels, 27, 7044–7053, 2013. Copyright (2013) American Chemical Society.
energy&fuels-

pubs.acs.org/EF

Fine Particle and Gaseous Emissions from a Small-Scale Boiler Fueled by Pellets of Various Raw Materials

Heikki Lamberg,*,† Jarkko Tissari,† Jorma Jokiniemi,†,‡ and Olli Sippula†

[†]Fine Particle and Aerosol Technology Laboratory, Department of Environmental Science, University of Eastern Finland, P.O. Box 1627, FI-70211 Kuopio, Finland

[‡]VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland, Fine Particles, P.O. Box 1000, FI-02044 VTT, Espoo, Finland

ABSTRACT: The market of pellet fuels has undergone drastic changes in Europe in recent years. Traditional raw materials have become inaccessible due to unavailability or dramatic increases in prices. It is possible to use other feasible raw materials for pellet production. However, novel raw materials can have disadvantages with respect to usability and emissions, and these issues need to be considered before such raw materials are taken into wide-scale production. Such factors are especially important in smallscale pellet combustion. Fine particle and gaseous emissions from 21 pellet fuels of various raw materials were studied in a residential pellet boiler. These fuels represented a wide range of stem wood, bark, and forest residues from different tree species, sa well as peat, agricultural biomass, and different mixtures of these. Fuel characteristics, fine particle mass (PM₁) emissions, number emissions, number size distribution, PM₁ chemical composition, and the main gaseous emissions were measured. The smallest PM₁ emissions were measured from peat pellets, followed by wood-peat pellets and woody biomass pellets containing only small amounts of bark. Peat also reduced the PM₁ and CO emissions when blended with woody biomass pellets. Pellets containing bark produced clearly higher PM₁ emissions due to the higher content of ash-forming elements, such as potassium, chlorine, and sodium, in the fuels. The highest PM₁ emissions were seen with straw pellets. Linear correlations were found between emissions and fuel characteristics: fuel K content, fuel K+Na+Cl content, and fuel (Na+K)*2Cl/S molar ratio being the most important parameters. The results show that biomass raw materials significantly affect particle emissions in combustion. The addition of peat to biomass can result in lower particle emissions but higher emissions of SO₂ and HCl.

1. INTRODUCTION

Residential heat production with pellet fuels is an interesting alternative to fossil fuels, such as oil, which can be replaced with pellets rather easily. However, the pellet market in Europe has faced problems with rapidly increasing demand¹ resulting in a lack of raw materials² for pellet production. Furthermore, production of liquid biofuels in recent years has started to compete for the materials previously used for pellet production. The change to a wider assortment of raw materials brings new challenges, which need to be considered when the materials are taken into use. At the same time, the EU has set targets to increase the use of biomass in energy production, which can include an increase in the use of pellets.³

Pellets can be used in both residential combustion and in large combustion plants.⁴ Alternative pellet raw materials have certain characteristics which make their use more challenging compared to normal wood pellets, especially in residential use. Alternative materials often have relatively high ash contents and different compositions of ash forming elements compared to conventional pellet raw materials.⁵ The ash content in commercial pellets is usually under 0.5% but can increase to over 15% in pellet fuels made of agricultural biomass.⁵ High ash content and especially a high alkali metal concentration in a fuel typically leads to high fine particle emissions.⁶ Furthermore, alkali metals in combination with silicates or phosphorus can lead to the problems of ash melting and sintering in the furnace. These topics have been widely discussed elsewhere.⁷⁻¹¹

Particle emissions from small-scale combustion are usually dominated by fine particles (PM_1) , which are in the size class

under 1 μ m.^{12–15} The formation of fine particles in combustion has several disadvantages; in boilers they participate in fouling and corrosion of heat exchangers,¹⁶ are harmful to health when released to ambient air,^{17,18} and affect the climate system in several ways.^{19,20} The emissions from biomass combustion contain species released from the fuel, such as ash particles, nitrogen oxides, and sulfur dioxide and species formed due to incomplete combustion, such as carbon monoxide (CO), organic gaseous compounds (OGC), elemental carbon (EC), and organic material. However, particle emissions from automated pellet combustion processes are mainly comprised of ash species, and the proportion of species from incomplete combustion is low.^{21,22}

Fine particle emissions from continuously fired biomass combustion systems are mainly comprised of alkali metal sulfates, chlorides, and carbonates.^{16,23} Potassium is known to have a key role in the formation of fine particles. K₂SO₄, KCl, and K₂CO₃ have been found to be the most common fine particle components in biomass combustion^{16,23} and in residential pellet combustion appliances.⁶ Other important species are Na, S, Cl, and Zn. The behavior of Na is similar to K, while Zn is mainly found as ZnO and ZnCl₂ in fine particle emissions.²⁴ The ash content and composition of wood fuel has been shown to affect the fine particle emissions during combustion. The sum of K, Na, Cl, and S in the fuel has

Received:July 4, 2013Revised:September 25, 2013Published:September 25, 2013

been found to correlate linearly with fine particle emissions.⁶ However, the release fraction of alkali metals, from the fuel bed into the fine particle fraction, is combustion unit and fuel specific and is affected by the fuel bed temperature and the fuel ash chemical composition.^{8,25,26} For the latter, several factors influencing alkali metal release have been identified. It has been reported, for example, that addition of Cl leads to increased particle emissions.^{21,27} However, there are also some factors that can inhibit the release of alkali metals from fuel. For example, in S rich fuels, alkali metals tend to form less volatile alkali metal sulfates instead of alkali metal chlorides, which are formed in Cl rich fuels, and Cl is mainly emitted to the gas phase as HCl.^{27,28} This phenomenon is well-known to take place in the postcombustion zone of power plants, for example, when peat is added to biomass fuels to prevent the formation of alkali metal chlorides, which cause corrosion in heat exchangers.⁷ Silicates also affect the release of alkali metals by forming alkali silicate compounds, which are less volatile and more likely to remain in the bottom ash.^{9,16} Thus, also the (K +Na)/Si content of fuel has been reported to affect the fine particle emissions²⁹ which is due to reduced volatilization of alkali metals.²⁸

A few studies have been previously published demonstrating the possible effects of using different raw material pellets in the combustion process of residential heating. These studies have highlighted that raw materials can affect the slagging tendencies,³⁰ fine particle emissions,^{6,21,31} and fine particle properties.³² However, much more information is needed for understanding the effects of fuel ash properties on particle emissions. In this study, fuel properties and particle emissions from 21 pellet fuels made of different raw materials were investigated. Pellets made of stem wood of different tree species, roundwood, logging residues, bark, peat, straw, and different mixtures were combusted in a 25 kW pellet boiler. Relations between fuel and fine particle characteristics were investigated to gather knowledge on the effects of fuel characteristics on particle formation in residential pellet combustion.

2. EXPERIMENTS

Combustion experiments were performed in a laboratory environment using a 25 kW pellet boiler manufactured by Biotech GmbH (model PZ-RL 25). The boiler operated with a top-feed fuel input and included an integrated burner and boiler. The boiler had separately controlled primary and secondary air inputs and a lambda probe for ensuring sufficient combustion conditions and high efficiency. The boiler was attached to a heat exchanger to cool the system and enable stable operation. The system has been described elsewhere in more detail.²² Nominal output was used in all of the experiments, and no adjustments were made to combustion behavior between experiments with different fuels. The boiler has been designed for pellet fuels that contain less than 0.5% of ash.

Experiments were carried out with altogether 21 different pellet fuels (Table 1). The used raw material included stem wood, bark, peat, straw, logging residues, and different mixtures of the aforementioned fuels. Fuels were divided into four groups: (1) wood fuels containing wood and/or bark material and later indicated as "W" (woody biomass, stem wood, bark; cases W1 to W11); (2) fuels containing only peat, "P"(cases P1 and P2); (3) fuels containing mixtures of woody biomass and peat "WP" (cases WP1 to WP5); (4) fuels containing straw "S" (cases S1 and S2) and fuels containing a mixture of wood and reed canary grass "WG" (case WG1). Furthermore, the Si/K ratio was used to improve the interpretation of the results. This ratio varies from one fuel type to another, and it is highest with fuels containing peat and rather high with fuels containing straw. The ratio Article

Table 1. Fuel Moisture Content, Ash Content, Net Heating Value, and Ash Fusibility a

fuel	abbrevia tion	moisture, m-%	ash content (%), 550 °C	NHV, MJ/kg	ash fusibility, deformation (DT/A)
woody bi- omass 1	W1	7.5	0.2	18.91	1450
woody bi- omass 2	W2	7.7	0.5	18.83	1210
woody bi- omass 3	W3	9.7	1.3	19.11	1410
woody bi- omass 4	W4	10.6	2.2	19.48	>1450
woody bi- omass 5	W5	10.7	0.7	18.72	1230
woody bi- omass 6	W6	7.3	0.2	19.25	>1450
woody bi- omass 7	W7	9.3	2.3	19.55	1170
woody bi- omass 8	W8	10.7	0.7	19.38	1400
woody bi- omass 9	W9	4.2	0.3	18.97	>1450
woody bi- omass 10	W10	4.1	0.5	18.95	1410
woody bi- omass 11	W11	5.9	0.3	19.15	1440
peat 1	P1	18.8	3.2	19.17	1150
peat 2	P2	12.7	1.5	19.63	1170
wood- peat 1	WP1	10.6	0.9	19.12	1160
wood- peat 2	WP2	12.8	1.8	19.45	1220
wood- peat 3	WP3	11.3	2.0	19.43	1260
wood- peat 4	WP4	10.6	1.4	18.94	1160
wood- peat 5	WP5	7.8	0.2	19.23	1330
straw 1	S1	5.4	4.7	17.88	870
straw 2	S2	5.9	5.3	17.69	950
wood- grass 1	WG1	9.9	1.4	18.63	1170

^aThe ash content is the mass percentage of dry fuel, and the moisture content is the mass percentage of wet fuel. NHV, net heating value. The following analysis methods were used: ISO 540:1995 for ash fusibility,³³ CEN/TS 14775 for ash content,³⁴ and CEN/TS 14918 for heating value.³⁵

is lowest with fuels containing only stem wood, and it increases if there are some contaminants such as soil in the fuel, while further increase is seen when peat is mixed with woody biomass fuels. The ratio of Si/K varied between 0.03 and 0.6 in wood fuels, 8.2 and 30.6 in peat fuels, 0.9 and 1.8 in wood-peat fuels, and 0.9 and 2.7 in straw and wood-grass fuels (Table 2).

Fuel properties have been presented in Tables 1 and 2. There was significant variation in fuel properties. Ash content of the fuel varied between 0.2% (W1, W6, WP5) and 5.3% (S2). Generally, woody raw materials had low ash contents, below 0.5%, and straw pellet had the highest ash contents (Table 1). Ash deformation temperatures were the lowest in straw pellets, peat pellets and WG1. Furthermore, the mixtures of peat and woody raw material had lower ash fusibility temperatures than pure woody biomass pellets.

Flue gases were directed to a 3 m high stack (Figure 1) after the boiler, which was an insulated steel pipe with an inside diameter of 180 mm. After the stack, flue gases were directed outside through a hood using a flue gas fan. There was a space between the hood and the stack to ensure a natural draft in the stack and in the boiler. A portion of the flue gases was taken from the stack to a dilution tunnel through a heated (140 $^{\circ}$ C) and insulated 12 mm diameter sample line. Dilution

Table 2.	Fuel Che	emical Co	mposition	n ^a									
fuel	Al	Ca	Cl	Fe	K	Na	Р	S	Si	Zn	C %	Н%	N %
W1	25.3	633	70	66	420	-	60	<200	140	7.04	51.2	6.4	< 0.1
W2	71.1	1140	70	370	720	37	130	<200	430	14.6	51.2	6.4	< 0.1
W3	224	3060	110	240	1500	100	300	200	690	21.4	52.1	6.3	0.17
W4	31	5040	140	220	2200	130	470	300	760	31.4	53.0	5.9	0.38
W5	18.4	1470	80	210	1000	44	120	<200	350	18.4	50.8	6.4	< 0.1
W6	7.82	728	100	33	470	45	49	<200	99	11.4	51.8	6.3	0.11
W7	194	1910	130	270	2400	62	510	400	1300	27.6	52.0	6.0	0.58
W8	301+	6040+	40	120	1100	24	270	<200	210	67.7*	51.6	6.2	0.25
W9	19.7^{+}	558+	20	36	710	24	130	<200	<100	45.9*	50.5	6.2	0.14
W10	1.07^{+}	1040+	20	89	1200	20	210	200	<100	29*	50.5	6.3	0.23
W11	55.4+	589+	20	79	680	30	120	<200	150	17.3*	50.9	6.2	0.12
P1	923	2240	200	3600	121	-	400	1200	3700	5.2	52.1	5.9	1.12
P2	738	1810	210	2900	280	150	280	800	2300	3.39	53.3	6.2	0.71
WP1	338	1400	140	1200	520	100	180	500	950	9.17	52.0	6.3	0.40
WP2	534	3930	180	1200	1400	170	400	500	1300	21.1	53.1	6.0	0.56
WP3	523	4050	150	840	1700	220	430	400	200	22.8	52.9	6.0	0.43
WP4	304	1860	180	1100	1000	97	210	500	1200	17.4	51.8	6.3	0.41
WP5	42.6	765	60	133	430	<25	56	<200	81	8.83	51.4	6.5	0.13
S1	527+	3780 ⁺	1600	520	8600	130	1500	1200	7300	652*	47.7	6.0	0.71
S2	55.4+	589 ⁺	1100	270	6000	180	1200	1100	10400	17.3*	46.9	5.9	1.03
WG1	36.5	893	150	180	770	50	190	200	2100	12	50.3	6.3	0.28

^{*a*}The elemental analyses are presented as mg kg⁻¹ of dry fuel, where other units are not indicated. The following fuel analysis methods were applied: S (ASTM D 4239);⁵⁶ Cl (CEN/TS 15289);⁵⁷ C, H, N (CEN/TS 15104);³⁸ Na, K, Fe, P, Si (CEN/TS 15290:2006 A).³⁹ Zn, HNO₃ dissolution in microwave oven (EPA 3051)⁴⁰ and inductively coupled mass spectrometry ICP-MS or HF-HNO₃ dissolution with ICP-MS (*); Al, Ca, HNO₃ dissolution in microwave oven (EPA 3051) and inductively coupled atomic emission spectrometry (ICP-AES) or HF-HNO₃ dissolution with ICP-MS from ashed sample (+). Sample was reduced to ash in 520 °C for 12 h.



Figure 1. Schematic drawing of the experimental setup.

air in the tunnel was taken from the laboratory air and was filtered to remove nitrogen oxides, hydrocarbons, and particles. The dilution tunnel is 8.5 m long with a 300 mm diameter and has been built according to the standard ISO 8178-1.⁴¹ The volume flow in the dilution tunnel was approximately 650 m³/h during the experiments. The dilution system has been used previously in many different emissions studies of residential wood combustion.^{6,42–44} Flue gas temperatures were measured with K-type thermocouples at the points where the flue gas entered the stack, in the stack where the sample is drawn to the dilution tunnel approximately 3 m after entering the stack, and in the dilution tunnel where the sample was taken (Figure 1).

Dilution ratios (DR) were calculated by using CO_2 concentration in the undiluted flue gas and in the diluted flue gas using an equation described by Sippula et al.⁴⁵ Particle concentrations were dilution corrected by multiplying results with the DR and calculated as dry flue gas. All of the emission results were calculated in relation to fuel energy input to the burning process.⁴⁶

7046

Article

Table 5.	Gased	Jus Emissions,	Dilution Katios	, sample rei	nperatures, FI	ue Gas Tempe	eratures, and	AIT-10-Fuel K	auo
fuel	λ	flue gas T, °C	sample gas T, $^\circ\mathrm{C}$	DR	СО	OGC	NO _X	SO ₂	HCl
W1	1.9	145 ± 2.07	33.3 ± 1.84	128 ± 6.30	107 ± 108	0.76 ± 0.54	60.7 ± 1.79	0.00 ± 0.06	0.19 ± 0.13
W2	1.8	155 ± 3.49	27.8 ± 0.77	164 ± 14.8	206 ± 161	1.52 ± 1.49	81.9 ± 3.07	0.15 ± 0.53	0.27 ± 0.14
W3	2.0	159 ± 4.52	27.3 ± 0.78	158 ± 10.4	106 ± 37.2	1.04 ± 0.37	128 ± 4.96	0.05 ± 0.18	0.26 ± 0.13
W4	2.0	150 ± 1.34	24.6 ± 1.10	143 ± 6.16	127 ± 58.3	0.83 ± 0.26	134 ± 4.68	2.21 ± 2.75	0.08 ± 0.09
W5	2.0	155 ± 1.88	27.4 ± 0.70	163 ± 13.7	94.8 ± 42.3	1.11 ± 0.49	79.7 ± 2.44	-	-
W6	1.9	153 ± 2.90	25.5 ± 0.87	138 ± 6.10	185 ± 170	1.16 ± 1.34	50.2 ± 1.39	7.54 ± 0.56	0.08 ± 0.09
W7	2.1	151 ± 2.93	27.1 ± 0.68	128 ± 8.04	236 ± 113	3.38 ± 1.88	168 ± 7.98	13.3 ± 1.49	0.24 ± 0.29
W8	2.2	139 ± 2.90	27.2 ± 0.97	125 ± 21.2	316 ± 138	4.66 ± 2.74	112 ± 4.25	4.80 ± 5.55	0.02 ± 0.02
W9	2.0	138 ± 2.68	18.8 ± 1.16	109 ± 9.23	279 ± 377	3.33 ± 7.41	80.2 ± 3.67	1.68 ± 0.42	0.13 ± 0.09
W10	1.9	131 ± 2.84	22.6 ± 0.78	106 ± 14.0	455 ± 408	4.21 ± 7.46	126 ± 6.72	2.35 ± 0.50	0.27 ± 0.19
W11	1.9	137 ± 1.77	22.2 ± 0.83	106 ± 5.43	121 ± 126	0.90 ± 1.39	71.0 ± 2.01	2.42 ± 0.31	0.10 ± 0.08
P1	2.9	134 ± 2.97	29.3 ± 0.47	135 ± 30.6	398 ± 324	6.58 ± 6.04	438 ± 32.5	100 ± 13.1	0.60 ± 2.00
P2	1.9	146 ± 2.97	26.1 ± 1.44	139 ± 2.31	8.76 ± 30.5	0.53 ± 0.18	249 ± 17.4	97.7 ± 6.16	1.93 ± 0.95
WP1	1.9	161 ± 1.76	28.6 ± 1.20	163 ± 13.3	13.2 ± 21.8	0.41 ± 0.13	155 ± 5.35	-	-
WP2	1.9	159 ± 4.02	27.5 ± 0.80	159 ± 8.90	24.0 ± 9.74	0.46 ± 0.09	260 ± 9.05	-	-
WP3	1.9	157 ± 2.40	27.5 ± 0.88	162 ± 11.0	43.6 ± 18.7	0.50 ± 0.10	156 ± 6.61	22.6 ± 0.87	0.17 ± 0.06
WP4	1.9	157 ± 2.01	27.4 ± 0.78	164 ± 3.45	38.1 ± 18.2	0.64 ± 0.25	149 ± 4.01	32.9 ± 1.03	0.20 ± 0.07
WP5	1.8	145 ± 2.92	25.6 ± 1.04	133 ± 2.43	181 ± 175	1.32 ± 1.93	60.9 ± 2.13	9.05 ± 2.86	0.27 ± 0.13
S1	2.4	144 ± 23.0	29.0 ± 0.93	187 ± 41.8	728 ± 1480	-	292 ± 43.3	37.6 ± 10.4	9.87 ± 3.41
S2	2.2	148 ± 26.3	31.7 ± 0.75	185 ± 20.8	311 ± 256	-	305 ± 47.8	41.4 ± 3.31	12.46 ± 3.99
WG1	2.4	142 ± 9.29	24.1 ± 1.49	140 ± 25.5	1250 ± 2030	17.2 ± 134	122 ± 54.0	21.1 ± 8.04	0.11 ± 1.28
^a Emissio	ns of C	0, OGC, NO _x , S	SO ₂ , and HCl are	presented as av	verage emissions	factors (mg MJ	-1).		

Table 3. Gaseous Emissions, Dilution Ratios, Sample Temperatures, Flue Gas Temperatures, and Air-to-Fuel Ratio a

Combustion Procedure and Sampling Times. The boiler was turned on approximately three hours before the start of the experiment to ensure stability during the experiment. Each measurement lasted 6-7 h, and during this time three 1.5-2 h filter samples were collected. Collection of particles with Dekati Low Pressure Impactor (DLPI, Dekati Ltd.) and online measurement devices were sampling throughout the whole experiment. Averaged values for the experiment period were taken from the continuous measurements and are presented later. In general, the relatively short experiment time compared to real-life usage enabled sufficient combustion, including with ash-rich fuels. However, the experiments with S1 and S2 needed to be modified due to severe ash melting problems: each filter collection lasted only 1 h and between the first and the second filter collections a manual grate-cleaning procedure was implemented to remove partly melted ash from the grate and to provide satisfactory stability for combustion through the experiment.

Gas Measurements. Gas emissions were measured in the stack with two measurement devices: First, an ABB Hartman & Braun gas analyzer system (ABB Cemas Gas Analyzing Rack, ABB Automation GmbH), which continuously measures O_2 , NO_{X0} , CO, and CO_2 and also includes a flame ionization detector (FID) for organic gaseous carbon (OGC) measurement, and second, a Fourier Transform Infrared gas analyzer (FTIR, Gasmet Technologies Ltd.). Furthermore, a CO_2 analyzer (ABB AO2040, Uras 14, ABB Automation GmbH) was used for continuous measurement of CO_2 concentration in the diluted sample gas to calculate the DR in the diluted sample.

Particle Measurements. Particle measurements were done for the diluted sample in the dilution tunnel, where DR varied between 106 (W11) and 187 (S2) (Table 3). Particle measurements included number-size distribution with an Electrical Low Pressure Impactor (ELPI, Dekati Ltd.), mass-size distributions with a DLPI and PM₁ filter collections. The ELPI was operated with a flow rate of 10 lpm and with sintered impaction plates. A filter stage was applied in ELPI for tests of P2, W4, WP5, W6–W8, and S1. The mass-size distribution plates, which were greased with toluene–Apiezon-L (M and I Materials Ltd.) solution to prevent particle bouncing. PM₁ filter collection included two parallel systems, which both included precutoff cascade impactors (Dekati Ltd.) with a 1 μ m cutoff diameter. First, a PM₁ sample was collected on a polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE, PALL Life Sciences; type: Teflo P/N R2P[O47) filter and second, a set of

one PTFE filter and three quartz filters (PALLFLEX Membrae Filter; type: Tissuequartz 2500QAT-UP) were used with organic and elemental carbon contents from these filters analyzed.²² All of the filters were placed on a 47 mm stainless steel filter holder (Gelman Sciences, model 2220). Gravimetric analyses were performed with a microbalance (Mettler-Toledo MTS) prior to and after the collection in a room with stable conditions (RH 40%, 20 °C) where they were kept at least 24 h prior to weighing.

Particle Analyses. Organic (OC), elemental (EC), and carbonate (CO_3) carbon analyses were performed for the quartz filter samples with a thermal-optical method⁴⁷ using a Carbon Aerosol Analyzer (Sun Laboratories Inc.) according to the National Institute for Occupational Health NIOSH 5040 procedure.⁴⁸ A detailed description of the OC/EC collection and analyses used in this study has been presented elsewhere.⁶⁴⁵

The elemental analyses (Ag, Al, As, B, Ba, Be, Bi, Ca, Cd, Co, Cr, Cu, Fe, K, Li, Mg, Mn, Mo, Na, Ni, Pb, Rb, Sb, Se, Th,, Ti, Tl, U, V, and Zn) were conducted from three replicate filter samples for each fuel with ICP-MS (hydrofluoric acid and nitric acid dissolution), and anions (Br, Cl, F, SO₄, NO₃, PO₄) were analyzed with ion chromatography (IC, water dissolution).

3. RESULTS

The combustion process stayed relatively stable during the experiments due to the automatic operation of the pellet boiler. Flue gas temperatures, which were measured at the point where flue gases entered the stack, varied from 134 °C (P1) to 161 °C (WP1) (Table 3). In most experiments the standard deviations of the average temperatures were approximately 2-4 °C, but the problems in the combustion of straw pellets increased the variation of flue gas temperatures (Table 3) as well as that of other combustion parameters. The lowest air-to-fuel ratio was in WP5 (1.82) (Table 3) and the highest in P1 (2.63). The average air-to-fuel ratio of all experiments was 2.01. The filter samples for P1 and WG1 were excluded from the data analysis of the last measurement periods, as were the results from the continuous measurement devices, due to significant variation in the process. However, DLPI measurement was done throughout the whole experiment.

Gaseous Emissions. CO and OGC emissions from automated pellet combustion devices are generally low, which is achieved by precise control of the process. However, varying pellet raw materials significantly altered the gaseous emissions that were measured. The lowest CO and OGC emissions were measured for the fuels containing peat (plain or mixed), except in P1 where ash melt on the grate affected the combustion, especially toward the end of the experiment (Table 3). The lowest CO emission factor was measured from P2 (8.8 mg/MJ) and the highest from WG1 (1250 mg/MJ). CO emission factors from most of the fuels were under 200 mg/MJ (Table 3), and elevated CO emission factors were measured from W2, W7-W10 and S1, S2, and WG1. The OGC emissions varied between 0.41 mgC/MJ (WP1) and 17 mgC/MJ (WG1) (OGC was not measured from straw pellets). Generally, the OGC emission factors were under 2 mgC/MJ. Pellets containing peat and straw, which also had higher sulfur content, had notable SO_2 emissions, with the highest emission of 100 mg/MJ (P1). Fuels containing only stem wood and bark had very low SO2 emissions, being close to the detection limit of the FTIR analyzer (Table 4). HCl emissions were generally low. Only S1

Table 4. Emission Factors of PM_1 , Carbon Compounds, Number Emissions, and Mean Particle Sizes^{*a*}

fuel	PM_1	OC	EC	CO_3	N _{Tot}	GMD	MMD
W1	12.4	0.28	0.7	0.74	1.6×10^{13}	68.6	138.9
W2	13.8	0.71	2.54	0.28	6.2×10^{13}	55.3	108.2
W3	28.0	0.56	0.21	0.20	5.8×10^{13}	69.7	156.2
W4	45.8	0	0.21	0.76	4.3×10^{13}	83.6	182.2
W5	20.7	0.26	0.39	1.01	5.3×10^{13}	62.4	131.8
W6	18.3	0	0.33	0	5.1×10^{13}	53.0	104.8
W7	27.5	0.80	0.21	0	5.4×10^{13}	70.8	154.4
W8	19.1	0.60	0.34	0	3.8×10^{13}	69.3	157.4
W9	14.0	1.28	5.63	0	7.7×10^{13}	51.5	119.2
W10	22.8	0.23	4.81	0	6.7×10^{13}	69.5	176.7
W11	9.7	0.82	2.04	0	6.0×10^{13}	51.2	157.5
P1	5.1	0.74	0.06	0.71	1.9×10^{13}	55.9	504.3
P2	2.9	0	0.09	0.45	3.4×10^{13}	43.6	234.3
WP1	5.2	0.21	0.15	0.84	2.4×10^{13}	53.1	154.7
WP2	22.7	0.50	0.17	0.21	4.2×10^{13}	74.0	151.7
WP3	27.7	0.48	0.12	0.78	4.4×10^{13}	77.5	152.9
WP4	11.2	0.11	0.23	0	2.8×10^{13}	65.6	139.7
WP5	10.8	1.06	1.73	0.54	4.5×10^{13}	46.1	112.8
S1	195.5	1.84	1.23	0	9.5×10^{13}	136.5	230.5
S2	125.7	2.20	23.1	0	7.5×10^{13}	127.9	242.7
WG1	23.0	2.07	2.62	0.69	5.8×10^{13}	50.8	126.1
PM ₁ , E	C, OC, (CO ₂ , m	MJ^{-1} ;	N _{Tot} , #	MJ ⁻¹ ; GMD	and MN	1D, nm.
The val	ues fron	1 contir	uous n	neasurei	ments (N _T .	and GM	ſD) are

average values from the experiment period.

and S2 produced considerable HCl emissions, 9.9 mg/MJ and 12 mg/MJ, respectively. Straw pellets also had the highest fuel Cl concentrations. NO_x emissions were strongly affected by the fuel N content and varied between 50 mg/MJ and 440 mg/MJ from W6 and P1, respectively.

Particle Emissions. Particle Size Distributions and Number Emissions. Only unimodal particle number-size distributions were measured. A 6-fold difference was seen between the lowest $(1.6 \times 10^{13} \text{ #/MJ})$ and the highest $(9.5 \times 10^{13} \text{ #/MJ})$ number emissions, which were from W1 and S1, respectively (Table 4). The lowest particle number emissions were measured from fuels containing peat and/or stem wood,

Article

but not bark, which seems to increase the number emissions. However, the largest emissions were measured from straw pellets (S1 and S2). Particle geometric mean diameters (GMD) varied between 43 nm (P2) and 136 nm (S1). Only S1, S2, and W4 had GMD over 80 nm, and particles from fuels containing bark or straw seem to have slightly larger particle size than those from pellets containing only woody biomass or peat. Mass mean diameters (MMD) were calculated from DLPI results, and they varied between 104 nm (W6) and 504 nm (P1) (Table 5). The highest mass concentrations and particle sizes were observed for S1 and S2. All MMDs, excluding those from peat and straw pellet fuels, were below 200 nm. Mass-size distributions, except P1, were generally unimodal, and the particle mass was almost entirely in the fine mode (<1 um). However, in some cases particles were found also outside the fine particle mode in the size range $1-10 \ \mu$ m. Particularly with P1, about 44% of the PM10 mass was observed in the size range $1-10 \ \mu m$.

Fine Particle Mass Emissions. PM_1 emissions varied considerably between the extremes of 5.1 mg/MJ and 195 mg/MJ from P1 and S1, respectively (Table 4). Generally, fuels containing peat had small PM_1 emissions, and mixing of peat with other raw materials decreased the emissions of PM_1 . Fuels containing stem wood also had relatively small PM_1 emissions. Straw fuels had clearly the highest PM_1 emissions.

Particle Chemical Composition. PM_1 was mainly composed of ash components (Table 5). The most abundant ash species were potassium (K) and sulfate (SO₄). Other common ash species were Na, Zn, Cl, CO₃, and NO₃. Detectable amounts of PO₄ were found from the samples of S1 and S2. For most of the fuels PM_1 did not contain large amounts of EC or OC, which comprised less than 10% of the total PM_1 . Due to variation in the process, there were some exceptions where 20–49% of the PM_1 contained unburned carbon, EC, and OC (Table 4).

Release Fractions of Ash Forming Elements: K, Na, Cl, S, and Zn. The release fractions of ash forming elements, K, Na, S, Zn, and Cl, to PM_1 were calculated based on fuel concentrations and PM_1 concentrations in the samples (Table 6). The release of S and Cl into gas phase components of SO_2 and HCl were also taken into account. The release fractions of K to PM_1 varied between 2.8% and 15.7% from WG1 and S1, respectively, though it was generally between 8% and 12%. The lowest release fractions of K to PM_1 were found for P2, WP1, and WG1 and the highest for W3, WP3, W4, W5, W6, and S1.

Release fractions of Na to PM_1 varied significantly from 0.4% to 13% for W9 and W8, respectively, but were mainly between 5% and 7% (Table 6). Na did not contribute a significant fraction of PM_1 . Release fractions of Zn to PM_1 varied more significantly between different fuels. The highest release was 63.8% (P2) and the lowest 4.8% (W11). The release fraction of Zn to PM_1 stayed relatively constant within the different fuel groups, but it seems to decrease with increasing fuel Zn content. However, there were some exceptions, such as W9 and W11, where the release fraction was significantly lower than with other fuels.

The release fraction of S to PM_1 varied significantly in accordance with the fuel properties (Table 6). For pellets containing woody biomass, 20 to 55% of S was found in PM_1 as SO_4 (except W6, 10%). Furthermore, from WP fuels the releases of S to PM_1 decreased and S shifted from PM_1 to the gas phase as SO_2 (Table 3). The release fraction of S to the gas

Table 5.	Emission Fa	ctors for th	ne Ash-Form	ning Conter	nt and Cor	ntent of Inc	lividual Me	etals (mg M	J ⁻¹) of Em	itted PM ₁ ^a
fuel	Cl	Ca	K	Na	Zn	Fe	NO ₃	SO4	PO ₄	other analyzed
W1	<dl< td=""><td>0.33</td><td>2.76</td><td>0.11</td><td>0.14</td><td>0.21</td><td>0.42</td><td>2.22</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.68</td></dl<></td></dl<>	0.33	2.76	0.11	0.14	0.21	0.42	2.22	<dl< td=""><td>0.68</td></dl<>	0.68
W2	0.88	0.33	3.49	0.24	0.26	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>3.37</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.14</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>3.37</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.14</td></dl<></td></dl<>	3.37	<dl< td=""><td>0.14</td></dl<>	0.14
W3	1.13	0.26	8.27	0.62	0.46	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>11.49</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.30</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>11.49</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.30</td></dl<></td></dl<>	11.49	<dl< td=""><td>0.30</td></dl<>	0.30
W4	1.30	<dl< td=""><td>12.9</td><td>0.65</td><td>0.62</td><td>0.18</td><td>0.29</td><td>17.6</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.29</td></dl<></td></dl<>	12.9	0.65	0.62	0.18	0.29	17.6	<dl< td=""><td>0.29</td></dl<>	0.29
W5	0.66	0.25	6.49	0.23	0.38	0.14	<dl< td=""><td>6.98</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.19</td></dl<></td></dl<>	6.98	<dl< td=""><td>0.19</td></dl<>	0.19
W6	2.58	<dl< td=""><td>2.72</td><td>1.69</td><td>0.15</td><td>0.10</td><td><dl< td=""><td>2.36</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.15</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	2.72	1.69	0.15	0.10	<dl< td=""><td>2.36</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.15</td></dl<></td></dl<>	2.36	<dl< td=""><td>0.15</td></dl<>	0.15
W7	2.59	0.16	8.19	0.21	0.89	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>8.75</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.19</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>8.75</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.19</td></dl<></td></dl<>	8.75	<dl< td=""><td>0.19</td></dl<>	0.19
W8	1.03	0.29	5.04	0.16	0.34	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>6.06</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.15</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>6.06</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.15</td></dl<></td></dl<>	6.06	<dl< td=""><td>0.15</td></dl<>	0.15
W9	0.71	<dl< td=""><td>2.77</td><td>0.005</td><td>0.20</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.18</td><td>2.66</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.02</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	2.77	0.005	0.20	<dl< td=""><td>0.18</td><td>2.66</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.02</td></dl<></td></dl<>	0.18	2.66	<dl< td=""><td>0.02</td></dl<>	0.02
W10	1.42	<dl< td=""><td>5.11</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.24</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.17</td><td>6.46</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.06</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	5.11	<dl< td=""><td>0.24</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.17</td><td>6.46</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.06</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	0.24	<dl< td=""><td>0.17</td><td>6.46</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.06</td></dl<></td></dl<>	0.17	6.46	<dl< td=""><td>0.06</td></dl<>	0.06
W11	0.76	<dl< td=""><td>2.45</td><td>0.02</td><td>0.04</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.15</td><td>2.63</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.02</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	2.45	0.02	0.04	<dl< td=""><td>0.15</td><td>2.63</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.02</td></dl<></td></dl<>	0.15	2.63	<dl< td=""><td>0.02</td></dl<>	0.02
P1	<dl< td=""><td>0.41</td><td>0.58</td><td>0.32</td><td>0.14</td><td>0.24</td><td><dl< td=""><td>1.32</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.33</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	0.41	0.58	0.32	0.14	0.24	<dl< td=""><td>1.32</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.33</td></dl<></td></dl<>	1.32	<dl< td=""><td>0.33</td></dl<>	0.33
P2	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>0.48</td><td>0.48</td><td>0.11</td><td>0.37</td><td><dl< td=""><td>1.04</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.26</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>0.48</td><td>0.48</td><td>0.11</td><td>0.37</td><td><dl< td=""><td>1.04</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.26</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	0.48	0.48	0.11	0.37	<dl< td=""><td>1.04</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.26</td></dl<></td></dl<>	1.04	<dl< td=""><td>0.26</td></dl<>	0.26
WP1	0.61	0.24	1.60	0.23	0.22	0.10	<dl< td=""><td>1.07</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.12</td></dl<></td></dl<>	1.07	<dl< td=""><td>0.12</td></dl<>	0.12
WP2	3.06	0.25	6.81	0.83	0.46	0.15	<dl< td=""><td>6.90</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.33</td></dl<></td></dl<>	6.90	<dl< td=""><td>0.33</td></dl<>	0.33
WP3	2.33	0.17	8.84	0.84	0.53	0.09	<dl< td=""><td>10.3</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.18</td></dl<></td></dl<>	10.3	<dl< td=""><td>0.18</td></dl<>	0.18
WP4	1.84	0.19	3.47	0.28	0.41	0.09	<dl< td=""><td>2.29</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.14</td></dl<></td></dl<>	2.29	<dl< td=""><td>0.14</td></dl<>	0.14
WP5	0.68	<dl< td=""><td>1.88</td><td>0.10</td><td>0.13</td><td>0.14</td><td><dl< td=""><td>1.63</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.15</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	1.88	0.10	0.13	0.14	<dl< td=""><td>1.63</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.15</td></dl<></td></dl<>	1.63	<dl< td=""><td>0.15</td></dl<>	0.15
S1	43.9	<dl< td=""><td>71.34</td><td>0.35</td><td>0.72</td><td>0.11</td><td><dl< td=""><td>14.4</td><td>10.1</td><td>0.17</td></dl<></td></dl<>	71.34	0.35	0.72	0.11	<dl< td=""><td>14.4</td><td>10.1</td><td>0.17</td></dl<>	14.4	10.1	0.17
S2	16.8	<dl< td=""><td>27.41</td><td>0.61</td><td>0.41</td><td>0.03</td><td><dl< td=""><td>4.32</td><td>13.8</td><td>0.61</td></dl<></td></dl<>	27.41	0.61	0.41	0.03	<dl< td=""><td>4.32</td><td>13.8</td><td>0.61</td></dl<>	4.32	13.8	0.61
WG1	0.30	<dl< td=""><td>1.17</td><td>0.14</td><td>0.24</td><td>0.25</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.45</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.21</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	1.17	0.14	0.24	0.25	<dl< td=""><td>0.45</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.21</td></dl<></td></dl<>	0.45	<dl< td=""><td>0.21</td></dl<>	0.21
a"Other a	nalyzed" is the	sum of othe	er chemical co	omponents th	at were anal	yzed but are	not presente	ed. <dl, td="" und<=""><td>er detection</td><td>limit.</td></dl,>	er detection	limit.

Table 6. Release Fractions of K, Na, Cl, S, and P from Fuel to Flue Gas as PM₁ and Gas Compounds^a

			PM	(%)			stack g	as (%)
fuel	K	Cl	S	Na	Р	Zn	S	Cl
W1	12.4	-	-	-	-	38.3	-	5.3
W2	9.1	23.6	-	12.1	-	33.8	-	6.9
W3	10.5	19.7	36.7	11.9	-	41.2	0.25	4.4
W4	13.2	18.1	38.0	9.8	-	38.5	7.2	1.1
W5	12.2	15.5	-	9.9	-	38.7	-	-
W6	11.1	49.7	-	(72.2)	-	26.0	-	1.6
W7	6.7	39.0	14.3	6.5	-	25.7	32.6	3.5
W8	8.8	49.6	-	13.0	-	23.8	-	0.97
W9	7.4	67.1	-	0.40	-	8.6	-	11.7
W10	8.1	134	20.4	-	-	15.9	11.2	25.0
W11	6.8	72	-	1.4	-	4.8	-	8.9
P1	9.2	-	0.70	-	-	51.7	80.2	5.6
P2	3.3	-	0.85	6.2	-	63.8	(120)	17.5
WP1	5.9	8.4	1.36	4.3	-	46.4	-	-
WP2	9.5	33.1	9.0	9.4	-	42.6	-	-
WP3	10.1	30.2	16.7	7.4	-	45.1	55.0	2.1
WP4	6.6	19.4	2.9	5.4	-	44.7	62.3	2.0
WP5	8.4	21.9	-	-	-	27.9	-	8.4
S1	15.7	52.0	7.6	5.1	3.9	20.9	28.0	10.7
S2	8.7	19.9	2.3	6.4	6.6	11.9	33.3	19.5
WG1	2.8	3.7	1.4	5.2	-	36.7	98.4	1.4

^aFor some fuels and elements, the release fraction could not be measured because of the fuel concentration or/and PM₁ concentration were under the detection limit.

phase as SO_2 varied between 0.25% (W3) and 98.4% (WG1) (Table 6). Most of the PM₁ samples contained Cl (Table 3). For P1 and P2, no Cl was detected from the PM1. The release fraction of Cl to the gas phase varied from 0.97% (W8) to 25% (W10).

4. DISCUSSION

The pellet boiler in this study was designed for low ash content fuels, but short experiment periods enabled stable processes.

However, some variation in emissions was seen in high ash content and low ash melting fuels. Elevated CO and OGC emissions factors, for example, indicated such problems in WG1, P1, S1, and S2. In most of the experiments, PM₁ emissions were mainly comprised of particle ash, and emissions from incomplete combustion were low. This is typical for wellcontrolled pellet boilers and burners.^{6,21,29} Typical ash species in PM1 have been previously identified as sulfates, chlorides,

and carbonates of alkali metals (K and Na) and zinc oxide ${\rm (ZnO)}.^{6,49}$

Fuels Containing Woody Biomass. Altogether 14 types of wood, bark, and wood-bark mixtures were used in the experiments. Such fuels have a Si/K ratio smaller than 0.60 and typically low ash and Si content, and high ash melting temperatures, indicating that slagging is unlikely to happen in small-scale appliances. Gaseous emissions, CO, OGC, SO₂, HCl, and NO_x, were generally low or around the average of other results in this study. However, there were some exceptions, such as W8 and W10, from which CO and OGC emissions were slightly increased.

Fuels containing wood and/or bark were S and Cl poor, and (K+Na)/(Cl+2S) molar ratios varied from 2.2 to 34. The ratios above one are known to indicate low emissions of SO₂ and HCl.^{50,51} Thus, the fuel S is mainly bound as SO₄ in PM₁ (Table 6). However W7, for example, produced SO₂ emissions of 13.3 mg/MJ, which was higher than from other wood/bark fuels but lower than from peat or straw fuels (Table 3). This can be explained with the lowest (K+Na)/(Cl+2S) molar ratio within this group.

The fuels with the largest amounts of potassium within this group, W4 and W7, produced the largest PM_1 emissions. K and SO_4 were the most abundant components in the samples, showing that the major compound in PM_1 was K_2SO_4 . The release fractions of K and Na to PM_1 were relatively high, which was probably due to low fuel Si contents²⁹ and low S content.⁵² Furthermore, clear differences in PM_1 emissions of two fuels (W4 and W7) with similar amounts of alkali metals were probably due to different Si contents in the fuels. The results are in agreement with earlier studies,^{6,29,31,53} showing that the K content of fuel plays an important role in the formation of fine particles. Furthermore, similar to earlier studies,^{9,25} the results here indicate that Si in fuel decreases alkali metal release in small-scale pellet combustion.

Peat Fuels. The chemical composition of the peat fuels differed significantly from the biomass fuels, but also the two peat pellets had significant differences in their chemical compositions (Tables 1 and 2). Peat fuels contained more Si, S, and Fe but less alkali metals than the woody biomass fuels. Due to this, the fine particle emissions and K-release fraction to fine particle were low with peat fuels. On the other hand, due to the low (K+Na)/(Cl+2S) ratio of the fuel, there were elevated SO₂ and HCl emissions. SO₂ emissions from peat fuels were about 2-fold those of S1 and S2, even though the sulfur contents of the fuels were roughly the same.

CO and OGC emissions from P2 were small, but the emissions from P1 were clearly affected by the ash melt on the grate which interrupted the combustion toward the end of the experiment. Despite this, the emissions of OC and EC in PM₁ were low for both peat fuels. Previous studies have reported larger particle emissions⁵⁴ and emissions of organic gaseous compounds⁵⁵ for peat than wood fuels. However, these results are most likely connected to insufficient combustion conditions for peat fuels rather than to peat pellet qualities in general.

Generally, the use of pure peat fuels is a little troublesome in residential pellet appliances, which are designed for low ash fuel qualities, due to the low ash melting temperature and relatively high ash content (Tables 1 and 2). In combustion appliances that are designed for high ash content fuels, it should be possible to use peat pellets without problems. However, SO_2 and HCl emissions from peat pellets are higher compared to woody biomass pellets and are difficult to avoid in small-scale systems. Therefore blending of peat with woody biomass is an attractive option.

Mixtures of Woody Biomass and Peat. Five different mixtures of woody biomass and peat were studied. The CO and OGC emissions were generally low and lower than those measured from woody biomass fuels alone (Table 3). These results indicate that peat has a decreasing effect on CO and OGC emissions when it is mixed with woody biomass. The SO₂ and HCl emissions were higher than with wood pellets, as can be expected from the lower (K+Na)/(Cl+2S) ratios, compared to woody pellets. A very low PM1 emission (5.2 mg/MJ) factor was measured for WP1 (Table 4), which was surprising since the sum of K+Na+Cl in the fuel, for example, was larger than that of W1 (PM1 emission 12.4 mg/MJ). Thus the release of K in WP1 was relatively low (6%) and clearly indicates that the addition of peat to woody biomass decreases PM1 emissions (Table 6). This can be due to two reasons. First, the low fuel Cl/S ratio prefers formation of alkali sulfates instead of chlorides which may decrease volatilization of alkali metals from the fuel bed.²⁸ Second, the high fuel Si content increases formation of alkali metal silicates and consequently prevents release of alkali metals into fine particle fractions^{16,56}

Fuels with Agricultural Biomass. Straw and wood-grass (S1, S2, and WG1) had high ash contents and significantly different fuel ash characteristics compared to the other fuels studied. Especially S1 and S2, but also WG1, had low ash melting temperatures causing formation of ash melt on the grate, which disturbed the combustion process by interfering with the air input at the grate, as well as high concentrations of Si, P, K, Cl, and S (Tables 1 and 2).

Because of the slightly modified experiment procedure with straw fuels, it was possible to keep incomplete combustion at a tolerable level, and the particle emissions were mainly composed of ash species. However, emissions of CO were slightly higher from WG1 and S1, compared to woody biomass fuels (Table 3). The (K+Na)/(Cl+2S) ratio was roughly the same as in WP fuels. The release fraction of S to gas from S1 and S2 was clearly lower than from peat fuels, and the release fraction of Cl to the gas phase was similar to that of peat fuels (Table 6). Even though the contents of S and Cl in the fuel were high, the low release fractions to the gas phase resulted in only moderate formation of SO₂ and HCl emissions. On the contrary, PM1 emissions from S1 and S2 were 195 mg/MJ and 126 mg/MJ, respectively, and the GMD was about double that of other fuels. Similarly, the PM1 contained a significant amount of K, most likely in the form of KCl salts, as can be seen from the small content of SO4 and high content of Cl in PM1. In addition, PO4 was found in PM1 from straw fuels, which are most likely present as K-phosphates.²¹ The release of K was 16% from S1, which was the highest in this study (Table 6). Together with high K fuel content, this resulted in very high K emissions. The release fractions of Cl to PM1 were 20-52%. Generally, straw pellets are not recommended for use in residential combustion appliances⁵⁷ because of their high ash, N, Cl, and K content, which cause problems in emissions, deposit formation, and corrosion. These conclusions are well supported by the results of this study.

Correlations. Linear correlations between fuels and emission characteristics were analyzed from the results. The goal was to investigate if some fuel characteristics could explain the formation of PM_1 and gaseous emissions. Due to the very different fuel characteristics of S1 and S2, the correlations without these two fuels were studied as well.

For wood fuels, fuel ash content has previously been found to correlate with PM_1 emissions,⁶ but in this study, only a weak correlation was found between fuel ash and PM_1 emission factors ($R^2 = 0.63$); if S1 and S2 are excluded from the data, the correlation was nonexistent. However, the sum of K, Na, and Cl in the fuel, were clearly found to correlate with the PM_1 emission factors (Figure 3), giving $R^2 = 0.98$ with all



Figure 2. Correlation between the sum of K, Na, and Cl in the fuel and PM_1 emissions.



Figure 3. Correlation between fuel K content and PM₁ emissions.

experimental data points, and $R^2 = 0.72$ with S1 and S2 excluded from the inspection of the results. In addition, simply the fuel's K content was found to correlate with the PM1 emissions factor ($R^2 = 0.98$, $R^2 = 0.75$ without straw pellets) (Figure 2). Cl, which is also known to be important in PM1 formation in combustion of biomass,^{27,28} correlated with the PM_1 emission factors ($R^2 = 0.93$), but there was no correlation with the S1 and S2 excluded from the analysis. Fuel (K +Na)*2Cl/S (molar ratio) correlated with the sum of K and Na in PM₁ ($R^2 = 0.95$ and $R^2 = 0.71$ without straw pellets) (Figure 5). Good correlations between the values may indicate that the fuel Cl/S ratio affects the alkali metal release which agrees with earlier findings. 27,28 However, some of the high-sulfur content fuels, as peat, contained also silicates which also affect the alkali metal release. Therefore, differences between alkali metal release fractions are most likely combined effects of both fuel Cl/S ratio and Si content of the fuels. NO_x emissions clearly correlated with fuel N concentrations, showing that NO_X emissions are formed mainly from the fuel N, while thermal- NO_X formation does not influence the emissions⁷ (Figure 4).

Zinc was the most abundant metal found in the fine particle emissions and is interesting due to its adverse health effects.⁵⁸



Figure 4. Correlation between fuel (K+Na)*2Cl/S molar ratio and K +Na in $\rm PM_{1}.$



Figure 5. Correlation between fuel N content and NO_X emissions.

In theory zinc should mainly be released fully from the fuel as elemental Zn vapor and enrich in fine particles. However, the observed zinc release fractions showed significant variation and values substantially below 100%, but factors affecting the release could not be identified from this data set. Thus, this issue on the zinc mass balance would require further studies.

5. CONCLUSIONS

This study shows a significant effect of biomass pellet fuel properties on fine particle and gaseous emissions from residential scale boilers. PM_1 emissions varied from 5.1 mg/ MJ (peat) to 196 mg/MJ (straw). The particle emissions were mainly composed of K and SO₄; straw pellets also contained noticeable amounts of Cl and PO₄. Since an automated pellet boiler was used, emissions of incomplete combustion were generally low, though elevated emissions of incomplete combustion were measured in wood-grass and some woody biomass pellets (WG1, W8, W9, and W10).

 PM_1 and gaseous emissions were generally low for pellets containing mainly stem wood. On the contrary, bark, for example, which contains a lot of K, can contribute to increased PM_1 emissions. However, it may be possible to improve the use of high alkali content fuels by mixing other raw material such as peat, which in this study resulted in a lower release fraction of K to PM_1 and, thus, lower PM_1 emissions. The study shows that there are correlations between certain fuel properties and emission characteristics, which could be used for predicting the emissions from novel pellet raw materials. However, it must be noted that the behavior of different fuels can vary according to

the studied combustion appliance type and combustion conditions at issue.

The fuel molar ratio (K+Na)*(2Cl/S) was found to correlate with the release fractions of K+Na to PM₁, which was the major factor found influencing PM1 emissions for most of the fuels. However, the observed differences in alkali metal release fractions can be also combined effects of sulfur and silicates, as there is a weak correlation between these elements in the fuels. In addition, the amount of alkali metals in particulate fraction from different fuels may be predicted based on fuel alkali metal content, fuel K, and fuel K+Na+Cl; both factors correlated with PM1 emissions. These findings highlight the importance of alkali metals with respect to PM1 emissions. Furthermore, peat decreased CO and OGC emissions when mixed with woody biomass fuels but resulted in higher NOx, SO2, and HCl emissions. The fuel (K+Na)/(Cl+2S) molar ratio was found to give a good estimation of SO₂ and HCl emission formation. In addition, fuel N content was found to correlate well with the NO_x emissions.

The use of alkali binding additives could give a possibility to use a wider range of biomass pellet raw materials and achieve low PM_1 emissions. However, there is not yet enough information available about the usage of peat as an additive for particle emission control; it should be studied more carefully. The present legislation gives a possibility to use up to 20% of additives in pellet fuels, and, according to our findings, a 20% addition of peat to bark could decrease the otherwise high PM_1 emissions. Agricultural fuels, such as straw pellets, seem to be difficult to use in a residential scale due to high emissions and ash-related problems.

Pellet combustion is a promising means of energy production in residential combustion appliances, replacing fossil fuel. A mixture of peat with woody biomass fuels could lower the emissions of PM_{12} , CO, and OGC compared to woody biomass fuels. Automated operation generally ensures low emissions of particle and gaseous components from incomplete combustion with suitable fuel types. However, if new fuel raw materials are introduced, the emissions need to be carefully estimated to prevent an increase in particle emissions, which can affect the local air quality and cause adverse effects on human health.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

*Phone: +358403553285. Fax: +35817163098. E-mail: Heikki. Lamberg@uef.fi.

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Vapo Ltd. and PELLETime project, part of the Northern Periphery Programme, for support and providing pellet fuels for this study. This work was also financially supported by the strategic funding of the University of Eastern Finland for project Sustainable Bioenergy, Climate Change, and Health, and the Academy of Finland (Grant 258315). We also thank Pentti Willman from the University of Eastern Finland for thermal-optical carbon analyses.

REFERENCES

(1) Sikanen, L.; Mutanen, A.; Röser, D.; Selkimäki, M. Pellet markets in Finland and Europe – an overview, 2008. http://www.pelletime.fi (accessed October 7, 2013). (2) Selkimäki, M.; Mola-Yudego, B.; Röser, D.; Prinz, R.; Sikanen, L. Present and future trends in pellet markets, raw materials, and supply logistics in Sweden and Finland. *Renewable Sustainable Energy Rev.* 2010, 14, 3068–3075.

(3) Directive 2009/28/EC of the European Parliament and of the council of 23 April 2009 on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources amending and subsequently repealing Directives 2001/77/EC and 2003/30/EC; Official Journal of the European Union: L 140/15. 5.6.2009.

(4) Nussbaumer, T. Combustion and co-combustion of biomass: Fundamentals, technologies, and primary measures for emission reduction. *Energy Fuels* **2003**, *17*, 1510–1521.

(5) Vassilev, S. V.; Baxter, D.; Andersen, L. K.; Vassileva, C. G. An overview of the chemical composition of biomass. *Fuel* 2010, 89, 913– 933.

(6) Sippula, O.; Hytönen, K.; Tissari, J.; Raunemaa, T.; Jokiniemi, J. Effect of wood fuel on the emissions from a top-feed pellet stove. *Energy Fuels* **2007**, *21*, 1151–1160.

(7) Khan, A. A.; de Jong, W.; Jansens, P. J.; Spliethoff, H. Biomass combustion in fluidized bed boilers: Potential problems and remedies. *Fuel Process. Technol.* **2009**, *90*, 21–50.

(8) Baxter, L.; Miles, T. R.; Miles, T. R., Jr; Jenkins, B. M.; Milne, T.; Dayton, D.; Bryers, R. W.; Oden, L. L. The behavior of inorganic material in biomass-fired power boilers: field and laboratory experiences. *Fuel Process. Technol.* **1998**, *54*, 47–78.

(9) Öhman, M.; Nordin, A.; Hedman, H.; Jirjis, R. Reasons for slagging during stemwood pellet combustion and some measures for prevention. *Biomass Bioenergy* **2004**, *27*, 597–605.

(10) Gilbe, C.; Öhman, M.; Lindström, E.; Boström, D.; Backman, R.; Samuelsson, R.; Burvall, J. Slagging characteristics during residential combustion of biomass pellets. *Energy Fuels* **2008**, *22*, 3536–3543.

(11) Lindström, E.; Sandström, M.; Boström, D.; Öhman, M. Slagging characteristics during combustion of cereal grains rich in phosphorus. *Energy Fuels* 2007, 21, 710–717.

(12) Lamberg, H.; Nuutinen, K.; Tissari, J.; Ruusunen, J.; Yli-Pirilä, P.; Sippula, O.; Tapanainen, M.; Jalava, P.; Makkonen, U.; Teinilä, K.; Saarnio, K.; Hillamo, R.; Hirvonen, M.-R.; Jokiniemi, J. Physicochemical characterization of fine particles from small-scale wood combustion. *Atmos. Environ.* **2011**, *45*, 7635–7643.

(13) Tissari, J.; Lyyränen, J.; Hytönen, K.; Sippula, O.; Tapper, U.; Frey, A.; Saarnio, K.; Pennanen, A. S.; Hillamo, R.; Salonen, R. O.; Hirvonen, M.-R.; Jokiniemi, J. Fine particle and gaseous emissions from normal and smouldering wood combustion in a conventional masonry heater. *Atmos. Environ.* 2008, *42*, 7862-7873.

(14) Frey, A. K.; Tissari, J.; Saarnio, K. M.; Timonen, H. J.; Tolonen-Kivimäki, O.; Aurela, M. A.; Saarikoski, S. K.; Makkonen, U.; Hytonen, K.; Jokiniemi, J.; Salonen, R. O.; Hillamo, R. E. J. Chemical composition and mass size distribution of fine particulate matter emitted by a small masonry heater. *Boreal Environ. Res.* 2009, *14*, 255– 271.

(15) Boman, C.; Petterson, E.; Westerholm, R.; Boström, D.; Nordin, A. Stove performance and emission characteristics in residential wood log and pellet combustion, Part 1: Pellet stoves. *Energy Fuels* **2011**, 25, 307–314.

(16) Jensen, P. A.; Frandsen, F. J.; Dam-Johansen, K.; Sander, B. Experimental investigation of the transformation and release to gas phase of potassium and chlorine during straw pyrolysis. *Energy Fuels* 2000, 14, 1280-1285.

(17) Boman, B. C.; Forsberg, A. B.; Jarvholm, B. G. Adverse health effects from ambient air pollution in relation to residential wood combustion in modern society. *Scand. J. Work, Environ. Health* 2003, 29, 251–260.

(18) Huttunen, K.; Siponen, T.; Salonen, I.; Yli-Tuomi, T.; Aurela, M.; Dufva, H.; Hillamo, R.; Linkola, E.; Pekkanen, J.; Pennanen, A.; Peters, A.; Salonen, R. O.; Schneider, A.; Tiittanen, P.; Hirvonen, M. R.; Lanki, T. Low-level exposure to ambient particulate matter is associated with systemic inflammation in ischemic heart disease patients. *Environ. Res.* **2012**, *116*, 44–51.

(19) Venkataraman, C.; Habib, G.; Eiguren-Fernandez, A.; Miguel, A. H.; Friedlander, S. K. Residential biofuels in South Asia: Carbonaceous aerosol emissions and climate impacts. *Science* **2005**, *307*, 1454–1456.

(20) Pöschl, U. Atmospheric aerosols: composition, transformation, climate and health effects. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2005**, *44*, 7520–7540.

(21) Tissari, J.; Sippula, O.; Kouki, J.; Vuorio, K.; Jokiniemi, J. Fine particle and gas emissions from the combustion of agricultural fuels fired in a 20 kW burner. *Energy Fuels* **2008**, *22*, 2033–2042.

(22) Lamberg, H.; Sippula, O.; Tissari, J.; Jokiniemi, J. Effects of air distribution and load on gaseous and fine particle emissions from a small-scale pellet boiler. *Energy Fuels* **2011**, *25*, 4952–4960.

(23) Valmari, T.; Kauppinen, E. I.; Kurkela, J.; Jokiniemi, J. K.; Stifis, G.; Revitzer, H. Fly ash formation and deposition during fluidized bed combustion of willow. *J. Aerosol Sci.* **1998**, *29*, 445–459.

(24) Enestam, S.; Boman, C.; Niemi, J.; Boström, D.; Backman, R.; Mäkelä, K.; Hupa, M. Occurrence of zinc and lead in aerosols and deposits in the fluidized-bed combustion of recovered waste wood. Part 1: Samples from boilers. *Energy Fuels* **2011**, *25*, 1396–1404.

(25) Knudsen, J. N.; Jensen, P. A.; Dam-Johansen, K. Transformation and release to the gas phase of Cl, K, and S during combustion of annual biomass. *Energy Fuels* **2004**, *18*, 1385–1399.

(26) Dayton, D. C.; French, R. J.; Milne, T. A. Direct observation of alkali vapor release during biomass combustion and gasification. 1. Application molecular beam/mass spectrometry to switchgrass combustion. *Energy Fuels* **1995**, *9*, 855–865.

(27) Lind, T.; Kauppinen, E. I.; Hokkinen, J.; Jokiniemi, J. K.; Orjala, M.; Aurela, M.; Hillamo, R. Effect of chlorine and sulfur on fine particle formation in pilot-scale CFBC of biomass. *Energy Fuels* **2006**, 20, 61–68.

(28) Sippula, O.; Lind, T.; Jokiniemi, J. Effects of chlorine and sulphur on particle formation in wood combustion performed in a laboratory scale reactor. *Fuel* **2008**, *87*, 2425–2436.

(29) Wiinikka, H.; Gebart, R.; Boman, C.; Boström, D.; Öhman, M. Influence of fuel ash composition on high temperature aerosol formation in fixed bed combustion of woody biomass pellets. *Fuel* **2007**, *86*, 181–193.

(30) Näzelius, I.-L.; Boström, D.; Boman, C.; Hedman, H.; Samuelsson, R.; Öhman, M. Influence of peat addition to woody biomass pellets on slagging characteristics during combustion. *Energy Fuels* **2013**, *27*, 3997–4006.

(31) Wiinikka, H.; Gebart, R. The influence of fuel type on particle emissions in combustion of biomass pellets. *Combust. Sci. Technol.* **2005**, *177*, 741–763.

(32) Wiinikka, H.; Grönberg, C.; Boman, C. Emissions of heavy metals during fixed-bed combustion of six biomass fuels. *Energy Fuels* **2013**, *27*, 1073–1080.

(33) ISO 540:1995: Solid mineral fuels–Determination of fusibility of ash–High-temperature tube method, International Organization for Standardization: Geneva, Switzerland, 1995.

(34) CEN/TS 14775: Solid biofuels. Method for the determination of ash content, European Committee for Standardization, Brussels, Belgium, 2004.

(35) CEN/TS 14918: Solid biofuels. Method for the determination of calorific value. European Committee for Standardization, Brussels, Belgium, 2005.

(36) ASTM D 4239: Standard test method for sulfur in the analysis sample of coal and coke using high-temperature tube furnace combustion. American Society for Testing and Materials, West Conshohocken, PA, USA, 2005.

(37) CEN/TS 15289: Solid biofuels. Determination of total content of sulphur and chlorine. European Committee for Standardization, Brussels, Belgium, 2006.

(38) CEN/TS 15104: Solid biofuels. Determination of total content of carbon, hydrogen and nitrogen. Instrumental methods. European Committee for Standardization, Brussels, Belgium, 2006.

(39) CEN/TS 15290:2006: Solid biofuels. Determination of major elements. European Committee for Standardization, Brussels, Belgium, 2006. Article

(40) EPA 3051: Microwave assisted acid digestion of sediments, sludges, soils and oils. United States Environmental Protection Agency, 1994.

(41) ISO 8178-1: Reciprocating internal combustion engines-Exhaust emission measurement-Part 1: Test bed measurement of gaseous and particulate emissions, International Organization for Standardization, Geneva, Switzerland, 1996.

(42) Tissari, J.; Hytönen, K.; Sippula, O.; Jokiniemi, J. The effects of operating conditions on emissions from masonry heaters and sauna stoves. *Biomass Bioenergy* **2009**, *33*, 513–520.

(43) Hukkanen, A.; Kaivosoja, T.; Sippula, O.; Nuutinen, K.; Jokiniemi, J.; Tissari, J. Reduction of gaseous and particulate emissions from small-scale wood combustion with a catalytic combustor. *Atmos. Environ.* 2012, 50, 16–23.

(44) Ruusunen, J.; Tapanainen, M.; Sippula, O.; Jalava, P. I.; Lamberg, H.; Nuutinen, K.; Tissari, J.; Ihalainen, M.; Kuuspalo, K.; Mäki-Paakkanen, J.; Hakulinen, P.; Pennanen, A.; Teinilä, K.; Makkonen, U.; Salonen, R. O.; Hillamo, R.; Hirvonen, M. R.; Jokiniemi, J. A novel particle sampling system for physico-chemical and toxicological characterization of emissions. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 2011, 401, 3183–3195.

(45) Sippula, O.; Hokkinen, J.; Puustinen, H.; Yli-Pirilä, P.; Jokiniemi, J. Particle emissions from small wood-fired district heating units. *Energy Fuels* **2009**, *23*, 2974–2982.

(46) SFS 5624, Air quality. Stationary source emissions. Determination of the flue gas conditions. Finnish Standards Association SFS: Helsinki, Finland, 1990.

(47) Turpin, J. T.; Saxena, P.; Andrews, E. Measuring and simulating particulate organics in the atmosphere: problems and prospects. *Atmos. Environ.* **2000**, *34*, 2983–3013.

(48) NIOSH Elemental Carbon (Diesel Particulate) Method 5040. In NIOSH Manual of Analytical Methods (NMAM), 4th ed.; The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health: Atlanta, GA, 1999.

(49) Sippula, O.; Hokkinen, J.; Puustinen, H.; Yli-Pirilä, P.; Jokiniemi, J. Comparison of particle emissions from small heavy fuel oik and wood-fired boilers. *Atmos. Environ.* **2009**, *43*, 4855–4864.

(50) Jensen, P. A, Frandsen, F. J.; Dam-Johansen, K. In Proceedings of the UEF Conference on Power Production in 21st Century: Impacts of Fuel Quality and Operations; Snowbird, UT, USA, 2001.

(51) Sommersacher, P.; Brunner, T.; Obernberger, I. Fuel indexes: A novel method for the evaluation of relevant combustion properties of new biomass fuels. *Energy Fuels* **2012**, *26*, 380–390.

(52) Lundholm, K.; Nordin, A.; Öhman, M.; Boström, D. Reduced bed agglomeration by co-combustion biomass with peat fuels in a fluidized bed. *Energy Fuels* **2005**, *19*, 2273–2278.

(53) Wiinikka, H.; Gebart, R. The influence of air distribution rate on particle emissions in fixed bed combustion of biomass. *Combust. Sci. Technol.* **2005**, *177*, 1747–1766.

(54) Verma, V. K.; Bram, S.; Gauthier, G.; De Ruyck, J. Evaluation of the performance of a multi-fuel domestic boiler with respect to the existing European standard and quality labels: Part-1. *Biomass Bioenergy* **2011**, *35*, 80–89.

(55) Olsson, M. Wheat straw and peat for fuel pellets—organic compounds from combustion. *Biomass Bioenergy* **2006**, *30*, 555–564.

(56) Davidsson, K. O.; Stojkova, B. J.; Pettersson, J. B. C. Alkali emission from birchwood particles during rapid pyrolysis. *Energy Fuels* **2002**, *16*, 1033–1039.

(57) Oberberger, I.; Thek, G. Physical characterisation and chemical composition of densified biomass fuels with regard to their combustion behavior. *Biomass Bioenergy* **2004**, *27*, 653–669.

(58) Fernandez, A.; Davis, S. B.; Wendt, J. O. L.; Cenni, R.; Young, R. S.; Witten, M. L. Public health: Particulate emission from biomass combustion. *Nature* **2001**, *408*, 965–1124.

Paper IV

Reprinted from Atmospheric Environment, 77, T. Kaivosoja, P.I. Jalava, H. Lamberg, A. Virén, M. Tapanainen, T. Torvela, U. Tapper, O. Sippula, J. Tissari, R. Hillamo, M.-R. Hirvonen, J. Jokiniemi, Comparison of emissions and toxicological properties of fine particles from wood and oil boilers in small (20-25 kW) and medium (5-10 MW) scale, 193–201, 2013, with permission from Elsevier.

Atmospheric Environment 77 (2013) 193-201





Atmospheric Environment



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/atmosenv

Comparison of emissions and toxicological properties of fine particles from wood and oil boilers in small (20–25 kW) and medium (5–10 MW) scale



T. Kaivosoja^a, P.I. Jalava^b, H. Lamberg^a, A. Virén^a, M. Tapanainen^b, T. Torvela^a, U. Tapper^c, O. Sippula^a, J. Tissari^{a,*}, R. Hillamo^d, M.-R. Hirvonen^{b,e}, J. Jokiniemi^{a,c}

^a Fine Particle and Aerosol Technology Laboratory, Department of Environmental Science, University of Eastern Finland, P.O. Box 1627, FI-70211 Kuopio, Finland

^b Inhalation Toxicology Laboratory, Department of Environmental Science, University of Eastern Finland, P.O. Box 1627, FI-70211 Kuopio, Finland

^c VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland, P.O. Box 1000, FI-02044 VTT Espoo, Finland

^d Finnish Meteorological Institute, Air Quality Research, P.O. Box 503, FI-00101 Helsinki, Finland

e Department of Environmental Health, National Institute for Health and Welfare, P.O. Box 95, FI-70701 Kuopio, Finland

HIGHLIGHTS

• The use of fossil fuels versus wood fuels was compared.

• Gaseous and particle emissions and the cytotoxicity of PM₁ were examined.

HFO combustion PM₁ was found to evoke the highest toxicity responses.

· Toxicity of emissions should be considered when authorities regulate emission limits.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 28 January 2013 Received in revised form 25 April 2013 Accepted 6 May 2013

Keywords: Wood fuel Heavy fuel oil Light fuel oil Combustion Emission Cytotoxicity

ABSTRACT

The aim of this study was to compare four alternatives for providing decentralized energy production in small communities in terms of their flue gas emissions and toxicological properties of the emissions. In this study, two different size classes of boilers were examined and the use of fossil fuel oils was compared against wood fuels. The lowest PM1 emission, 0.1 mg MJ⁻¹, was observed from small-scale light fuel oil combustion. In medium-scale wood combustion, PM1 emission values from a grate fired wood combustion boiler (10 MW) without particulate filtration were the highest (264 mg MJ^{-1}) but were substantially reduced down to 0.6 mg MJ⁻¹ due to the usage of an electrostatic precipitator (ESP). The wood combustion particles were mainly formed of potassium salts. In light fuel oil combustion, one of the main components in the particles was sulphate whereas in heavy fuel oil combustion also significant amounts of V and Ni were emitted. Pellet combustion produced the lowest PAH emissions. Overall, oil combustion produced higher amount of PAHs than wood combustion. This was indicated also as a higher cytotoxicity of the oil combustion samples when compared to those from wood combustion in the corresponding scale of boilers. However, when calculated on an equal mass basis, the particles collected after ESP were even more cytotoxic which can be explained by the altered chemical characteristics of the emissions in the ESP. Due to the variation in the emissions and in the toxicity of the emissions, we propose that in the long term, not only the emission levels but also the toxicity of the emissions should be taken into account in the regulations of the emission limits of the combustion plants.

© 2013 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Fossil fuel combustion is considered to be problematic because it is a significant source of greenhouse gas emissions into the atmosphere and because of the limited resources of the fossil fuels. An increase in biomass use as an energy source holds the potential

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +358 40 3553237; fax: +358 17 163098. *E-mail address*: Jarkko.Tissari@uef.fi (J. Tissari).

^{1352-2310/\$ –} see front matter @ 2013 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2013.05.014

to reduce these emissions, since biomass combustion is currently not considered to affect the carbon dioxide (CO₂) balance in the atmosphere. In addition, biomass combustion can have political support in countries where there are no fossil fuel deposits but are endowed with substantial biomass resources (Obernberger and Thek, 2010). However, one of the major problems with the biomass combustion is its tendency to emit an abundance of fine particles. For example in Finland, it has been estimated that 25% of all fine particle (aerodynamic diameter <2.5 µm) emissions originate from domestic wood combustion (Karvosenoja et al., 2008). In addition, small and medium scale district heating units may generate substantial amounts of PM1 (particles <1 µm in aerodynamic diameter) emissions if they are not equipped with efficient filtration systems (Sippula et al., 2009a). Different filtration techniques such as electrostatic precipitators (ESPs), flue gas scrubbers and fabric filters reduce the emissions from biomass combustion to a moderate or even to a low level.

In addition to particulate emissions, both biomass and fossil fuel combustion can release varying amounts of nitrogen oxides (NO_x) and sulphur dioxide (SO_2) emissions into the atmosphere. SO₂ emissions are generally related to the fossil fuel combustion but they can be significant also in the combustion of many field biomasses due to the high sulphur content of that kind of fuel (Tissari et al., 2008). NO_x and SO₂ emissions induce secondary particle formation and therefore they can have significant effects on air quality and climate. The climatic effects are caused both by direct sunlight scattering effects and by indirect effects due to the influence of secondary aerosols on the cloud formation and their properties. It has been estimated that 46-82% of SO2 will form sulphate particles in the atmosphere (IPCC, 2001). In one of our previous studies, Sippula et al. (2009c) compared the particle emissions from small heavy fuel oil (HFO) and wood-fired boilers. One conclusion of that study was that the quantity of the particle emissions as well as their physical and chemical properties are clearly different between heavy fuel oil and wood combustion. Thus, the use of wood and fossil fuel oils would be predicted to have a very different impact on both human health and the environment. With efficient wood combustion systems, the particle emissions are mainly composed of ash species such as alkali metal chlorides and sulphates, but unfortunately when the combustion conditions are not optimal, more organic compounds such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) are formed (Tissari et al., 2008; Sippula et al., 2009a; Hays et al., 2011; Aurell et al., 2012; Kinsey et al., 2012). The particles from the oil combustion usually contain soot, organic material and significant amounts of sulphur, depending on the oil sulphur content and combustion quality (Hays et al., 2008; Sippula et al., 2009c). The HFO particles typically contain also substantial amounts of heavy metals (Hays et al., 2009; Sippula et al., 2009c).

Previous epidemiological studies have shown that ambient particles which originated from fossil fuel combustion are especially harmful to health (Laden et al., 2000; Lanki et al., 2006; Penttinen et al., 2006). Toxicological studies have also shown that particles from fossil fuel combustion may cause adverse effects (e.g. Jalava et al., 2006; Happo et al., 2008). The toxicity of the emissions from oil combustion is often associated with the high metal concentrations, especially Ni and V from heavy fuel oil having been associated with toxic effects (e.g. Molinelli et al., 2006). However, also emissions from wood combustion have exerted toxic properties in several studies (Kocbach Bølling et al., 2009; Danielsen et al., 2011; Tapanainen et al., 2011; Jalava et al., 2012; Tapanainen et al., 2012). In epidemiological studies, it has been confirmed that smallscale wood combustion is associated with adverse health effects (Andersen et al., 2007; Naeher et al., 2007; Sarnat et al., 2008). Wood combustion emissions may also have an influence on the emergence of asthma and other respiratory symptoms (Boman et al., 2003; Allen et al., 2008; Ghio, 2008).

Even though there are many studies examining energy production related emission sources, there are no comparisons available helping to decide which energy sources should be favoured in order to reduce the adverse health effects in humans. If one wishes to estimate the optimal way to produce energy, one needs to perform a comprehensive examination of the emissions. In other words, the toxicity of emissions from wood and fossil fuel combustion need to be compared, not simply the overall emission levels.

This work is a continuation study to evaluate the toxicological effects of the emissions from fossil fuel oil and wood combustion and to compare the new results with those obtained in the previous study. The aim of this study was to compare four alternative ways of producing decentralized energy for use in small communities with respect to their flue gas emissions and the toxicological properties of emissions. Two different size classes of boilers were examined, the small scale (20–25 kWth) and the medium scale (4–15 MWth), and the use of fossil oil fuels was compared against wood fuels. A modern small-scale pellet boiler and a small-scale district heating plant with a rotating grate combustion unit represented the energy production of the wood combustion, and a small-scale light fuel oil (LFO) burner and heating boiler with a HFO burner represented fossil fuel combustion. Gaseous and particulate emissions were measured from the flue gas and the cytotoxicity of the particulate emissions was examined.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Combustion appliances and fuels

Details of the measurement and dilution systems and the combustion appliances are presented in Table 1. In this study, a pellet boiler and a light fuel oil burner represented small-scale combustion systems as their nominal output was in the range of 20-25 kW. Pellet appliance was a fully automated grate boiler, described in detail by Lamberg et al. (2011a, 2011b). The light fuel oil burner was a conventional oil burner with pressurized atomization commonly used in residential heating systems. The light fuel oil burner was maintained before the measurements. Rotating grate combustion unit (nominal output of 10-15 MW) and heavy fuel oil burners (nominal output of 4-7 MW) represented mediumscale combustion systems. The rotating grate combustion unit included a cyclone and a single field ESP with horizontal flow fields to remove coarse and fine particles from the flue gas. The technology of the rotating grate has been detailed and visualized by Sippula et al. (2009a). In the present study, all the wood combustion measurements were conducted after the cyclone. Heavy fuel oil burners with pressurized atomization did not include any flue gas filtration systems. The small-scale appliances were operated in the emission research laboratory at the University of Eastern Finland and the medium-scale appliances in field. The properties of wood chips, wood pellets, LFO and HFO fuels are presented as a Supplementary material. The LFO burner, pellet boiler and wood boiler were operated continuously but the HFO burner was operated intermittently due to the low energy demand during the measurement campaign. The sampling was turned off when the burner was on the break and it was not continued until the burner was turned on again and the residual oxygen concentration in the flue gas was restored to its normal level.

Emission results for various appliances from our previous studies (Lamberg et al., 2011a,b; Sippula et al., 2009a; and Sippula et al., 2009c) were compared to three appliances examined in this study. The combustion appliances, the fuels and the dilution and

	HFO 4	Sippula 009c) et al. (2009c)	tuel Heavy fuel er oil burner	4 MW	uel oil Heavy fuel oil	I	TR, PM ₁ ELPI, FTIR, PM ₁	OC/EC) filters (OC/EC)		PRD	PRD	I			
	HFO 3	€ Sippula €) et al. (2	Heavy oil burr	7 MW	oil Heavy	I	PM ₁ ELPI, FI	'EC) filters (·		PRD	PRD	I			
ackground.	HFO 2	Sippula et al. (2009	Heavy fuel oil burner	4 MW	k Heavy fuel	I	ELPI, FTIR,	filters (OC/		PRD	PRD	I			
marked with grey t	Wood before and after ESP 3	Sippula et al. (2009a)	Rotating grate combustion unit	10 MW	Sawdust and barl	Cyclone, ESP	ELPI, FTIR, PM ₁	filters (OC/EC)		PRD	PRD	I			
the present study are	Wood before and after ESP 2	Sippula et al. (2009a)	Rotating grate combustion unit	15 MW	Wood chips	Cyclone, ESP	ELPI, FTIR, PM ₁	filters (OC/EC)		PRD	PRD	I			
ilution systems. Subjects of	Pellet	Lamberg et al. (2011a)	Modern pellet boiler	25 kW	Pellet	1	ELPI, FTIR, PM ₁ filters	(OC/EC), DGI, aspiration	sampler (TEM) ^a	PRD + ED	Dilution tunnel	PRD			
instruments and d	HFO 1		Heavy fuel oil burner	5.2 MW	Heavy fuel oil	I	FTIR, DGI			I	I	PRD	$143\pm0.1~^\circ\mathrm{C}$	$32\pm6~^\circ\mathrm{C}$	
1 techniques, measurement	LFO		Light fuel oil burner	20 kW	Light fuel oil	I	ELPI, FTIR, PM ₁ filters	(OC/EC), DGI, aspiration	sampler (TEM)	PRD + ED	PRD + ED + ED	PRD	81 ± 3 °C	$35 \pm 4 ^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	
Itputs, fuels, filtration	Wood before and after ESP 1		Rotating grate combustion unit	10 MW	Wood chips	Cyclone, ESP	FTIR, DGI			I	I	PRD	133–139 ∘C ^b	34 ± 3 °C	
Combustion appliances, or		Reference	Combustion appliance	Nominal output	Fuel	Flue gas filtration	Measurement	instruments		Dilution for PM1 filters	Dilution for ELPI	Dilution for DGI	Flue gas temperature	Sampling	temperature (DGI)

Table

TEM samples were taken in another experiment but from the same appliance.

Based on uncontinuous measurement, average and standard deviation is not possible to define.

T. Kaivosoja et al. / Atmospheric Environment 77 (2013) 193-201

the sampling methods used in the earlier studies were well comparable to those of this study.

2.2. Experimental set-up

Fig. 1 shows the experimental set-up. Gaseous compounds were measured continuously from the stack by a Fourier transform infrared analyser (FTIR, Gasmet Technologies Ltd.) in all experiments except for the one with pellet combustion. The O₂ concentration was measured with a separate CrO cell which was integrated with an FTIR analyser. In pellet combustion NO, NO2, CO, CO₂ and O₂ were measured by a gas analyser system (ABB, Cemas Gas Analysing Rack). Flue gas temperatures were measured continuously from undiluted and diluted flue gas using K-type thermocouples.

Flue gas for a Dekati gravimetric impactor (DGI, 70 lpm, Dekati Ltd.) was diluted with a porous tube diluter (PRD). The samples were collected with DGI with cut-off sizes 0.2, 0.5, 1.0 and 2.5 μm and with a back-up filter. Toxicological responses and PAH, ion and element contents of the particulate emission samples were assessed and compared. A detailed description of DGI sampling and filter handling procedure has been recently provided by Ruusunen et al. (2011). In wood combustion, the samples before and after the ESP were taken one after the other, not in parallel.

PM₁ samples for the organic (OC) and elemental carbon (EC) analyses were collected on 47 mm quartz fibre filters (Pallflex, Tissuguartz) with stainless steel filter holders (Gelman Sciences Inc., model 2220). A pre-impactor (Dekati Ltd.) removed the particles if their aerodynamic diameter was larger than 1 µm. Filters were weighed before and after the collection in a weighing room with the temperature (20 °C) and the relative humidity (40%) controlling. Filters were kept in the weighing room for at least 24 h prior to weighing in order to allow them to stabilize. Gravimetric analyses were performed with a microbalance of 1 µg sensitivity



Fig. 1. Experimental set-up. *PRD + ejector diluter in LFO, HFO and wood combustion measurements; dilution tunnel in pellet combustion measurements.

195

(Mettler Toledo, MT5) with a Staticmaster Po-210 charge eliminator.

An electrical low pressure impactor (ELPI, 10 lpm, sintered impactor plates, Dekati Ltd.) with a cut-off size from 24 nm to 9.38 μ m was used to measure particle number emissions and number size distributions from the diluted flue gas.

Samples for electron microscopes were collected on holey carbon copper grids using an aspiration sampler (Lyyränen et al., 2009). The samples were analysed using field emission transmission electron microscopes (TEM, Philips CM-200 FEG/STEM and JEOL JEM 2100F FEG/STEM, both operated at 200 kV) equipped with an energy dispersive X-ray spectrometer (EDS).

The dilution for PM₁ samples, TEM samples and ELPI was carried out with PRD and ejector diluter (ED) with the exception of the pellet combustion measurements where the flue gas for ELPI was diluted in a dilution tunnel (ISO 8178-1, 1996; Lamberg et al., 2011a, 2011b). The dilution with the PRD and ED has been described elsewhere (Lyyränen et al., 2004; Tissari et al., 2007). All the dilution ratios were calculated from the CO₂ concentrations of the undiluted and diluted flue gas as described by Sippula et al. (2009a). The results were corrected with dilution ratios and calculated in relation to fuel energy input to the combustion process (SFS 5624, 1990).

2.3. Chemical analyses

A wide array of elements (Ag, Al, As, B, Ba, Be, Bi, Ca, Cd, Co, Cr, Cu, Fe, K, Li, Mg, Mn, Mo, Na, Ni, Pb, Rb, Sb, Se, Sr, Th, Ti, Tl, U, V, and Zn) and ions (Cl⁻, Br⁻, F⁻, NO₃⁻, SO₄²⁻, Na⁺, NH₄⁺, K⁺, Mg²⁺, and Ca²⁺) were determined from the PM₁ samples collected with DGI. Samples for elemental analysis were eluted with HF–HNO₃ acid and analysed with an inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometer (ICP-MS, Perkin Elmer Elan 6000, Pakkanen et al., 2001) and the samples for ion analysis with deionized water prior to analysis with an ion chromatograph (IC, Dionex ICS-2000) system (Teinilä et al., 2000).

OC, EC and carbonate carbon (CO_3) were analysed from the PM_1 samples collected on the quartz filters. The analyses were performed by a thermal-optical method using an OCEC carbon aerosol analyser (model 4 L, Sun Laboratories Inc.). This analysis is based on the protocol in use in National Institute for Occupational Health (NIOSH 5040, 1999).

PAHs (30 compounds) were analyzed with a gas chromatograph mass spectrometer (6890N GC, equipped with a 5973 inert Mass Selective Detector, Agilent Technologies). A DB17-MS column was used for the separation of the compounds. The analysis was operated with selected ion monitoring (SIM) mode. The quantification limit of the method was 0.1 ng mg⁻¹. A detailed description of the PAH analysis has been recently presented by Lamberg et al. (2011a).

2.4. Toxicological analyses

There are numerous biological mechanisms that are responsible for the adverse health effects, e.g. cytotoxicity, inflammation, genotoxicity and oxidative stress associated responses (Binkova et al., 2003; Tao et al., 2003; Pope and Dockery, 2006). In our previous studies, cytotoxicity has been found to provide a good estimate of toxicological responses of wood combustion emissions in general and therefore in this study, cytotoxicity was chosen to represent toxicological responses (Jalava et al., 2006,2012). A wider range of toxicological responses will be presented in a separate article. A mouse macrophage cell line RAW264.7 was cultured in complete RPMI 1640 cell culture medium at +37 °C and in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere. In the experiments, the cell suspension was diluted to 5×10^5 cells ml^{-1} and cultured on 6-well plates (Costar, Corning, NY, USA) for 24 h prior to experiments.

Before the cell exposure, particulate sample tubes were treated in an ultrasonic water bath for 30 min to suspend the PM₁ samples into pyrogen free water (Sigma W1503, St. Louis, MO, USA) at a concentration of 5 mg ml⁻¹. Cells were exposed to four doses (15, 50, 150 and 300 μ g ml⁻¹) of each particulate sample for 24 h in three independent experiments that were made in duplicate. Untreated cells as well as blank samples were used in the experiments as controls for the exposed cells.

After the 24-h exposure, the cells were suspended into cell culture medium by scraping them from the bottoms of the wells. In all, $2\times100~\mu$ l of cell suspension from each well were taken for the MTT analysis of cytotoxicity. The remaining cell suspension was stored for further toxicological analyses, including inflammation and other cytotoxic mediators.

In the MTT-test, the viability of the macrophages was measured on 96-well plates. The absorbance was detected with a plate reader and the viability was calculated as a percentage from the corresponding readings from control cells (Jalava et al., 2005). The MTTtest is based on the metabolic activity of the macrophage cells i.e. the presence of functioning mitochondria in the cells. The method was tested for absorbance from particulate samples only to rule out any methodological errors.

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Gaseous and particulate emissions

Gaseous and particulate emissions are presented in Table 2. It was postulated that the ESP would have no effect on the gaseous emissions and thus they were measured only before ESP. Wood chip, LFO and HFO combustion produced only small amounts of CO. In Wood combustion before ESP 1, LFO and HFO 1, the measured CO emissions were below the detection limit of the FTIR. Although the CO emission in pellet combustion was the highest measured in this study, 80 mg MJ⁻¹, this is still only a moderate emission level for example when compared to batch combustion where the CO emission is in the range 390–2700 mg MJ⁻¹ (Lamberg et al., 2011a). NO_x emissions were found to vary greatly between different devices. The highest NO_x emissions were observed with HFO combustion. HFO combustion produced also very high SO2 emissions whereas in other experiments, especially in wood chip and pellet combustion, the SO₂ emissions were found to be low, as expected since the sulphur contents of wood fuels were low (see Supplementary material).

The lowest PM₁ emission was encountered with LFO combustion, 0.1 mg MJ⁻¹, but also with Wood combustion after ESP 1 the emission was low, 0.6 mg MJ⁻¹ (Table 2). Probably due to the different fuel and appliance used, the emission in the LFO combustion was much lower than that measured previously by Hays et al. (2008). With Wood after ESP (cases 2–3) and in HFO combustion (cases 2–4), the PM₁ emissions were moderate ranging from 4 mg MJ⁻¹–8.3 mg MJ⁻¹. With HFO 1 and Pellet, the PM₁ emissions were somewhat higher, 20.3 mg MJ⁻¹ and 16.2 mg MJ⁻¹, respectively. With pellet combustion, the emission was close to the values measured in previous studies (Tissari et al., 2008; Schmidl et al., 2011). With Wood before ESP, especially in case 1, the PM₁ emissions were as high as 264 mg MJ⁻¹.

3.2. PM₁ chemical composition

Based on the results from ICP-MS and IC analyses (Fig. 2), with pellet and wood chip combustion, the main element found in the analysis of PM_1 was potassium which accounted for 37% and 41–49% of PM_1 , respectively. In addition, Na^+ , Cl^- and SO_4^{-2-} were

Table 2 Particle and gas e	missions.								
		Wood before ESP 1	Wood after ESP 1	LFO	HFO 1	Pellet	Wood before ESP 2–3	Wood after ESP 2–3	HFO 2-4
Reference						Lamberg et al., 2011a	Sippula et al., 2009a	Sippula et al. 2009a	Sippula et al., 2009c
H_2O	%	23.3 ± 1.1	n.m.	10.5 ± 0.6	10.4 ± 0.2	≈7	≈24	≈24	7.5-7.9
02	%	7.7 ± 0.5	n.m.	5 ± 0.2	4.3 ± 0.5	11.9 ± 0.93	4.6-5	4.6-5	2.8-6.2
CO	mg MJ ⁻¹	<ar<sup>a</ar<sup>	n.m.	<ar<sup>a</ar<sup>	<ar<sup>a</ar<sup>	80 ± 67	$6.6 \pm 0.6 - 12$	n.m.	$1.4-2.5 \ (n=2)$
NO_x (as NO_2)	mg MJ ⁻¹	146 ± 9	n.m.	85 ± 2	317 ± 15	73 ± 3	$33{-}156 \pm 4$	n.m.	$166-183 \ (n=2)$
SO_2	mg MJ ⁻¹	<ar<sup>b</ar<sup>	n.m.	22 ± 2.3	595 ± 22	<ar<sup>b</ar<sup>	$0.017 \pm 0.029 \ (n = 1)$	n.m.	$338-423 \ (n=2)$
$N_{\rm tot}$	MJ ⁻¹	n.m.	n.m.	$4.9E + 05 \pm$	n.m.	$3.5E + 13 \pm 8.0E + 12$	$2.7E + 13 \pm 1.2E +$	$6.1E + 11 \pm 3.4E +$	$1.7E + 13 \pm 2.1E +$
				8.0E + 0.4			$13 \ (n = 1)$	$11-6.5E + 12 \pm 1.4E + 12$	$12-2.1E + 13 \pm 4.0E + 11$
PM ₁ (DGI)	mg MJ ⁻¹	264 ± 40	0.6 ± 0.1	0.1 ± 0.02	20.3 ± 8.6	16.2 ^c	77-92 (BLPI)	4-6 (BLPI)	4.1-8.3 (BLPI)
GMD	nm	n.m.	n.m.	30 ± 3	n.m.	60	100 ± 9	$147 \pm 7 - 216 \pm 7$	$49 \pm 1 - 61 \pm 1 \ (n = 2)$
00	mg MJ ⁻¹	n.m.	n.m.	0	n.m.	0.9 ± 2.1	0.55 (n=1)	$0.14 \ (n = 1)$	$0.03 - 0.38 \ (n = 2)$
EC	mg MJ ⁻¹	n.m.	n.m.	0.0116	n.m.	0.1 ± 0.17	0.19(n = 1)	$0.081 \ (n = 1)$	0.20-0.66(n=2)
CO ₃	mg MJ ⁻¹	n.m.	n.m.	n.m.	n.m.	1.2 ± 1.1	0.38(n = 1)	$0.1 \ (n = 1)$	n.m.
BLPI = Berner Lov	v Pressure In	npactor.							
^a Below accura	cy range 100	ppm.							
^b Below accura	cy range 20 p	pm.							

Tapanainen et al., 2011.



Fig. 2. The main ash species in the PM1. IC results from pellet combustion are presented also by Lamberg et al. (2011a) and Tapanainen et al. (2011).

found to be present in the wood chip combustion derived particles. These four compounds accounted for 57–79% of the total PM_1 . In addition, values of 0.4–0.8% of Zn were detected from pellet and wood chip combustion particles. K, Cl, SO₄, Na and Zn are all common compounds in biomass combustion particles (e.g. Sippula et al., 2009a).

There were differences in the chemical composition of wood chip combustion particles before and after the ESP. In the particles collected after the ESP, significant amounts of NO₃⁻ and Ca were found. In our opinion, the differences can be due to the change in the fuel composition during the measurements as well as due to the size-dependent collection efficiency of the ESP. The separation efficiency of the ESP varies as the function of the particle size and therefore some elements might become enriched in the flue gas after the ESP. This is particularly true for Ca, which is known to be present mainly above the particle size $0.2 \,\mu m$ (Sippula et al., 2009a) whereas the lowest filtration efficiency of an ESP is usually found between 0.2 and 2 µm (Lind et al., 2003; Sippula et al., 2009a). In addition, the wood chip fuel was sawmilling residue in which the bark content can vary extensively. Both the particle and the gaseous emissions as well as the humidity of the flue gas were found to vary during the measurement campaign, evidence that the fuel composition varied. However, because only one fuel sample was taken, the fuel variation cannot be verified with certainty.

Sulphate was one of the main fine particle components contributing 30% and 24% of the PM₁ mass in the LFO and HFO combustion, respectively. Both PM₁ samples contained also a small amount of Na⁺ and Ca. In addition, particles from LFO combustion contained 10% of NH₄⁺. Particles from the HFO combustion included 1.5% of V and 0.9% of Ni. The amount of these metals were higher than observed in the study of Hays et al. (2009) where the amount of all analyzed trace metals was <0.1% of PM_{2.5}. This is possible due to the differences in the used fuel and the combustion appliance.

The carbon in PM₁ of LFO and HFO combustion particles was mainly composed of EC (Table 2). HFO combustion derived particles contained also a small amount of OC. In contrast, in pellet and wood chip combustion particles, the carbon fraction was mainly composed of OC and CO₃. However, it must be noted that the determined OC fractions are relatively small, when compared to batch-wise fired combustion appliances, for example.

In particular, in HFO and in LFO combustion, the chemical mass balance of the samples was rather poor: only 44% and 28% of the PM₁ could be identified, respectively. However, since most of the identified parts of the samples was sulphur, mainly in the form of sulphuric acid (see chapter 3.4), there is most likely also a

significant fraction of water bound into the particles which explains the large fraction of the unidentified mass (Ristimäki et al., 2010).

3.3. PAH emissions

The highest PAH content in PM1 was found in the LFO combustion derived particles where PAHs accounted for 1.7% of PM1 mass (Table 3). In addition, the highest genotoxic PAH concentration (genotoxic PAHs listed in Table 3) in PM₁ sample was taken from LFO combustion. However, the highest PAH emission (0.2 mg $\mathrm{MJ}^{-1})$ was encountered in HFO combustion. The smallest PAH emission as well as the proportion of PAHs in PM₁ was observed in pellet combustion. The most common PAH compounds found from the samples Wood before ESP 1, Pellet and LFO were fluoranthene and pyrene. Those compounds were among the most common PAH compounds in wood combustion also in the previous studies (Tissari et al., 2007; Kaivosoja et al., 2012). Besides fluoranthene and pyrene, also benzo[c]phenanthrene, benzo[a] anthracene and chrysene were common in the samples collected from wood combustion after ESP. The most common PAH compounds detected in HFO combustion were benzo[b]fluoranthene, chrysene, benzo[k]fluoranthene and benzo[j]fluoranthene. Overall, oil combustion produced higher amount of PAHs than the wood combustion. In addition, greater amounts of heavier PAHs, which are known to be more harmful to health than the lighter PAHs, were detected from the oil combustion derived PM1 than from the wood combustion derived PM1.

Table 3

PAH content in PM₁ (ng mg⁻¹), sum of 30 PAHs PM₁ (ng mg⁻¹; mg MJ⁻¹) and sum of genotoxic PAHs PM₁ (ng mg⁻¹). The genotoxic PAHs (WHO-ICPS, 1998) are typed in bold. PAH results from pellet combustion are presented by Lamberg et al. (2011a) and Tapanainen et al. (2011).

PAHs in PM_1 (ng mg ⁻¹)	Wood before	Wood after FSP 1	LFO	HFO 1	Pellet
	LJI I	L51 1			
Naphthalene	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>4.8</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.2</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>4.8</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.2</td></dl<></td></dl<>	4.8	<dl< td=""><td>0.2</td></dl<>	0.2
Acenaphthylene	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>2.3</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl DI</dl </td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>2.3</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl DI</dl </td></dl<></td></dl<>	2.3	<dl< td=""><td><dl DI</dl </td></dl<>	<dl DI</dl
Acenaphthene	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>4.1</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl DI</dl </td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>4.1</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl DI</dl </td></dl<></td></dl<>	4.1	<dl< td=""><td><dl DI</dl </td></dl<>	<dl DI</dl
Fluorene	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>31</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>31</td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	31	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""></dl<>
Phenanthrene	0.8	2.1	335	80	0.6
Anthracene	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>19</td><td>2.8</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>19</td><td>2.8</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<>	19	2.8	<dl< td=""></dl<>
1-Metnyiphenanthrene	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>206</td><td>13</td><td>0.1</td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>206</td><td>13</td><td>0.1</td></dl<>	206	13	0.1
Fluoranthene	20	1/2	4314	533	1./
Pyrene Bana dalahan anthara a	24	310	4685	53	2.1
Benzolcipnenanthrene	0.8	100	2000	400	0.1
Benzojajantnracene	0.8	2/8	2060	//3	0.1
Cyclopenta[c,d]pyrene	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>120</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.2</td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>120</td><td><dl< td=""><td>0.2</td></dl<></td></dl<>	120	<dl< td=""><td>0.2</td></dl<>	0.2
Tripnenylene	0.2	36	354	242	0.1
Chrysene	0.8	222	2071	1//8	0.1
5-Methylchrysene	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>1.5</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>1.5</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>1.5</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<>	1.5	<dl< td=""></dl<>
Benzo[b]fluoranthene	<dl< td=""><td>25</td><td>486</td><td>2153</td><td>0.1</td></dl<>	25	486	2153	0.1
Benzo[k]nuorantnene	<dl< td=""><td>14</td><td>285</td><td>1037</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<>	14	285	1037	<dl< td=""></dl<>
Benzo[J]fluorantnene	<dl< td=""><td>19</td><td>342</td><td>1002</td><td>0.1</td></dl<>	19	342	1002	0.1
Benzolejpyrene	<dl< td=""><td>14</td><td>276</td><td>687</td><td>0.2</td></dl<>	14	276	687	0.2
Benzojajpyrene	<dl< td=""><td>ð.1</td><td>250</td><td>25</td><td>0.1</td></dl<>	ð.1	250	25	0.1
Perylene	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>28</td><td>14</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>28</td><td>14</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<>	28	14	<dl< td=""></dl<>
Dibarania blanthragana	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>68</td><td>250</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>68</td><td>250</td><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<>	68	250	<dl< td=""></dl<>
Didenzo[a,ii]antiiracene	<dl <dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>0.0</td><td>170</td><td>< DL</td></dl<></td></dl<></dl 	<dl< td=""><td>0.0</td><td>170</td><td>< DL</td></dl<>	0.0	170	< DL
Anthanthrono	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>208</td><td>170</td><td>0.2 . DI</td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td>208</td><td>170</td><td>0.2 . DI</td></dl<>	208	170	0.2 . DI
Anthanthrene Dibongola University	<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td></td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""><td></td><td><dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<></td></dl<>		<dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""></dl<></td></dl<>	<dl< td=""></dl<>
Dibenzo[a,i]pyrene	<dl <dl< td=""><td><dl< td=""><td>< DL</td><td>< DL</td><td>< DL</td></dl<></td></dl<></dl 	<dl< td=""><td>< DL</td><td>< DL</td><td>< DL</td></dl<>	< DL	< DL	< DL
Coronono	<dl <dl< td=""><td>< DL</td><td>< DL = 2</td><td>< DL DC</td><td>< DL</td></dl<></dl 	< DL	< DL = 2	< DL DC	< DL
Dihonzola ilmurono			22 20	20 < DI	
Dibenzo[a,1]pyrene					
Sum of 30 PAHs (ng mg ⁻¹)	_DL 47	1200	17.060	0006	< DL 6.0
Sum of genot DAHs (ng mg ⁻¹)	-+/ 22	887.64	11 079	9770	3.0
Sum of 30 DAHs (mg MI ⁻¹)	25 0.013	0.0007	0.0015	0.20	0.0001
DAHe/DM. (9)	0.015	0.12	17	0.20	0.0001
1/11/2/1/11/1/ (/0)	0.005	0.12	1.1	0.33	0.0000

<DL = below detection limit.

3.4. Particle number emissions, size and structure

With wood combustion, the ELPI measurements were conducted downstream of the ESP. With LFO combustion, the number emission was lowest and also the geometric mean diameter (GMD) was smallest (Fig. 3). The number size distribution in LFO combustion was found to be bimodal. The larger mode was found to compose of soot agglomerates, of which typical examples are illustrated in Fig. 4a and b, observed with the TEM. Fig. 4c shows details of a soot agglomerate at high resolution TEM micrograph (the complete agglomerate is shown in the insert and the area of the HR-TEM image is indicated by a square). The mode in the smaller particles was assumed to be composed of sulphuric acid particles since it is known that sulphuric acid tends to nucleate during dilution with ambient air, forming a large number of nanoparticles (Shi and Harrison, 1999). This was confirmed by TEM and corresponding EDS analyses; in Fig. 4b the holey carbon film is decorated with small sulphate acid particles (one indicated with a white circle). The analyses indicate that in LFO combustion the mode in the smaller particles was composed of sulphuric acid particles and the mode in the larger particles of soot particles.

With wood combustion, the GMDs of the particles were larger than in other cases, an average of 100 nm before the ESP and 147–216 nm after the ESP. The peak in the particle number size distribution occurred approximately in the same size range where the separation efficiency of the ESP is at its poorest (see chapter 3.2).

The TEM micrographs and the corresponding EDS analyses indicate that the typical pellet combustion particles, present at various sizes and shapes (Fig. 5a and b), consisted mostly of K, S, Cl, and Na. These elements are known to be in form of alkali metal sulfates and chlorides (Sippula et al., 2007). In addition, large amounts of C were found locally, marked with a ring in Fig. 5c. Evidence of Zn was found from some (Fig. 5b, the large dark nucleus), but not all, observed particles. It is known that Zn from the fuel is usually released in the fine particle fraction (Sippula et al., 2009b). In the current case, as the conditions for pellet combustion were oxidizing, the zinc was expected to appear in oxidized form (Jöller et al., 2005).

3.5. Toxicity

The particulate mass emitted from wood chip combustion was clearly the least potent in its ability to induce cytotoxicity in macrophages (Fig. 6). It exerted lower responses than the particulate sample from pellet combustion. The responses to pellet combustion



Fig. 3. Particle size distributions measured by ELPI. Pellet combustion results are adapted from Lamberg et al. (2011a), wood combustion results from Sippula et al. (2009a) and HFO combustion results from Sippula et al. (2009c).



Fig. 4. TEM micrographs of fine particles collected from LFO combustion.

sample were slightly higher than those seen in our previous study with different small-scale heating systems (Jalava et al., 2012). However, the pellet material or the pellet boiler in that study was not the same as in the present study. These differences in responses most probably originate from differences in particle chemical composition. It is also noteworthy that the dose response curves for each case are different, which makes also direct comparison between the samples more complex; the order of their toxic potency is different, depending on the dosage level. We have also previously observed greatly variable chemical compositions and toxicological activities between the different combustion situations (Jalava et al., 2012). Both the PAH compounds in poorly controlled combustion processes and metal oxides in good combustion may be responsible for the toxic activity (Jalava et al., 2012; Happo et al., 2013).

Compared to the wood fuels, both LFO and HFO combustion led to emissions of more cytotoxic particulate mass. At higher doses, there was a greater difference in the responses from wood combustion particles. A comparison between particles from two oil fuels revealed that at the two highest doses, the emissions from HFO were more cytotoxic than those from LFO. However, with lower doses, the order between those samples was in the opposite direction. Unlike the samples from combustion of wooden fuels, both the oil fuels had a certain threshold concentration between 50 and 150 μ g ml⁻¹. There is very limited information available on toxicity of emissions from LFO fired boilers. However, there is one study where emissions have been evaluated from the LFO burners (Hays et al., 2008). The soot from burners may contain potentially harmful components. Furthermore, there are many studies of distillate oil fuel use in engines. Diesel engine emissions have been indicated as being cytotoxic in many previous studies (e.g. Jalava et al., 2010; Hemmingsen et al., 2011).

HFO combustion has been claimed to be harmful in many epidemiological studies (e.g. Laden et al., 2000; Janssen et al., 2002). HFO combustion produces particulate emissions that are mostly composed of sulfates. The role of sulphate aerosol is not considered to be one of the most important causes for adverse health effects, but the acidic sulfates may have relevance for asthmatics (Schlesinger and Cassee, 2003). The samples in the present study have not gone through atmospheric transformation processes and therefore it is possible that the toxicology profile is different compared to the same emission sources in the atmosphere. There have been clear indications that oil combustion, Ni and V as tracers, have induced significant toxicological responses in both cells and animals (Dye et al., 2001; Happo et al., 2008). In the present study, the clearest difference between the two oil combustion samples was detected in their metal concentrations. This almost certainly explains the difference observed between the cytotoxicity of the samples.

One interesting feature of this data was that particles collected after ESP in wood combustion were significantly more cytotoxic than those collected before the ESP in the same district heating plant. One possible explanation may be the different chemical compositions in these two samples. As the largest observed difference, the sample collected after ESP clearly contains a larger proportion of calcium which has been identified as a causative toxic agent also in previous studies (Happo et al., 2008; Jalava et al., 2009). Another explanation for the increased toxicity would be higher Zn content of the particles after ESP and third, the enrichment of PAH compounds to the sample after ESP. Compared to the oil combustion derived samples PAH concentrations were still much lower. The ESP also changes the physical properties of the particles, including size, shape and surface area. This may be one reason of the differences since these parameters are known to affect toxicological responses of nanoparticles (Oberdörster et al., 2006). However, at the same time when toxicity per same mass increased, the emissions after the ESP were decreased to a small fraction from the untreated emission. Therefore, the emissions after ESP should probably not be considered as more harmful. This



Fig. 5. TEM micrographs of fine particles collected from pellet combustion. Particles either lie on thin carbon surface (grey background), or are attached on the edges of holes (lighter background) in the substrate.



Fig. 6. Cell viability after 24 h' exposure of mouse RAW264.7 macrophages to four doses (15, 50, 150 and 300 µg ml⁻¹) of particulate samples from different heating systems. Asterisks indicate statistical significance to control (Dunnet's test *p* < 0.05). Letters indicate statistical difference to other samples (a = Pellet, b = Wood before ESP 1, c = Wood after ESP 1, d = LFO and e = HFO 1) at each dose. Results for comparison with pellet boiler adapted from Tapanainen et al. (2011).

phenomenon will still require more research to know the exact health effects of the after treatment technologies.

In the present article, cytotoxicity, one important mechanism was chosen to present toxicity of the different emissions. There are however, many other mechanisms that can be affected by these emissions and they need further investigation. Combining the emission characterization and full coverage of toxicological responses will give a tool for evaluating the relative harmfulness of energy production alternatives and use this information in the regulatory decision processes.

4. Conclusions

In this study, four energy production alternatives were compared with respect to their flue gas emissions and the cytotoxicity of the emissions. From the toxicological point of view, the HFO combustion was found to be the worst energy production option. It also produced the largest SO₂ and PAH emissions and its PM₁ emission contained harmful metals such as vanadium and nickel. These metals possess a large cytotoxic potential in the cells. The overall toxicological effects of oil combustion samples were greater than the corresponding samples from wood combustion.

Wood combustion represents a competitive option to combustion of fossil fuels. The PM_1 from wood combustion was composed mainly of alkali metals such as potassium and a low PM_1 emission could be achieved by installing an efficient filtration system such an ESP. However, the small amount of particles passing through the ESP still evoke toxic effects. Overall, lower emissions should be preferred, in order to decrease the particulate levels in the atmosphere, but also these low emission technologies may have toxic potential.

Nowadays, the amounts of particle and gaseous emissions from energy production and industrial plants are mainly controlled by the environmental licence or the legislation. However, the toxicity of the emissions may vary drastically between various energy production alternatives, as was also shown in this study. We propose that in the long term, in addition to the emission amounts, also the toxicity of the emissions should be taken into account when regulating the emission limits for the plants.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by the Academy of Finland (Grant no. 124372) and by the strategic funding of the University of Eastern

Finland for project sustainable bioenergy, climate change and health. The authors wish to thank Pentti Willman for handling the collection filters and for the OC/EC analyses.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data related to this article can be found at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2013.05.014.

References

- Allen, R.W., Mar, T., Koenig, J., Liu, L.-J.S., Gould, T., Simpson, C., Larson, T., 2008. Changes in lung function and airway inflammation among asthmatic children residing in a woodsmoke-impacted urban area. Inhalation Toxicology 20, 423– 433.
- Andersen, Z.J., Wahlin, P., Raaschou-Nielsen, O., Scheike, T., Loft, S., 2007. Ambient particle source apportionment and daily hospital admissions among children and elderly in Copenhagen. Journal of Exposure Science Environmental Epidemiology 17, 625–636.
 Aurell, J., Gullett, B.K., Tabor, D., Touati, A., Oudejans, L., 2012. Semivolatile and
- Aurell, J., Gullett, B.K., Tabor, D., Touati, A., Oudejans, L., 2012. Semivolatile and volatile organic compound emissions from wood-fired hydronic heaters. Environmental Science and Technology 46, 7898–7904.
- Binkova, B., Cerna, M., Pastorovka, A., Jelinek, R., Benes, I., Novak, J., Sram, R.J., 2003. Biological activities of organic compounds absorbed onto ambient air particles: comparison between the cities of Teplice and Prague during the summer and winter seasons 2000–2001. Mutation Research 525, 43–59.
- Boman, B.C., Forsberg, A.B., Järvholm, B.G., 2003. Adverse health effects from ambient air pollution in relation to residential wood combustion in modern society. Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health 29, 251–260.
- Danielsen, P.H., Moller, P., Jensen, K.A., Sharma, A.K., Wallin, H., Bossi, R., Autrup, H., Molhave, L., Ravanat, J.L., Briede, J.J., de Kok, T.M., Loft, S., 2011. Oxidative stress, DNA damage and inflammation induced by ambient air and wood smoke particulate matter in human A549 and THP-1 cell lines. Chemical Research in Toxicology 24, 168–184.
- Dye, J.A., Lehmann, J.R., McGee, J.K., Winsett, D.W., Ledbetter, A.D., Everitt, J.I., Ghio, A.J., Costa, D.L., 2001. Acute pulmonary toxicity of particulate matter filter extracts in rats: coherence with epidemiological studies in Utah valley residents. Environmental Health Perspectives 109, 395–403.
- Ghio, A.J., 2008. Mechanism of asthmatic exacerbation by ambient air pollution particles. Expert Review of Respiratory Medicine 2, 109–118.
- Happo, M.S., Hirvonen, M.-R., Hälinen, A.I., Jalava, P.I., Pennanen, A.S., Sillanpää, M., Hillamo, R., Salonen, R.O., 2008. Chemical compositions responsible for inflammation and tissue damage in the mouse lung by coarse and fine particulate samples from contrasting air pollution in Europe. Inhalation Toxicology 20, 1215–1231.
- Happo, M.S., Uski, O., Jalava, P.I., Kelz, J., Brunner, T., Hakulinen, P., Mäki-Paakkanen, J., Kosma, V.-M., Jokiniemi, J., Hirvonen, M.-R., 2013. Pulmonary inflammation and tissue damage in the mouse lung after exposure to PM samples from biomass heating appliances of old and modern technologies. Science of the Total Environment 443, 256–266.
- Hays, M.D., Beck, L., Barfield, P., Lavrich, R.J., Dong, Y., Vander, R.L., 2008. Physical and chemical characterization of residential oil boiler emissions. Environmental Science and Technology 42, 2496–2502.Hays, M.D., Beck, L., Barfield, P., Willis, R.D., Landis, M.S., Stevens, R.K., Preston, W.,
- Hays, M.D., Beck, L., Barfield, P., Willis, R.D., Landis, M.S., Stevens, R.K., Preston, W., Dong, Y., 2009. Physical and chemical characterization of residual oil-fired power plant emissions. Energy Fuels 23, 2544–2551.
- Hays, M.D., Gullett, B., King, C., Robinson, J., Preston, W., Touati, A., 2011. Characterization of carbonaceous aerosols emitted from outdoor wood boilers. Energy Fuels 25, 5632–5638.
- Hemmingsen, J.G., Møller, P., Nøjgaard, J.K., Roursgaard, M., Loft, S., 2011. Oxidative stress, genotoxicity, and vascular cell adhesion molecule expression in cells exposed to particulate matter from combustion of conventional diesel and methyl ester biodiesel blends. Environmental Science and Technology 45, 8545–8551.
- Intergovernmental panel on climate change (IPCC), 2001. Climate Change 2001: the Scientific Basis. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K. ISO 8178-1, 1996. Reciprocating Internal Combustion Engines – Exhaust Emission
- ISO 81/8-1, 1996, Reciprocating internal combustion Engines Exhaust Emission Measurement – Part 1: Test Bed Measurement of Gaseous and Particulate Emissions, International Organization for Standardization, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Jalava, P.I., Salonen, R.O., Hälinen, A.I., Sillanpää, M., Sandell, E., Hirvonen, M.R., 2005. Effects of sample preparation on chemistry, cytotoxicity, and inflammatory responses induced by air particulate matter. Inhalation Toxicology 17, 107–117.
- Jalava, P.I., Salonen, R.O., Hälinen, A.I., Pennanen, A.S., Sillanpää, M., Hillamo, R., Hirvonen, M.R., 2006. In-vitro inflammatory and cytotoxic effects of size segregated particulate samples collected during long-range transport of wildfire smoke to Helsinki. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 215, 341–353.
- Jalava, P.I., Hirvonen, M.-R., Sillanpää, M., Pennanen, A.S., Happo, M.S., Hillamo, R., Cassee, F.R., Gerlofs-Nijland, M., Borm, P.J.A., Schins, R.P.F., Janssen, N.A.H., Salonen, R.O., 2009. Association of urban air particulate composition with inflammatory and cytotoxic responses in RAW 264.7 cell line. Inhalation Toxicology 21, 994–1006.

200

- Jalava, P.I., Tapanainen, M., Kuuspalo, K., Markkanen, A., Hakulinen, P., Happo, M.S., Pennanen, A.S., Ihalainen, M., Yli-Pirilä, P., Makkonen, U., Teinilä, K., Mäki-Paakkanen, J., Salonen, R.O., Jokiniemi, J., Hirvonen, M.-R., 2010. Toxicological effects of emission particles from fossil- and biodiesel-fueled diesel engine with and without DOC/POC catalytic converter. Inhalation Toxicology 22 (S2), 48–58.
- Jalava, P., Happo, M.S., Kelz, J., Brunner, T., Hakulinen, P., Mäki-Paakkanen, J., Hukkanen, A., Jokiniemi, J., Obernberger, I., Hirvonen, M.-R., 2012. In vitro toxicological characterization of particulate emissions from residential biomass heating systems based on old and new technologies. Atmospheric Environment 50, 24–35.
- Janssen, N.A.H., Schwartz, J., Zanobetti, A., Suh, H.H., 2002. Air conditioning and source-specific particles as modifiers of the effect of PM_{10} on hospital admissions for heart and lung disease. Environmental Health Perspectives 110, 43-49.
- Jöller, M., Brunner, T., Obernberger, I., 2005. Modeling of aerosol formation during biomass combustion in grate furnaces and comparison with measurements. Energy Fuels 19, 311–323.
- Kaivosoja, T., Virén, A., Tissari, J., Ruuskanen, J., Tarhanen, J., Sippula, O., Jokiniemi, J., 2012. Effects of a catalytic converter on PCDD/F, chlorophenol and PAH emissions in residential wood combustion. Chemosphere 88, 278–285.
- Karvosenoja, N., Tainio, M., Kupiainen, K., Tuomisto, J.T., Kukkonen, J., Johansson, M., 2008. Evaluation of the emissions and uncertainties of PM2.5 originated from vehicular traffic and domestic wood combustion in Finland. Boreal Environmental Research 13, 465–474.
- Kinsey, J., Touati, A., Yelverton, T.L.B., Aurell, J., Cho, S.-H., Linak, W., Gullet, B.K., 2012. Emissions characterization of residential wood-fired hydronic heater technologies. Atmospheric Environment 63, 239–249.
- Kocbach Bølling, A., Pagels, J., Yttri, K.E., Barregard, L., Sallsten, G., Schwarze, P.E., Boman, C., 2009. Health effects of residential wood smoke particles: the importance of combustion conditions and physicochemical particle properties. Particle and Fibre Toxicology 6, 29.
 Laden, F., Neas, L.M., Dockery, D.W., Schwartz, J., 2000. Association of fine partic-
- Laden, F., Neas, L.M., Dockery, D.W., Schwartz, J., 2000. Association of fine particulate matter from different sources with daily mortality in six US cities. Environmental Health Perspectives 108, 941–947.
- Lamberg, H., Nuutinen, K., Tissari, J., Ruusunen, J., Yli-Pirilä, P., Sippula, O., Tapanainen, M., Jalava, P., Makkonen, U., Teinilä, K., Saarnio, K., Hillamo, R., Hirvonen, M.-R., Jokiniemi, J., 2011a. Physicochemical characterization of fine particles from small-scale wood combustion. Atmospheric Environment 45, 7635–7643.
- Lamberg, H., Sippula, O., Tissari, J., Jokiniemi, J., 2011b. Effects of air staging and load on fine-particle and gaseous emissions from a small-scale pellet boiler. Energy Fuels 25 (11), 4952–4960.
- Lanki, T., Pekkanen, J., Aalto, P., Elosua, R., Berglind, N., D'Ippoliti, D., Kulmala, M., Nyberg, F., Peters, A., Picciotto, S., Salomaa, V., Sunyer, J., Tiittanen, P., von Klot, S., Forastiere, F., 2006. Associations of traffic related air pollutants with hospitalisation for first acute myocardial infarction: the HEAPSS study. Occupational and Environmental Medicine 63, 844–851.
- Lind, T., Hokkinen, J., Jokiniemi, J., Saarikoski, S., Hillamo, R., 2003. Electrostatic precipitator collection efficiency and trace element emissions from cocombustion of biomass and recovered fuel in fluidized-bed combustion. Environmental Science and Technology 37, 2842–2846.
- Lyyränen, J., Jokiniemi, J., Kauppinen, E.I., Backman, U., Vesala, H., 2004. Comparison of different dilution methods for measuring diesel particle emissions. Aerosol Science and Technology 38, 12–23.
- Lyyränen, J., Backman, U., Tapper, U., Auvinen, A., Jokiniemi, J., 2009. A size selective nanoparticle collection device based on diffusion and thermophoresis. Journal of Physics: Conference Series 170. http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/170/1/ 012011.
- Molinelli, A.R., Santacana, G.E., Madden, M.C., Jimenez, B.D., 2006. Toxicity and metal content of organic solvent extracts from airborne particulate matter in Puerto Rico. Environmental Research 102, 314–325.
- Naeher, L.P., Brauer, M., Lipsett, M., Zelikoff, J.T., Simpson, C.D., Koenig, J.Q., Smith, K.R., 2007. Woodsmoke health effects: a review. Inhalation Toxicology 19, 67–106.
- NIOSH Elemental Carbon (Diesel Particulate) Method 5040, 1999. NIOSH Manual of Analytical Methods (NMAM), fourth ed. The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Atlanta, USA.
- Oberdörster, G., Maynard, A., Donaldson, K., Castranove, V., Fitzpatrick, J., Ausman, K., Carter, J., Karn, B., Kreyling, W., Lai, D., Olin, S., Monteiro-Riviere, N., Warheit, D., Yang, H., 2006. Principles for characterizing the potential human health effects from exposure to nanomaterials: elements of a screening strategy (review). Particle and Fibre Toxicology 2, 8.

- Obernberger, I., Thek, G., 2010. The Pellet Handbook. The Production and Thermal Utilization of Biomass Pellets. Earthscan, London, Washington DC, pp. 303–304.
- Pakkanen, T.A., Loukkola, K., Korhonen, C.H., Aurela, M., Mäkelä, T., Hillamo, R.E., Aarnio, P., Koskentalo, T., Kousa, A., Maenhaut, W., 2001. Sources and chemical composition of atmospheric fine and coarse particles in the Helsinki area. Atmospheric Environment 35, 5381–5391.
- Penttinen, P., Vallius, M., Tiittanen, P., Ruuskanen, J., Pekkanen, J., 2006. Sourcespecific fine particles in urban air and respiratory function among adult asthmatics. Inhalation Toxicology 18, 191–198.Pope, C.A., Dockery, D.W., 2006. Health effects of fine particulate matter: lines that
- Pope, C.A., Dockery, D.W., 2006. Health effects of fine particulate matter: lines that connect. Journal of Air and Waste Management 56, 709–742.
- Ristimäki, J., Hellen, G., Lappi, M., 2010. Chemical and Physical Characterization of Exhaust Particulate Matter from a Marine Medium Speed Diesel Engine. CIMAC Congress, Bergen. Paper No. 73.
- Congress, Bergen. Paper No. 73.
 Ruusunen, J., Tapanainen, M., Sippula, O., Jalava, P.I., Lamberg, H., Nuutinen, K., Tissari, J., Ihalainen, M., Kuuspalo, K., Mäki-Paakkanen, J., Hakulinen, P., Pennanen, A., Teinilä, K., Makkonen, U., Salonen, R.O., Hillamo, R., Hirvonen, M.-R., Jokiniemi, J., 2011. A novel particle sampling system for physico-chemical and toxicological characterization of emissions. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 401, 3183–3195.
- Sarnat, J.A., Marmur, A., Klein, M., Kim, E., Russel, A.G., Sarnat, S.E., Mulholland, J.A., Hopke, P.K., Tolbert, P.E., 2008. Fine particle sources and cardiorespiratory morbidity: an application of chemical mass balance and factor analytical source-apportionment methods. Environmental Health Perspectives 116, 459– 466.
- Schlesinger, R.B., Cassee, F., 2003. Atmospheric secondary inorganic particulate matter: the toxicological perspective as a basis for health effects risk assessment. Inhalation Toxicology 15, 197–235.
- Schmidl, C., Luisser, M., Padouvas, E., Lasselsberger, L., Rzaca, M., Ramirez-Santa Cruz, C., Handler, M., Peng, G., Bauer, H., Puxbaum, H., 2011. Particulate and gaseous emissions from manually and automatically fired small scale combustion systems. Atmospheric Environment 45, 7443–7454.
- SFS 5624, 1990. Air Quality. Stationary Source Emissions. Determination of Flue Gas Conditions. Finnish Standards Association SFS, Helsinki, Finland.
- Shi, J.P., Harrison, R.M., 1999. Investigation of ultrafine particle formation during diesel exhaust dilution. Environmental Science and Technology 33, 3730–3736. Sippula, O., Hytönen, K., Tissari, J., Raunemaa, T., Jokiniemi, J., 2007. Effect of wood
- fuel on the emissions from a top-feed pellet stove. Energy Fuels 21, 1151–1160. Sippula, O., Hokkinen, J., Puustinen, H., Yli-Pirilä, P., Jokiniemi, J., 2009a. Particle
- emissions from small wood-fired district heating units. Energy Fuels 23, 2974–2982.
- Sippula, O., Hokkinen, J., Lamberg, H., Puustinen, H., Yli-Pirilä, P., Tissari, J., Jokiniemi, J., 2009b. Particle emissions from small biomass and fuel oil fired heating units. In: 17th European Biomass Conference & Exhibition, 29.6.– 3.7.2009 Hamburg.
- Sippula, O., Hokkinen, J., Puustinen, H., Yli-Pirilä, P., Jokiniemi, J., 2009c. Comparison of particle emissions from small heavy fuel oil and wood-fired boilers. Atmospheric Environment 43, 4855–4864.
- Tao, F., Gonzalez-Flecha, B., Kobzik, L., 2003. Reactive oxygen species in pulmonary inflammation by ambient particulates. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 35, 327–340.
- Tapanainen, M., Jalava, P.I., Mäki-Paakkanen, J., Hakulinen, P., Happo, M.S., Lamberg, H., Ruusunen, J., Tissari, J., Nuutinen, K., Yli-Pirilä, P., Hillamo, R., Salonen, R.O., Jokiniemi, J., Hirvonen, M.-R., 2011. In vitro immunotoxic and genotoxic activities of particles emitted from two different small-scale wood combustion appliances. Atmospheric Environment 45, 7546–7554.
- Tapanainen, M., Jalava, P.I., Mäki-Paakkanen, J., Hakulinen, P., Lamberg, H., Ruusunen, J., Tissari, J., Jokiniemi, J., Hirvonen, M.-R., 2012. Efficiency of log wood combustion affects the toxicological and chemical properties of emission particles. Inhalation Toxicology 24, 343–355. Teinilä. K. Kerminen, V.-M., Hillamo, R., 2000. A study of size-segregated aerosol
- Teinilä, K., Kerminen, V.-M., Hillamo, R., 2000. A study of size-segregated aerosol chemistry in the Antarctic atmosphere. Journal of Geophysical Research 105, 3893–3904.
- Tissari, J., Hytönen, K., Lyyränen, J., Jokiniemi, J., 2007. A novel field measurement method for determining fine particle and gas emissions from residential wood combustion. Atmospheric Environment 41, 8330–8344.
- Tissari, J., Sippula, O., Kouki, J., Vuorio, K., Jokiniemi, J., 2008. Fine particle and gas emissions from the combustion of agricultural fuels fired in a 20 kW burner. Energy and Fuels 22, 2033–2042.
- World Health Organization (WHO), 1998, Selected Non-heterocyclic Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons. Environmental Health Criteria 202. WHO International Program of Chemical Safety (IPCS), Geneva, Switzerland.

Table. Fuel properties. HFO 1, LFO and Wood 1 are the fuels used in the present study. Wood 2, Pellet and HFO 2 are the fuels used in the previous studies. The results are presented as mg kg⁻¹ of fuel and as mass percentages of fuel. Heating values are presented as MJ kg⁻¹.

		Wood 1 ^a	HFO 1	LFO	Wood 2 ^a	Pellet ^a	HFO 2
Reference					Sippula et al., 2009a	Lamberg et al., 2011a	Sippula et al., 2009c
Ag	mg kg ⁻¹						
Al	mg kg ^{-l}	120			89–170 (n=2)	0.76	
Ba	mg kg ⁻¹				17.9-32 (n=2)		
Ca	mg kg ⁻¹	6100			1740-2900 (n=2)	892	
Cd	mg kg ⁻¹				0.09-0.23 (n=2)		b.d.
CI	mg kg ⁻¹	100	<200	\diamond	75-1520 (n=2)	10	60-400 (n=3)
Co	mg kg ⁻¹				0.2 (n=1)		
Cr	mg kg ⁻¹	0.67	<10	<10	1.1–2.2 (n=2)		0.9–14 (n=2)
Cu	mg kg ⁻¹	2.7	<10	<10	1.3-4.1 (n=2)	1.37	b.d.
Fe	mg kg ⁻¹	72			67-454 (n=2)	44.3	
Н	m-%		10.5	12.9			
K	mg kg ⁻¹	1600			1070–1470 (n=2)	420	
Li	mg kg ⁻¹						
Mg	mg kg ⁻¹	550			357-400 (n=2)	142	
Mn	mg kg ⁻¹	340	<10	<10	141-170 (n=2)	82	0.54-2.1 (n=2)
N	m-%	0.24	0.34	0.03			
Na	mg kg ⁻¹	41			24-25.7 (n=2)	180	
Ni	mg kg ⁻¹	0.67	25	<10	0.62-0.78 (n=2)	0.33	22-25 (n=3)
Р	mg kg ⁻¹	420			169–245 (n=2)	58	
Pb	mg kg ⁻¹		<10	<10	0.41-0.62 (n=2)		2.9 (n=1)
Rb	mg kg ⁻¹				4.3-5.7 (n=2)		
S	m-%	<0.02	0.982	0.023	128–190 (n=2)	<0.02	0.75-0.91 (n=3)
Si	mg kg ⁻¹	150			78-185 (n=2)		
Sr	mg kg ⁻¹				9.4–13.6 (n=2)		
Λ	mg kg ⁻¹		25	<10	0.13 (n=1)		29–52 (n=3)
Zn	mg kg ⁻¹	92	<10	<10	23-42 (n=2)	$\overline{\vee}$	b.d.
Moisture	m-%	55.33			47-50.9 (n=2)	8.1	
Ash	m-%	1.7	0.029	<0.001		0.3	0.03-0.05 (n=3)
Gross calorific value	MJ kg ⁻¹	20.37	42.417	45.618			
Net heating value	MJ kg ⁻¹	19.06	40.18	42.883	19.2-19.3 (n=2)	19	
^a The elemental analys	is results are	presented as mg	kg ⁻¹ of dry fi	lel			